
Page 1 of 2 

BOARD MEETING AGENDA 
January 28, 2025 

9:00am  

I. CALL TO ORDER & ROLL CALL

II. PUBLIC COMMENT

III. COMMUNICATIONS
a. Chief Compliance Officer Quarterly Report ..................................................... 3 

IV. CONSENT AGENDA
a. Proposed December 10, 2024, Meeting Minutes ................................................. 5 
b. Neogen Expansion Brownfield Redevelopment Project Act 381 Work Plan

Amendment ...................................................................................................... 28 
c. BorgWarner, Inc. MBDP Grant Amendment  ................................................. 36 
d. CDBG Public Gathering Spaces Initiative Grant Amendments  ..................... 42 
e. Project DIAMOnD Statewide Expansion: Department of Energy Award

Acceptance & Allocation of Funds to Automation Alley  .............................. 49 
f. UL, LLC MBDP Grant Amendment ............................................................... 55 
g. The District Detroit Transformational Brownfield Redevelopment Plan

Amendment ...................................................................................................... 61 

V. DEVELOP ATTRACTIVE PLACES
a. The Exchange Pontiac Transformational Brownfield Plan: A resolution

to approve a Transformational Brownfield Plan incentive package in the
aggregate amount of $79,232,145 reimbursed over 30 years to the
Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority and Pontiac OZ I,
LLC.   ............................................................................................................ 70 
Location: City of Pontiac  

b. New Vision Lansing Transformational Brownfield Plan: A resolution to
approve a Transformational Brownfield Plan incentive package in the
aggregate amount of $202,225,217 reimbursed over 30 years to the City
of Lansing Brownfield Redevelopment Authority and New Vision
Lansing, LLC. .................................................................................................. 92 
Location: City of Lansing  

c. Aria Warren Detroit, LLC: A resolution to approve a Michigan
Community Revitalization Program Loan in the amount of up to
$2,428,000 to Aria Warren Detroit, LLC. ....................................................  110 
Location: City of Detroit 

1



Page 2 of 2 
 

VI. ATTRACT, RETAIN, AND GROW BUSINESS 
a. Pulse Primary Care Holdings, LLC: A resolution to approve a 

Michigan Business Development Program Grant in the amount of up to 
$3,450,000 to Pulse Primary Care Holdings, LLC. ....................................... 126 
Location: City of Livonia  
 

b. Grayling Township Industrial Drive Improvement: A resolution to 
approve the allocation of $2,800,000 from the Business Attraction and 
Community Revitalization program to the Build Ready Site Program to 
support the construction of a road to provide access to the Saab, Inc. 
project site and other industrialized zone parcels. ......................................... 135 
Location: Township of Grayling  
 

c. Piston Automotive, LLC: A resolution to approve a Michigan Business 
Development Grant in the amount of up to $1,500,000 to Piston 
Automotive, LLC.  ......................................................................................... 146 
Location: City of Detroit  

 
VII. CAPITAL ACCESS 

a. Kraft Avenue Properties, LLC: A resolution to approve Private Activity Bond 
Authorization in the amount not to exceed $9,085,000 to Kraft Avenue 
Properties, LLC.  ............................................................................................ 155 
Location: Charter Township of Cascade  

 
VIII. INFORMATIONAL 

a. Delegation of Authority Report......................................................................... 163 
 

2



 
 

 
GRETCHEN WHITMER 

GOVERNOR 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 
OFFICE OF THE CHIEF COMPLIANCE OFFICER 

LANSING 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 

January 15, 2024 

 
KEVIN FRANCART, ESQ. 
CHIEF COMPLIANCE OFFICER 

 
TO:  Honorable Gretchen Whitmer 

Governor and Chairperson of the State Administrative Board. 
 

Quentin L. Messer Jr. 
President 
Michigan Strategic Fund Board 

 
FROM:  Kevin L. Francart 

Chief Compliance Officer 
 

RE:  FY2025 Q1 Report of the Chief Compliance Officer. October 1, 2024 – December 31, 2024 
 

The Chief Compliance Officer is required to report quarterly to the State Administrative Board 
and the Michigan Strategic Fund Board regarding compliance with internal policies and 
procedures as well as applicable laws related to MSF programs. I am pleased to report that all 
compliance matters addressed during the first quarter of the 2025 fiscal year were either 
successfully resolved, are being appropriately addressed, or are undergoing review and are 
currently being evaluated. 

With respect to the Michigan Strategic Fund Board, the Michigan Strategic Fund Act requires 
the Chief Compliance Officer to review and evaluate compliance with internal policies and 
procedures along with applicable state and federal law. The Chief Compliance Officer (CCO), 
along with the AG and MEDC Legal, assisted with the Finance and Investment Subcommittee 
and the Policy and Planning Subcommittee. The review of the relationship with and the 
economic incentives provided to Michigan Community Capitol, as reported previously, 
continued, the final . The CCO continued to assist the Department of Technology, Management, 
and Budget with the workgroup to implement the requirements of the Economic Development 
Incentive Evaluation Act, MCL 18.1751 et seq. The Match on Main program is currently being 
evaluated, the final report will be submitted in the next quarter. As reported previously, the CCO 
was advised by the AG that an analysis of Board delegations and guidelines was being 
conducted, in addition the AG requested that the CCO assist the MSF Board with the creation, 
implementation, monitoring, and enforcement of an Investment Policy. These issues are being 
address by this office, the AG, MEDC, and the MSF Board through a workgroup established by 
Board Member Warner to address multiple topics including investments, delegations, and 
program guidelines. This office will assist with the drafting, monitoring, and enforcement of any 
policies adopted. Some delegations were presented to the Board and adopted. The CCO assisted 
the AG and MSF in reviewing Project Grit for compliance with the applicable laws and policies. 
This office was copied on a ethics complaint made to the Starte Board of Ethics regarding a MSF 
Board Member. The complainant did not make a complaint this office nor did either the AG nor 
the Board of Ethics contacted this office for its impute or analysis. This office did however 

 
300 NORTH WASHINGTON SQUARE 

LANSING, MICHIGAN 48913 3



FY2025 Q1 Report of the Chief Compliance Officer 
January 15, 2025 
Page 2 

 
review the allegation and determined there was no violation of the MSF Conflict of Interest 
Police by the Board Member. The CCO assisted the AG and MSF with an Open Meetings Act 
question and advice to the Board members regarding any outside meetings that multiple Boards 
members could be in attendance and MSF related business could be discussed. As reported 
previously, the CCO advised the MSF Fund Manager to implement the recommendation in the 
MSF E&I Program Evaluation to collect the tax identification number/employer identification 
numbers (TIN/EIN) for all of the participants in the program. The CCO, Fund Manager, and the 
MEDC E&I Program leadership meet to discuss this recommendation and implementation plan. 
Further inquiry needs to be done to establish if the same results can be accomplished by 
collecting the identification number assigned to corporations by the Michigan Department of 
Licensing and Regulatory Affairs Corporations, Securities & Commercial Licensing Bureau. 
The question previously referred to the AG regarding MCL 423.321 et sec., and Wisconsin Dept 
of Indus, Labor & Human Relations v Gould Inc, 475 US 282; 106 S Ct 1057; 89 L Ed 2d 223 
(1986), remains outstanding. Additionally, a question from a Board member referred to the AG 
in November 2023 regarding “does the MEDC have a fiduciary responsibility to the MSF Board? 
If so, what is it and how is it enforced/monitored?” remains outstanding as well. As reported 
previously, the site visit guidelines were changed by the MEDC compliance section to no longer 
require a minimum number of site visits, thus, site visits are being performed pursuant to the site 
visit guidelines. 

 
The Chief Compliance Officer provided informal advice regarding various issues arising this 
quarter concerning such topics as the conflict of interest determination, authorized use of 21st 
century job fund funds, and compliance with established Board policy and limitations. 

4



1 | Approved Meeting Minutes – December 10, 2024  
 

MICHIGAN STRATEGIC FUND 
APPROVED MEETING MINUTES 

December 10, 2024 
 
 

Member Present 
Quentin L. Messer, Jr. 
 
Members Joined Remotely  
Britany L. Affolter-Caine 
Susan Corbin   
Wesley Eklund 
Rachael Eubanks  
Dimitrius Hutcherson 
Michael B. Kapp (on behalf of Director Wieferich)  
Dan Meyering 
Leon Richardson 
Charles P. Rothstein 
Susan Tellier 
Cindy Warner 
 
Absent 
Randy Thelen  
 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER & ROLL CALL 
 
Mr. Messer called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m. The meeting was held in person in the Lake 
Michigan Conference Room at the MEDC headquarters building in Lansing.  
 
Mr. Messer introduced Ms. Davenport, MSF Board Liaison, who conducted the attendance roll 
call. 
 
II.  PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine joined the meeting remotely at 9:01 a.m. 
 
Dimtirius Hutcherson joined the meeting remotely at 9:01 a.m.  
 
Wesley Eklund joined the meeting remotely at 9:03 a.m. 
 
Susan Tellier joined the meeting remotely at 9:07 a.m.  
 

Ms. Davenport explained the process for members of the public to participate. Public comment 
was had. 

5



2 | Approved Meeting Minutes – December 10, 2024  
 

 
III.    COMMUNICATIONS  
 
Dimitrius Hutcherson, Chair of the MSF Finance and Investment Subcommittee, and Cindy 
Warner, Chair of the MSF Policy and Planning Subcommittee, provided updates on subcommittee 
activity. 
 
IV. CONSENT AGENDA 
Wesley Eklund left the meeting at 9:21 a.m. 
 
Resolution 2024-168, Approval of Consent Agenda Items 
Mr. Messer asked if there were any questions from Board Members regarding items under the 
Consent Agenda. There being none, Susan Tellier motioned for the approval of the following: 
 

a. Proposed October 22, 2024, Meeting Minutes 
b. 2025 MSF Board Change in Regular Meeting Schedule 2024-169 
c. Designation of MSF Bonding Officer 2024-170 
d. Small Business Services Program: Match on Main Funding Allocation 2024-171 
e. Revitalization and Placemaking (RAP) 1.0 Program Grant Agreement Amendment: The 

Right Place 2024-172 
f. Bridgewater Interiors, LLC: MBDP Grant Amendment 2024-173 

 
Susan Tellier motioned for the approval of Resolution 2024-168 to approve the consent agenda. 
Quentin L. Messer, Jr. seconded the motion. The motion carried: 11 ayes; 0 nays; 0 recused.  
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes: Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Susan Corbin, Rachael Eubanks, 
Dimitrius Hutcherson, Michael B. Kapp (on behalf of Director Wieferich, designation attached), 
Quentin L. Messer, Jr., Dan Meyering, Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier, 
Cindy Warner; Nays: None; Recused: None. 
 
Wesley Eklund rejoined the meeting at 9:24 a.m. 
 

V. ATTRACT, RETAIN, AND GROW BUSINESS 
 
a. Resolutions 2024-174 & 2024-175 Detroit Diesel Corporation Critical Industry 

Program Performance-Based Grant and State Essential Services Assessment 
Exemption. Josh Hundt, Senior Project Marketing Advisor, supported by Matthew 
Pfaffenbach of Daimler Truck, provided the Board with information regarding this 
action. The request involves the consideration of two resolutions to approve a Critical 
Industry Program Performance-Based Grant in the amount of $27,700,000 and a 15-
year, 100% State Essential Services Assessment  Exemption with an estimated value 
of up to $3,294,130 for $161,800,000 eligible investment in Eligible Personal Property 
to Detroit Diesel Corporation.  
 
Following discussion, Charles P. Rothstein motioned for the approval of Resolution 
2024-174 for the State Essential Services Assessment Exemption. Dimitrius 

6



3 | Approved Meeting Minutes – December 10, 2024  
 

Hutcherson seconded the motion. The motion carried: 12 ayes, 0 nays, 0 recused.  
 

ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes: Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Susan Corbin, Wesley 
Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, Dimitrius Hutcherson, Michael B. Kapp (on behalf of 
Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L. Messer, Jr., Dan Meyering, 
Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier, Cindy Warner; Nays: None; 
Recused: None. 

 
Susan Corbin motioned for the approval of Resolution 2024-175 for the Critical 
Industry Program grant. Leon Richardson seconded the motion. The motion carried: 
12 ayes, 0 nays, 0 recused.  

 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes: Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Susan Corbin, Weskley 
Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, Dimitrius Hutcherson, Michael B. Kapp (on behalf of 
Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L. Messer, Jr., Dan Meyering, 
Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier, Cindy Warner; Nays: None; 
Recused: None. 
 
Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, recsued, left the meeting at 9:32 a.m. 

 
a. Resolution 2024-176 University of Michigan and Los Alamos National Labratory 

Strategic Site Readiness Program Grant. Steve Bakkal, supported by Chris Kolb of 
the University of Michigan and Charlie Nakhleh of Los Alamos National Labratory, 
provided the Board with information regarding the requested action. The request 
involves the consideration of a resolution to approve a Strategic Site Readiness 
Program Grant (SSRP) in the amount of $100,000,000 to the University of Michigan 
related to site development, construction and other related Eligible Activities under 
the SSRP necessary to construct a new advanced computing facility in Ypsilanti, 
Michigan 

 
Following discussion, Charles P. Rothstein motioned for the approval of Resolution 
2024-176 to approve the Strategic Site Readiness Program Grant Award. Quentin L. 
Messer, Jr. seconded the motion. The motion carried: 11 ayes, 0 nays, 1 recused.  

 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes: Susan Corbin, Weskley Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, 
Dimitrius Hutcherson, Michael B. Kapp (on behalf of Director Wieferich, 
designation attached), Quentin L. Messer, Jr., Dan Meyering, Leon Richardson, 
Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier, Cindy Warner; Nays: None; Recused: Dr. 
Britany Affolter-Caine. 

 
 Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine rejoined the meeting at 9:55 a.m. 

 
b. Resolutions 2024-177 & 2024-178 Benteler Automotive Corporation and City of 

Wyoming Brownfield Redevelopment Authority - Michigan Business 
Development Program Grant and an Act 381 Work Plan. Samuel Sedlecky, 
Business Development Advisor, supported by Brittney Mizer, Senior Business 

7



4 | Approved Meeting Minutes – December 10, 2024  
 

Development Project Manager, and Steve Bates of Benteler Automotive Corporation, 
provided the Board with information regarding this requested action. The request 
involves the consideration of two resolutions to approve a Michigan Business 
Development Program Grant in the amount of up to $1,400,000 for Benteler 
Automotive Corporation and an Act 381 Work Plan for eligible activities capped at 
$395,142, utilizing the current state-to-local capture ratio, for the City of Wyoming 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority. 

 
Following discussion, Leon Richardson motioned for the approval of Resolution 
2024-177 for the Michigan Business Development Program Grant. Quentin L. 
Messer, Jr. seconded the motion. The motion carried: 12 ayes, 0 nays, 0 recused.  

 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes: Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Susan Corbin, Wesley 
Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, Dimitrius Hutcherson, Michael B. Kapp (on behalf of 
Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L. Messer, Jr., Dan Meyering, 
Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier, Cindy Warner; Nays: None; 
Recused: None. 

 
Dimitrius Hutcherson motioned for the approval of Resolution 2024-178 for the Act 
381 Work Plan. Leon Richardson seconded the motion. The motion carried: 12 
ayes, 0 nays, 0 recused.  

 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes: Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Susan Corbin, Wesley 
Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, Dimitrius Hutcherson, Michael B. Kapp (on behalf of 
Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L. Messer, Jr., Dan Meyering, 
Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier, Cindy Warner; Nays: None; 
Recused: None. 

 
c. Resolutions 2024-179 & 2024-180 Howmet Corporation Michigan Business 

Development Program Grant and State Essential Services Assessment 
Exemption. Darryl Todd, Business Development Manager, supported by Dan 
Neebes, Business Development Project Manager, and Ben Squires of Howmet 
Aerospace, provided the Board with information regarding the requested actions. The 
request involves the consideration of two resolutions to approve a Michigan Business 
Development Program Grant in the amount of up to $5,100,000 and a 15-year, 100% 
SESA Exemption with an estimated value of up to $1,649,375 for its $72,500,000 
eligible investment in Eligible Personal Property to Howmet Corporation.  

 
Following discussion, Leon Richardson motioned for the approval of Resolution 
2024-179 for the Michigan Business Development Program Grant. Quentin L. 
Messer, Jr. seconded the motion. The motion carried: 12 ayes, 0 nays, 0 recused.  

 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes: Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Susan Corbin, Wesley 
Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, Dimitrius Hutcherson, Michael B. Kapp (on behalf of 
Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L. Messer, Jr., Dan Meyering, 
Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier, Cindy Warner; Nays: None; 

8



5 | Approved Meeting Minutes – December 10, 2024  
 

Recused: None. 
 

Following discussion, Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine motioned for the approval of 
Resolution 2024-180 for the State Essential Services Assessment Exemption. Susan 
Tellier seconded the motion. The motion carried: 12 ayes, 0 nays, 0 recused.  

  
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes: Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Susan Corbin, Wesley 
Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, Dimitrius Hutcherson, Michael B. Kapp (on behalf of 
Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L. Messer, Jr., Dan Meyering, 
Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier, Cindy Warner; Nays: None; 
Recused: None. 

 
d. Resolution 2024-181 HTC Global Services, Inc. Michigan Business Development 

Program Grant. Nicole Black, Managing Director of Regional Development, 
supported by Jennifer Wood, Business Development Project Manager, and Mark 
Adams with the City of Troy, provided the Board with information regarding the 
requested action. The request involves the consideration of a resolution to approve a a 
Michigan Business Development Program Grant in the amount of $1,520,000 to HTC 
Global Services, Inc.  
 
Following discussion, Dimitrius Hutcherson motioned for the approval of Resolution 
2024-181 for the Michigan Business Development Program Grant. Susan Corbin 
seconded the motion. The motion carried: 12 ayes, 0 nays, 0 recused.  

 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes: Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Susan Corbin, Wesley 
Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, Dimitrius Hutcherson, Michael B. Kapp (on behalf of 
Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L. Messer, Jr., Dan Meyering, 
Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier, Cindy Warner; Nays: None; 
Recused: None. 

 
e. Resolution 2024-182 Landscape Forms,. Inc. Michigan Business Development 

Program Grant. Brenda Stewart, Senior Business Development Manager, supported 
by Dan Neebes, Business Development Project Manager, and Margie Simmons of 
Landscape Forms provided the Board with information regarding this requested 
action. The request involves the consideration of a resolution to approve a Michigan 
Business Development Program Grant in the amount of up to $2,500,000 to 
Landscape Forms, Inc. 

 
Following discussion, Quentin L. Messer, Jr. motioned for the approval of Resolution 
2024-182 to approve the Michigan Businss Development Program Grant. Susan 
Corbin seconded the motion. The motion carried: 12 ayes, 0 nays, 0 recused.  

 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes: Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Susan Corbin, Wesley 
Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, Dimitrius Hutcherson, Michael B. Kapp (on behalf of 
Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L. Messer, Jr., Dan Meyering, 
Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier, Cindy Warner; Nays: None; 

9



6 | Approved Meeting Minutes – December 10, 2024  
 

Recused: None. 
 

VI. DEVELOP ATTRACTIVE PLACES 
 
a. Resolutions 2024-183 & 2024-184 Talbot Bridge, LLC Michigan Community 

Revitalization Program Other Economic Assistance Loan Participation and Act 
381 Work Plan. Rachel Elsinga, Community Development Manager, supported by 
Ryan Talbot of Talbot Development, and Sarah Rainero with the City of Grand 
Rapids, provided the Board with information regarding this requested action. This 
request involves the consideration of two resolutions to approve a Michigan 
Community Revitalization Program Other Economic Assistance Loan in the amount of 
up to $5,950,000 for Talbot Bridge, LLC, and an Act 381 Work Plan for eligible 
activities capped at $2,220,353, utilizing the current state to local capture ratio, for the 
City of Grand Rapids Brownfield Redevelopment Authority. 
 
Following discussion, Susan Tellier motioned for approval of Resolution 2024-183 for 
the Michigan Community Revitalization Program Loan. Quentin L. Messer, Jr. 
seconded the motion. The motion carried: 12 ayes, 0 nays, 0 recused.  
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes: Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Susan Corbin, Wesley 
Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, Dimitrius Hutcherson, Michael B. Kapp (on behalf of 
Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L. Messer, Jr., Dan Meyering, 
Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier, Cindy Warner; Nays: None; 
Recused: None. 
 
Following discussion, Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine motioned for the approval of 
Resolution 2024-184 for the Act 381 Work Plan. Quentin L. Messer, Jr. seconded the 
motion. The motion carried: 12 ayes, 0 nays, 0 recused.  
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes: Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Susan Corbin, Wesley 
Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, Dimitrius Hutcherson, Michael B. Kapp (on behalf of 
Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L. Messer, Jr., Dan Meyering, 
Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier, Cindy Warner; Nays: None; 
Recused: None. 

 
VII. CAPITAL ACCESS 

 
a. Resolution 2024-185 Three Rivers Renewables, LLC Private Activity Bond 

Inducement. Amber Westendorp, Capital Project and Portfolio Manager, supported 
by C.W. Alexander of Freehold Energy RNG, provided the Board with information 
regarding the requested action. The request involves the consideration of a resolution 
to approve a Private Activity Bond Inducement for Three Rivers Renewables, LLC. 
The project will produce renewable natural gas for transportation fuel sourced from 
biomethane from dairy farms.  

 
Following discussion, Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine motioned for the approval of 

10



7 | Approved Meeting Minutes – December 10, 2024  
 

Resolution 2024-185 for the Private Activity Bond Inducement. Quentin L. Messer, Jr. 
seconded the motion. The motion carried: 12 ayes, 0 nays, 0 recused.  

 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes: Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Susan Corbin, Wesley 
Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, Dimitrius Hutcherson, Michael B. Kapp (on behalf of 
Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L. Messer, Jr., Dan Meyering, 
Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier, Cindy Warner; Nays: None; 
Recused: None. 

 
Dimitrius Hutcherson left the meeting at 10:57 a.m. 

 
a. Resolution 2024-186 Newaygo Renewables, LLC Private Activity Bond 

Inducement. Amber Westendorp, Capital Project and Portfolio Manager, supported 
by C.W. Alexander of Freehold Energy RNG and Julie Burrell of The Right Place, 
Inc., provided the Board with information regarding this requested action. This action 
involves the consideration of a resolution to approve a Private Activity Bond 
Inducement for Newaygo Renewables, LLC. The project will produce renewable 
natural gas for transportation fuel sourced from biomethane from dairy farms.  

 
Following discussion, Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine motioned for the approval of 
Resolution 2024-186 for the Private Activity Bond Inducement. Quentin L. Messer, 
Jr. seconded the motion. The motion carried: 11 ayes, 0 nays, 0 recused.  

 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes: Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Susan Corbin, Wesley 
Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, Michael B. Kapp (on behalf of Director Wieferich, 
designation attached), Quentin L. Messer, Jr., Dan Meyering, Leon Richardson, 
Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier, Cindy Warner; Nays: None; Recused: None. 

 
Dimitrius Hutcherson rejoined the meeting at 11:04 a.m. 

 
b. Resolution 2024-187 The Washtenaw Pace, Inc. dba Huron Valley Pace Private 

Activity Bond Authorization. Amber Westendorp, Capital Project and Portfolio 
Manager, supported by Steve Fetuko of Brio Living Services, provided the Board 
with information regarding this requested action. The request involves the 
consideration of a resolution to approve a Private Activity Bond Authorization not to 
exceed $4,500,000 for The Washtenaw Pace, Inc. dba Huron Valley Pace. The project 
will expand the Huron Valley Program of All-Inclusive Care for the Elderly (PACE) 
Program.  

 
Following discussion, Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine motioned for the approval of 
Resolution 2024-187 for the Private Activity Bond Authorization. Quentin L. Messer, 
Jr. seconded the motion. The motion carried: 12 ayes, 0 nays, 0 recused.  

 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes: Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Susan Corbin, Wesley 
Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, Dimitrius Hutcherson, Michael B. Kapp (on behalf of 
Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L. Messer, Jr., Dan Meyering, 

11



8 | Approved Meeting Minutes – December 10, 2024  
 

Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier, Cindy Warner; Nays: None; 
Recused: None. 

 
VIII.      INFORMATIONAL  
 

Mr. Messer noted that the meeting packet included the Michigan Strategic Fund 
Delegation of Authority Report from October 1, 2024, to November 30, 2024. There 
were no questions regarding the report. Mr. Messer adjourned the meeting at 11:11 
a.m.  

 
 

12



13



 
 
November 25, 2024 
 
 
MSF Fund Manager  
MEDC 
300 N. Washington Square 
Lansing, Michigan 
 
Dear Fund Manager, 
 
This is to advise that I am recusing myself from voting and excuse myself during the discussion of the 
Strategic Site Readiness Program (SSRP) Grant to the University of Michigan because it is a potential 
conflict of interest during the Michigan Strategic Fund Board Meeting on Tuesday, December 10, 2024. 
 
Many thanks –   

 
Britany Affolter-Caine 
Executive Director 
Michigan’s University Research Corridor 

14



 

 

Driving Smart Economic Growth in Service of Prosperity for All 
Acceleration • Growth • Talent • Community 

Board of Directors 
Kelly Sexton (Chair) 
University of Michigan  
Innovation Partnerships 
Simon Whitelocke  
(Vice-Chair) 
ITC Holdings Corp. 
David Snodgrass 
(Treasurer) 
Lake Trust Credit Union 
Tiffany Ford (Secretary) 
University of Michigan  
Credit Union 
David Ruud (Past Chair) 
DTE Energy 
Dr. Rose Bellanca  
Washtenaw Community 
College 
Gregory Dill 
Washtenaw County 
Milton Dohoney 
City of Ann Arbor 
Patti Glaza 
Invest Detroit 
Leigh R. Greden 
Eastern Michigan University 
Jeff Hauptman 
Oxford Companies 
Brandon Hofmeister 
Consumers Energy 
Justin Hodge 
Washtenaw County 
Chris Kolb 
University of Michigan 
Chris Kowitz 
Wacker Chemical 
Paul Krutko 
Ann Arbor SPARK 
Mark LePage, MD, MBA 
Trinity Health 
Lon Lowen 
NETSCOUT 
Marcy Marshall 
Arboretum Ventures 
Timothy G. Marshall 
Bank of Ann Arbor 
John McLaughlin 
KLA Corporation 
Peter Mertens 
Sartorius 
David Parsigian  
Honigman LLP 
Trish Reilly 
Pittsfield Charter Township 
Paul Roney 
Domino’s Farms 
Christine Sing 
Rehmann 
Rich Sheridan 
Menlo Innovations  
Brenda Stumbo 
Ypsilanti Township 
Robert Young 
Toyota NA R&D 
Headquarters 

330 E. Liberty Street, Ann Arbor, MI 48104      
P: 734-761-9317 | F: 734-761-9062 | AnnArborUSA.org 

December 2024  
 
Michigan Strategic Fund Board   
Michigan Economic Development Corporation   
300 North Washington Square   
Lansing, MI 48913   
 
Support for the U-M and Los Alamos National Laboratory Research Facility in 
Washtenaw County 
 
Dear Members of the Michigan Strategic Fund Board,   
 
On behalf of Ann Arbor SPARK, I am writing to express our enthusiastic support for the 
establishment of a groundbreaking research facility in Washtenaw County, a 
collaboration between the University of Michigan (U-M) and Los Alamos National 
Laboratory (LANL). This initiative aligns with our mission to advance economic growth 
and innovation in Southeast Michigan, and we believe it will serve as a transformative 
asset for the region and the state.   
 
By enabling collaboration between LANL researchers, U-M faculty, and students, the 
project will drive advancements in fields like AI, advanced materials, and energy 
solutions, while addressing global challenges such as climate change and national 
security. 
 
The development of this facility at the strategically selected site in Ypsilanti Township 
showcases the region’s ability to attract and support high-impact projects. Ann Arbor 
SPARK was proud to provide key assistance in the site selection process, ensuring the 
project’s alignment with regional resources and infrastructure. This initiative exemplifies 
the strength of public-private-academic partnerships and demonstrates our 
community’s readiness to support cutting-edge research and innovation.  
 
Beyond the immediate research benefits, the facility promises to bring substantial 
economic and educational opportunities to Michigan. It will catalyze job creation, 
workforce development, and the growth of small businesses while expanding the state’s 
AI and high-tech ecosystem.  
 

15



 

 

We strongly believe that this project deserves the full support of the Michigan Strategic Fund Board. It 
represents a critical investment in Michigan’s future as a global leader in AI and advanced computing, while 
also enhancing the region’s ability to attract and retain talent and fostering meaningful collaborations 
across industries and academia.   
 
Thank you for considering this letter of support. We look forward to working alongside U-M, LANL, and 
state and local stakeholders to ensure the success of this transformative initiative.   
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Paul Krutko   
President and CEO   
Ann Arbor SPARK   

16



1

Natalie Davenport (MEDC)

From: Maryann Zelasko <zelaskojmk@sbcglobal.net>
Sent: Sunday, December 8, 2024 10:56 AM
To: MEDC MSF Comments
Subject: Public Comment Submittal
Attachments: archive (7).zip

I registered for the Public Comment period for the next MSF meeting to be held on December 10.   
 
I think it is important for the Executive Board to be made aware of certain non-compliance issues associated with the 
resolutions that they have approved and violations of Act 381. 
 
I believe that the information provided in Item 3 should be of particular interest to the Board. 
 
Thank you.  Please let me know if there is a problem with the attached zip file.  If needed, I can send the attachments 
separately. 
 
Maryann Zelasko 
 

17



I have tried for over two years to get the City of Dearborn and the Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 
(BRA) to review the various BRA plans and exam their adherence to MI Act 381 and other agreements.  
Unfortunately, I have been unsuccessful.   
 
I then contacted the Michigan Economic Development Corporation (MEDC) and was told that this matter 
would be handled by the State Attorney General’s office.  Therefore, I am now turning to your department 
for assistance. 
 
Listed below are some of my concerns regarding the incorrect capture and potential misuse of taxpayer 
money.  I have substantial back-up documentation, but I am including a minimal amount with this initial 
correspondence.  I am hoping that this email will be assigned to a specific individual for review who can 
contact me and request additional back-up documentation or clarification. 
 
GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE CONCERNS 

1. MI Act 381 (Section 13b(7)(c)) allows for the following:  “In each fiscal year of the authority, the 
amount of tax increment revenues attributable to local taxes that an authority may use for the 
purposes described in subdivisions (a) and (b) is determined as follows:  For authorities that have 5 
or fewer active projects, $125,000.”  This was amended in 2023 from the original cap of $100,000. 
 
The City of Dearborn’s BRA has been capturing $100,000 annually from its three active projects 
(Redico $40,000; AK Steel $40,000; and Ford $20,000).  However, the annual operating 
expenditures are substantially less than the capture.  Refer to Attachment A (Columns 1, 2, 3).  How 
can the BRA legitimately keep this over capture?  This has occurred for several fiscal years (2020-
2023).  If the statute requires each year’s capture for administrative purposes be properly 
expended in the same year, how can this money be kept and not returned to the various taxing 
entities? 
 

2. MI Act 381 was recently amended to include additional administrative and operating expenses.  
According to Section 13b(7)(a)(i) this includes “Reasonable and actual administrative and operating 
expenses of the authority, including costs to implement, monitor, and maintain compliance with 
the income and price monitoring responsibilities associated with housing development activities.”  
As defined in the statute (Section 2(x)), housing development activities pertain to specific housing 
projects or specific tasks, such as demolition, site prep, etc.  
 
In November 2023 (fiscal year 2024), the BRA agreed to be the funding source for the City’s 
Housing Market Analysis.  According to the Contract Award summary (Attachment B), this is “a 
citywide analysis of housing demand, absorption rate, and financial analysis.”  This contract appears 
to be a general City activity that should be funded from the City’s General Fund.  This broad analysis 
appears to be outside the scope of eligible BRA activities.  Please review this procurement for 
services and explain what provision of Act 381 allows for this activity to be funded by the BRA.  
Why should other taxing agencies cover the cost for a general City contract? 
 

 
 

18



PROJECT SPECIFIC CONCERNS 
 

3. BRA Plan #7 Redico (Former Montgomery Ward Redevelopment):  According to the terms of the 
Michigan Economic Growth Authority (MEGA) Board resolution 2008-099 (Attachments C1 and C2), 
the Redico project was expected “to utilize various sources of state and local assistance.”  Since this 
project was located in a Downtown Development Authority (DDA) district, the East DDA “entered 
into a resolution pledging its tax increment revenue to support the public parking deck.”  The City 
indicated that “all of the estimated $13,344,552 in EDDDA capture will be utilized toward this 
project.”  MEGA staff approved school tax capture stipulating that “the authorization is based on 
the Authority capturing all available local operating mills for the term of the capture period.”   
 
According to the proposed FY2025 budget, the BRA will be capturing the entire school millage, but 
will be transferring only a portion of the local tax capture.  How can the terms of the MEGA 
resolution be ignored?  Why should the school carry a larger burden than was originally 
approved? 
 
When and what occurred to create this tax capture imbalance (school versus local)?  According to 
the response to my FOIA request, the BRA/City decided to adjust the amount of tax capture passed 
through from the EDDDA for support of this project.  From project inception through FY2021, the 
BRA followed the various agreements.  This meant that school capture was applied to eligible 
activities, and the entire EDDDA capture was to be used for bond financing (interest) and BRA 
operating expenses.  Please refer to Attachment C3 (page 11 of the Bra Act 381 Work Plan) that 
lists the MEGA eligible activities that were approved for school capture while the bond financing 
(interest) was to be paid by the local tax capture (Attachment C3, page 13). 
 
In the event that the project did not generate sufficient tax revenue, the project owner was 
invoiced as outlined in the Special Assessment Agreement.  In the event that the project generated 
more tax revenue than what was needed for its annual commitments, the amount of uncommitted 
tax increment revenues was paid to the owner according to the terms of the Infrastructure 
Reimbursement Agreement (due to size, this document is not attached). 
 
When the bonds were refinanced in FY2022, the annual bond payment was reduced.  At this point, 
the BRA/City decided to reduce the amount of tax capture passed through from the EDDDA.  Please 
refer to the Tax Capture worksheet (Attachment D) that I received in response to my FOIA request.   
 
This spreadsheet clearly illustrates the total disregard for the guidelines established in the MEGA 
resolution.  Specifically, the resolution was based on the Authority capturing 100% of local 
operating mills.  The actual amount of EDDDA capture passed through for this project was 
$187,056.09 which equates to only 44.1%.  However, the entire SET, School Operating, and 
Intermediate School capture was used for bond and interest repayment.  I find this to be 
outrageous.   How can the EDDDA pass through amount be less than half of the required 
percentage stated in the MEGA resolution?   
 

19



It appears that the BRA is violating the MEGA Board resolution and the Infrastructure 
Reimbursement Agreement.  Who has the authority to adjust the EDDDA capture that was 
previously pledged to this project?  Who is responsible for the balance between school and local 
capture?  Is it legal/ethical to adjust the tax capture in order to circumvent the reimbursement 
agreement? 
 

4. BRA Plan #9 AK Steel:  From both a financial and redevelopment point of view, this was the most 
extensive BRA Plan for this community involving tax increment financing.   Unfortunately, a large 
percentage of the work was never completed.  Although the required submittal date for all eligible 
activities occurred over three years ago, a closeout report was never prepared.  Why?    
 
The FY2025 BRA budget indicates that the plan “is in its final year of reimbursements for approved 
expenses and will receive $89K in FY25” (Attachment A, Note 1).   I am skeptical about this 
statement.  This was a very complex project.  It included an amended Brownfield Plan and an 
adopted Act 381 Work Plan that expanded the number of eligible parcels and activities.  The Work 
Plan allowed for school capture on Table 2 activities only.  Table 1 activities were local capture only.   
If there is only $89K in remaining reimbursement, then the City/BRA has captured over $2.5M of 
school taxes for activities that had been approved for local capture only.  This is too much 
taxpayer money to go unchecked. 
 
This brownfield work plan was approved by the MEGA Board in Resolution 2011-045. 
 

5. BRA Plan #11 UrbCam (Union at Dearborn):  Sec. 8(1)(b)(i) allows for the excess capture to occur 
“for not more than 5 years after the time that capture is required for the purpose of paying the 
costs permitted under section 13(4).”  The BRA completed developer reimbursement in 2019, and 
the excess capture should have gone into the Local Brownfield Revolving Fund (LBRF).  
 
The approved BRA budget for FY25 shows capture associated with this project.  How is that 
possible?  Five full years should have occurred in 2024. Please review this project to ensure correct 
capture.  Did the BRA capture the correct taxes as outlined in the Plan?  Who is responsible to look 
into this matter? 
 
This project was approved by the MEGA Board in Resolution 2011-113. 
 

I encourage you to review the status of the various plans and to keep me updated on the results of your 
review.  If needed, I can provide additional documentation.  What department/division is responsible for 
holding the BRA and City Administration accountable?  What department/division will investigate 
violations of Michigan statute (Act 381) and the MEGA Board resolutions? 
  
Thank you for your assistance.  
 
Maryann Zelasko 
zelaskojmk@sbcglobal.net  
734-283-8538 

20

mailto:zelaskojmk@sbcglobal.net


21



22



23



24



25



26



27



 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 
Date:   January 28, 2025 
 
To:  Michigan Strategic Fund Board  
  
From:  Rob Garza, Director, Statutory Analysis 
   
Subject:   Request for Approval of an Act 381 Work Plan Amendment #1 
  City of Lansing Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (BRA)  
  Neogen Expansion Brownfield Redevelopment Project  
  

REQUEST 
The City of Lansing Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (BRA) is requesting an amendment to a 
Brownfield Act 381 Work Plan previously approved for state tax capture for MSF eligible activities in the 
amount $1,576,751.  The amendment proposes to change the scope of the project, add new eligible 
activities, and increase the authorized capture to $1,726,852.  
 
PROJECT BACKGROUND 
The project was originally approved for state tax capture for Act 381 eligible activities in the amount of 
$1,576,751 by the MSF Board on August 23, 2022. 
 
The original project consisted of the new construction of a three-story, 176,000 square foot research and 
manufacturing facility. Neogen has identified an opportunity for further growth on this site located just 
north of downtown Lansing, and as a result, more eligible activity costs are being incurred to accommodate 
the expansion of scope. Additional tax increment revenue is also being generated due to the increased 
investment and expanded scope of the project. The new scope consists of an additional 4,700 square foot 
extension of the original building, renovation of an existing 20,144 square foot building for production 
support, and the new construction of a 35,000 square foot manufacturing and research space. The original 
approval anticipated the creation of 77 new jobs, while this expanded scope is anticipated to create 115 new 
jobs.     
 
Act 381 of 1996 (the “Act”), as amended, authorizes the MSF to approve Work Plans that include the 
capture of the School Operating Millage and State Education Tax millages for the purpose of supporting 
projects statewide. On March 23, 2021, the MSF Board approved the Brownfield Tax Increment Financing 
MSF Program Guidelines (“Guidelines”).  As required under the Act, all statutory criteria for the project 
have been considered when making the recommendations in this memo. The project meets the Brownfield 
TIF Guidelines and programmatic requirements, and a financial review has been completed. A MSF 
Eligible Activities and Tax Capture Summary is included in Appendix A. 
 
 
 
 
 

28



Neogen Corporation 
January 28, 2025 
Page 2 of 4 
 

 

Applicant Background / Qualifications 
Founded in Lansing, Michigan in 1982, Neogen Corporation develops, and markets products dedicated to 
food and animal safety.  The Company employs 647 people in Michigan alone and has an annual revenue 
of $450 million. The Company has teams stationed in 12 countries and a sales presence in more than 140 
countries around the world. 
 
The background review process was completed in accordance with the MSF Background Review Policy 
on December 16, 2024.   
 
RECOMMENDATION 
MEDC staff recommends approval of state tax capture for Act 381 eligible activities capped at $1,726,852, 
utilizing the current state to local capture ratio.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

29



Neogen Corporation 
January 28, 2025 
Page 3 of 4 
 

 

 
 
 

APPENDIX A – MSF ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES SUMMARY 
 
TAX CAPTURE SUMMARY  
In order to alleviate brownfield conditions and prepare the site for redevelopment, the City of Lansing, a 
Qualified Local Governmental Unit, has duly approved a brownfield plan for this property on July 18, 2022, 
and amended on August 26, 2024.  The property has been determined to be a facility as verified by the 
Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE) on December 17, 2024. 
 
There are currently 71.1123 non-homestead mills available for capture, with state mills from school 
operating and SET millages equaling 23.4478 mills (32.97%) and local millage equaling 47.6645 mills 
(67.03%). Tax increment capture began in 2024 and is estimated to continue for 9 years. The state tax 
capture is recommended to be capped at $1,726,852, which is the amount of tax increment revenue 
anticipated to be generated in 9 years. Total MSF eligible activities are estimated at $5,349,665. The tax 
capture ratio is impacted by the contribution to the Local Brownfield Revolving Fund. MSF eligible 
activities break down as follows:  
 

CURRENT PROJECT    
State tax capture (32.55%) $ 1,576,751 
Local tax capture  (67.45%) $ 3,267,339 
TOTAL  $ 4,844,090 

 
AMENDED 
PROJECT 

   

State tax capture  (32.28%) $ 1,726,852 
Local tax capture  (67.72%) $ 3,622,813 
TOTAL  $ 5,349,665 

 
COST OF MSF ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES (CURRENT PROJECT)    

Demolition  $ 135,000 
Lead, Asbestos, or Mold Abatement  750 
Infrastructure Improvements 

 
155,300 

Site Preparation + 3,443,800 
     Sub-Total $ 3,734,850 
Contingency (15%) + 560,115 
     Sub-Total $ 4,294,965 
Interest (3%) + 521,575 
     Sub-Total $ 4,816,540 
Brownfield/Work Plan Preparation + 21,375 
Brownfield/Work Plan Implementation  + 6,175 
TOTAL $ 4,844,090 

 
COST OF MSF ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES (AMENDED PROJECT)    

Demolition $ 914,760 
Lead, Asbestos, or Mold Abatement 

 
93,750 

Infrastructure Improvements 
 

155,300 

30



Neogen Corporation 
January 28, 2025 
Page 4 of 4 
 

 

Site Preparation + 3,895,885 
     Sub-Total $ 5,059,695 
Contingency (5%)  + 253,395 
     Sub-Total $ 5,313,090 
Brownfield/Work Plan Preparation  + 9,025  
Brownfield/Work Plan Implementation + 6,175 
TOTAL $ 5,349,665 

 
In addition, the project is requesting $103,900 in tax capture EGLE to assist with environmental eligible 
activities. 
 
Key Statutory Criteria  
Per section 15 of Act 381, the Michigan Strategic Fund shall consider the following criteria to the extent 
reasonably applicable to the type of activities proposed as part of that work plan when approving or denying 
a work plan: 
 

a) Overall Benefit to the Public: 
The project will transform an underutilized property located near downtown Lansing. The 
development will dramatically improve the appearance of the property and provide an increase to 
downtown retail traffic by virtue of increased workforce density. 
 

b) Jobs Created (Excluding Construction and other Indirect Jobs): 
The project is anticipated to create up to 115 full-time equivalent (FTE) jobs with an average hourly 
wage of $24.21.  
 

c) Area of High Unemployment: 
The County of Ingham’s jobless rate was 4.0% in October 2024.  
 

d) Level and Extent of Contamination Alleviated: 
Due Care activities will be undertaken to ensure appropriate contamination in the soil is alleviated.  
 

e) Reuse of Functionally Obsolete Buildings and/or Redevelopment of Blighted Property: 
The project is not qualifying as functionally obsolete or blighted.  
 

f) Whether Project will Create a New Brownfield Property in the State: 
No new Brownfields will be created by this project. 
 

g) Whether the Project is Financially and Economically Sound: 
From the materials received, the MEDC infers that the project is financially and economically 
sound. 
 

h) Other Factors Considered: 
No additional factors need to be considered for this project. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

31



MICHIGAN STRATEGIC FUND 
 

RESOLUTION 2025-002 
 

APPROVAL OF A BROWNFIELD ACT 381 WORK PLAN 
CITY OF LANSING BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY  
NEOGEN EXPANSION BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT 

AMENDMENT #1 
 
 

 WHEREAS, the Michigan Economic Growth Authority (“MEGA”) has been established 
by 1995 PA 24, as amended (the “Act”); 
 
 WHEREAS, 2002 PA 727 amended 1996 PA 381, MCL 125.2651 et seq, to empower 
local brownfield redevelopment authorities to request the MEGA Board to approve a brownfield 
project work plan and, thereby, capture taxes levied for school operating purposes for the project; 
 
 WHEREAS, Executive Order 2012-9 transferred all the authority, powers, duties, 
functions, responsibilities, records, personnel, property, unexpended balances of appropriations, 
allocations or other funds of the MEGA to the Michigan Strategic Fund (the “MSF”); 
 
 WHEREAS, the MSF Board approved a work plan (“Brownfield Work Plan”) request for 
Neogen Expansion Brownfield Redevelopment Project (the “Project”), by Resolution 2022-124 on 
August 23, 2022, authorizing the Authority (as defined below) to capture taxes levied for school 
operating purposes based on a maximum of $1,576,751; 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Lansing Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (the “Authority”) 
wishes to amend the scope of the Project by including additional eligible activities to support a 
larger footprint of the originally anticipated building and additional development and increasing 
the maximum amount for eligible costs; 
 
 WHEREAS, the Authority is requesting MSF Board approval of an amendment to the 
Brownfield Work Plan (the “Amended Plan”) to capture additional taxes levied for school operating 
purposes to provide for the reimbursement of the cost of eligible activities on an eligible property; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Michigan Economic Development Corporation (“MEDC”) provides 
administrative services to the MSF, and has reviewed the application and recommends approval of 
the Amended  Plan by the MSF Board. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the MSF Board approves the Amended Plan 
and authorizes the Authority to capture taxes levied for school operating purposes in substantially 
the same proportion as 32.28% to 67.72% ratio currently existing between school and local taxes 
for non-homestead properties, to reimburse the cost of site preparation, demolition, lead, asbestos, 
or mold abatement and infrastructure improvements as presented in the Amended Plan dated 
December 2, 2024. Any change in millage that increases the capture percentage of school taxes in 
the ratio above by more than 5 percentage points must be approved by the MSF Board.  The 
authorization is based on the Authority capturing all available local operating mills for the term of 
the capture period.  The authorization for the capture of taxes levied for school operating purposes 
is based on costs of MSF eligible activities with a maximum of $5,313,090 for the principal activity 
costs of non-environmental activities and a contingency, a maximum of $6,175 for brownfield and 

32



work plan implementation, and a maximum of $9,025 for brownfield and work plan preparation, 
and with the capture of taxes levied for school operating purposes being limited to a maximum of 
$1,726,852. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the MSF Board authorizes the MSF Fund Manager, 
to provide written notification to the Authority, in the form of a letter which incorporates the terms 
set forth in this Resolution and consistent with the limitations of the Act, and that this approval is 
further conditioned upon the Authority, or the City as appropriate, maintaining adequate records 
regarding: a) all taxes captured for the project; and b) receipts or other appropriate documentation 
of the cost of eligible activities.  The records shall be made available for review upon request by 
MSF or MEDC staff.   

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that no taxes levied for school operating purposes shall 

be used to reimburse interest costs related to the eligible activities for the Project. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that all other provisions of Resolution 2022-124 are 

reaffirmed and the MSF authorizes the MSF Fund Manager to implement the terms of this 
resolution. 
 
 Ayes:  Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Wesley Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, John Groen 
   (on behalf of Director Corbin, designation attached), Michael B. Kapp (on 
   behalf of Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L. Messer,  
   Jr., Dan Meyering, Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier 
 
 Nays:  None  
 
 Recused: None  
 
Lansing, Michigan 
January 28, 2025 

33



 

LEO is an equal opportunity employer/program.   
Auxiliary aids, services and other reasonable accommodations are available upon request to individuals with disabilities. 

105 WEST ALLEGAN STREET, LANSING, MICHIGAN 48933  www.michigan.gov/leo  517-241-6712 

 

 

 

 

 

January 21, 2022 

 
 
 
Ms. Katelyn Wilcox 
Board Relations Liaison  
Michigan Strategic Fund 
300 N. Washington Square  
Lansing, Ml  48913 
 
Re: Michigan Strategic Fund Board Meeting Designees 
 
Dear Ms. Wilcox: 
 
Pursuant to MCLA 16.51, I hereby confirm my designation of John Groen and 
Jonathan Smith as the persons authorized and empowered to act in my stead as 
a member of the Michigan Strategic Fund Board for scheduled meetings or 
portions thereof that I am unable to attend. 
 
If you need anything additional, please contact Diane Burton at (517) 230-5454.  
Thank you. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 

Susan R. Corbin 
Director 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

 

GRETCHEN WHITMER 
GOVERNOR 

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY  
LANSING 

SUSAN CORBIN 
DIRECTOR 

34



35



 
MEMORANDUM  

Date:   January 28, 2025  

To:   Michigan Strategic Fund Board Members  

From:   Sean Kammer, Business Development Project Manager  

Subject:    Grant Amendment Request  

  Michigan Business Development Program (“MBDP”) 

  BorgWarner, Inc. (“Company”) 

 

 

Request Summary  

This is a request to amend the Company’s existing MBDP Grant Agreement, as outlined below:  

• Amend the Company Group to include the addition of BorgWarner Transmission Products LLC, 
BorgWarner Ithaca LLC, BorgWarner Technology Services, LLC and amend the Base 
Employment figure from 963 to 994  
 
(Collectively, the “MBDP Amendment Request”). 

Background  

The Company was established in 1928 in Chicago and has been headquartered in Auburn Hills since 2005. 
The Company is a global provider of sustainable mobility solutions for the automotive industry and, 
inclusive all of its affiliates and subsidiaries, has approximately 1,700 employees in Michigan.  

The Company is expanding to accelerate its electric vehicle development and testing operations, which 
includes products like battery modules, battery packs, and DC fast chargers, as well as to scale-up its DC 
fast charging manufacturing operations. Michigan was chosen for the project over competing sites 
throughout the country. 

The project is expected to generate a total capital investment of $20.6 million and create 186 jobs, supported 
by a $1.86 million Michigan Business Development Program performance-based grant.  

On March 28, 2023, the MSF Board approved an incentive for the Company in the amount of $1,860,000 
in the form of a performance-based grant under the Michigan Business Development Program. This grant 
requires maintaining 963 Base Jobs and the creation of 186 Qualified New Jobs at the Company’s Auburn 
Hills, Dearborn, Hazel Park, and Warren locations. An agreement was executed between the MSF and the 
Company on September 11, 2023 governing the terms and conditions of the grant award (the “MBDP Grant 
Agreement”).  

The Company Group engaged in the project currently includes six companies. These include BorgWarner 
Inc, BorgWarner Propulsion Systems LLC, BorgWarner Emissions Systems of Michigan Inc., BorgWarner 
PDS (USA) Inc., AKASOL Inc., and Rhombus Energy Solutions, Inc.  

36



 
The company is seeking an amendment to include additional entities in the MBDP Grant Agreement. The 
awardee entity is not changing. Rather the company wants to ensure accurate base employment figures at 
the project locations.  
These new entities include: 

1. BorgWarner Transmission Products LLC 
2. BorgWarner Ithaca LLC 
3. BorgWarner Technology Services, LLC (USA 

While it is not expected, it is possible that some of the net new jobs could end up under these entities. The 
company would also like to amend the base employment figure from 963 to 994. 

The Parent Company currently operates 11 subsidiaries in Michigan. Nine of these are expected to be 
involved in the project, while the remaining two, BorgWarner Thermal Systems Inc., which operates in 
Cadillac and BorgWarner PDS Inc which operates in Livonia, are not associated with the project.  
 

Current Status of Project  

As for progress, the project is ahead of schedule and is expected to be completed by April 2025. The 
company has exceeded the new jobs and investment expectations, and is ready to submit for its first 
disbursement as soon as the amendment is finalized.   

  

Recommendation  

MEDC Compliance recommends the following (collectively, “Recommendation”):  

Approval of the MBDP Amendment Request outlined above; and  

All other aspects of the approval remain unchanged.  

Recommendation 

MEDC Staff recommends approval of the MBDP Amendment Request, as outlined in the attached 
resolution. 

 

 

37



MICHIGAN STRATEGIC FUND 

 

RESOLUTION 2025-003 

 

APPROVAL OF A MICHIGAN BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 

GRANT AMENDMENT FOR 

BORGWARNER, INC 

 

WHEREAS, the Michigan legislature passed legislation establishing the 21st  Century Jobs Trust  Fund 

initiative that was signed into law; 

 
WHEREAS, the Michigan Economic Development Corporation (“MEDC”) provides administrative 

services to the Michigan Strategic Fund (“MSF”) for 21st Century Jobs Trust Fund programs; 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to MCL 125.2088r, the MSF shall create and operate the Michigan Business 

Development Program (“MBDP”) to provide grants, loans and other economic assistance to qualified businesses 

that make qualified investments or provide qualified new jobs in Michigan; 

 

WHEREAS, on December 21, 2011, by Resolution 2011-184, the MSF (i) created the MBDP, and 

(ii) adopted the guidelines for the MBDP, as later amended on December 8, 2020, by Resolution 2020-146 

(“Guidelines”); 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to SFCR 125.2088r-1, the MSF Board approved the MSF Fund Manager or the MSF 

President to negotiate the terms and conditions and execute all final documents necessary to effectuate awards 

and decisions approved under the MBDP in accordance with the Guidelines (“Transaction Documents”); 

 

WHEREAS, the MSF Act, MCL 125.2001 et seq. and the Guidelines require that MBDP awards over $1 

million must be approved by the MSF Board; 

 

WHEREAS, the MSF Board approved a $1,860,000 MBDP performance-based grant (the “Grant”) by 

Resolution 2023-061 to BorgWarner Inc. (the “Company”) on March 28, 2023, for the expansion of its development 

and testing of battery modules, battery packs, and DC fast chargers for electric vehicles, for which the MSF and the 

Company entered into an agreement governing the Grant (the “Grant Agreement”); 

 

WHEREAS, the Company requests that the MSF Board approve an amendment to the Grant Agreement to 

add BorgWarner Transmission Products LLC, BorgWarner Ithaca LLC, and BorgWarner Technology Services, LLC 

to the Company Group and amend the Base Employment figure from 963 to 994 (the “MBDP Amendment Request”); 
 

WHEREAS, the MEDC recommends approval of the MBDP Amendment Request; and 

 

WHEREAS, the MSF Board wishes to approve the MBDP Amendment Request.  

 

NOW,   THEREFORE,   BE   IT   RESOLVED,   the   MSF   Board   approves   the   MBDP 

Amendment Request. 

 

Ayes:  Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Wesley Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, John Groen (on   

   behalf of Director Corbin, designation attached), Michael B. Kapp (on behalf of   

   Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L. Messer, Jr., Dan Meyering,  

   Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier 

 

Nays:  None  

 

Recused:  None  

 

 

38



Lansing, Michigan  

January 28, 2025 

39



 

LEO is an equal opportunity employer/program.   
Auxiliary aids, services and other reasonable accommodations are available upon request to individuals with disabilities. 

105 WEST ALLEGAN STREET, LANSING, MICHIGAN 48933  www.michigan.gov/leo  517-241-6712 

 

 

 

 

 

January 21, 2022 

 
 
 
Ms. Katelyn Wilcox 
Board Relations Liaison  
Michigan Strategic Fund 
300 N. Washington Square  
Lansing, Ml  48913 
 
Re: Michigan Strategic Fund Board Meeting Designees 
 
Dear Ms. Wilcox: 
 
Pursuant to MCLA 16.51, I hereby confirm my designation of John Groen and 
Jonathan Smith as the persons authorized and empowered to act in my stead as 
a member of the Michigan Strategic Fund Board for scheduled meetings or 
portions thereof that I am unable to attend. 
 
If you need anything additional, please contact Diane Burton at (517) 230-5454.  
Thank you. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 

Susan R. Corbin 
Director 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

 

GRETCHEN WHITMER 
GOVERNOR 

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY  
LANSING 

SUSAN CORBIN 
DIRECTOR 

40



41



 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
  
Date:   January 28, 2025 
  
To:  Michigan Strategic Fund (“MSF”) Board Members 
 
From:  Greg West, Director, Federal Programs 

Amy Schlusler-Schmitt, Federal Programs, Manager 
Paula Holtz, Managing Director, Regional Development  

 
Subject:         Community Development Block Grant Program 

Public Gathering Space Initiative 
Two Grant Amendments 

    
 
Request 
MEDC staff is requesting a total of $434,321.00 in Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) funds for budget increases/grant amendments to two (2) Public Gathering Space projects. 
(Exhibit A) 
 
Background  
On September 26, 2023, by Resolution 2023-164 sixteen (16) units of general local government  
received a total of $20,000,000 in CDBG funds for the expansion and creation of public gathering 
spaces as well as up to $800,000 in administrative services to assist the communities with the 
compliance requirements of the awards. 
 
Eligible Activities for the funding initiative include: 
 

• Permanent infrastructure required for the successful creation and/or operation of a public 
gathering space such as utility infrastructure, playground equipment, pavilions, public 
restrooms, drinking fountains, sidewalks, etc. 
 
• Universal Accessibility design elements that enable public spaces to comply with the 
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and create welcoming public spaces for residents 
of all abilities, such as, accessible playground equipment, modified restrooms, etc. 

 
• Other permanent infrastructure or amenities, deemed eligible by HUD, necessary to 
support the accessibility and seasonality of a public gathering space 

 

42



 
 
 
 
 

   

 

Village of Muir and City of Cadillac are requesting additional grant funds. Both communities bid 
their projects through a sealed bid process, but the project costs came in higher than estimated.  As 
the Public Gathering Space grants were secured by these communities through a competitive MSF 
funding round, the communities were not permitted to reduce the scope of the grant projects.  
However, the projects were value engineered and realized cost savings since bidding. 
 
As the cost of these projects has increased, both communities are contributing additional funds and 
are maintaining their initial, required match amount for each project. 
 
Recommendation 
MEDC Staff recommends the MSF authorize: 
 

• A total of $434,321 in CDBG funds for the two (2) projects identified in Exhibit A. 
 
 
       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

43



MICHIGAN STRATEGIC FUND  
 RESOLUTION 2025-004 

  
APPROVAL OF ADDITIONAL CDBG FUNDING FOR TWO COMMUNITIES PUBLIC 

GATHERING SPACE PROJECT AMENDMENTS  
 

WHEREAS, Executive Order 1999-1, issued pursuant to Article V of the Michigan Constitution 
of 1963 and the laws of the State of Michigan, consolidated the State’s economic development functions 
and programs and their accompanying powers in the Michigan Strategic Fund (“MSF”).  
  

WHEREAS, Executive Order 1999-1 transferred from the Michigan Jobs Commission to the 
MSF all authority, powers, duties, functions, grants, and responsibilities, including the functions of 
budgeting, procurement, personnel, and management related functions, of the Community Development 
Block Grant (“CDBG”) program.  
  

WHEREAS, Executive Order 2023-1 stated that the MSF retain the administration of the CDBG 
Disaster Recovery Program, the CDBG Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security (CARES) Act 
program and CDBG Program related to the 2022 CDBG annual program allocation and all prior year 
allocations.  
    

WHEREAS, pursuant to SFCR 10.1-1(3), the MSF approved the MSF Fund Manager or the 
MSF President to negotiate the terms and conditions and execute all final documents necessary to 
effectuate awards or decisions approved under the CDBG program.   
  

WHEREAS, the CDBG program has policies, criteria, and parameters that are enumerated in the 
2022 Program Year Funding Guide, as amended (the “Criteria”). The MSF Board, by Resolution 2022-
143, authorized and approved the 2022 Action Plan and the 2022 Program Year Funding Guide Excerpt 
which includes guidelines for CDBG grants.  
  

WHEREAS, on September 26, 2023, by Resolution 2023-164, the MSF Board approved the 
2023 Public Gathering Spaces Projects, in the amount of $20,000,000 for sixteen (16) Public Gathering 
Space projects and an additional $800,000 in CDBG funds for administrative services.  

  
WHEREAS, two (2) of the projects approved by Resolution 2023-164 have requested an additional 

$434,321 in CDBG funds for projects listed in Exhibit A (the “Amendment Requests”).  
  

WHEREAS, the CDBG program staff reviewed the Amendment Requests in light of the Criteria 
and HUD regulations and concluded the activities are eligible and recommends that the MSF Board approve 
the Amendment Requests; and  
  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the MSF Board approves the Amendment 
Requests subject to available CDBG funding.  
  

Ayes:   Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Wesley Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, John Groen  
   (on behalf of Director Corbin, designation attached), Michael B. Kapp (on  
   behalf of Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L. Messer,   
   Jr., Dan Meyering, Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier 
  

Nays:   None  
  

Recused:  None  
  

44



Lansing, Michigan  
January 28, 2025 
 

45



          EXHIBIT A 
 
 
 

 

Applicant/Communities 
Amendment 

Request Project Description 

City of Cadillac $105,154.00 

This project will include the renovation of the Market at 
Cadillac Commons building in downtown Cadillac. The 
project will construct an overhead door system, two new 
public restrooms, public electric car charging stations, 
bicycle racks, and more. 

Village of Muir $329,167.00 

This project includes the construction of a universally 
designed Sensory Park.  The park will include interactive 
electronic play equipment, a fitness play area, zip line, an 
artificial turf hillside slide, and an outdoor fireplace. 

                       TOTAL   $434,321.00  

46



 

LEO is an equal opportunity employer/program.   
Auxiliary aids, services and other reasonable accommodations are available upon request to individuals with disabilities. 

105 WEST ALLEGAN STREET, LANSING, MICHIGAN 48933  www.michigan.gov/leo  517-241-6712 

 

 

 

 

 

January 21, 2022 

 
 
 
Ms. Katelyn Wilcox 
Board Relations Liaison  
Michigan Strategic Fund 
300 N. Washington Square  
Lansing, Ml  48913 
 
Re: Michigan Strategic Fund Board Meeting Designees 
 
Dear Ms. Wilcox: 
 
Pursuant to MCLA 16.51, I hereby confirm my designation of John Groen and 
Jonathan Smith as the persons authorized and empowered to act in my stead as 
a member of the Michigan Strategic Fund Board for scheduled meetings or 
portions thereof that I am unable to attend. 
 
If you need anything additional, please contact Diane Burton at (517) 230-5454.  
Thank you. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 

Susan R. Corbin 
Director 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

 

GRETCHEN WHITMER 
GOVERNOR 

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY  
LANSING 

SUSAN CORBIN 
DIRECTOR 

47



48



 

 

  
MEMORANDUM  

Date:   January 28, 2025 

To:  Michigan Strategic Fund Board  

From:  Rodney Parkkonen, Director, Second-Stage Growth 
  
Subject:   Project DIAMOnD Statewide Expansion – Department of Energy Award Acceptance 

& Allocation of Funds to Subrecipient 
 
 
REQUEST 
The Michigan Economic Development Corporation (“MEDC”) requests that the Michigan Strategic Fund 
(“MSF”) Board accept a federal funding award in the amount of $1,999,400 and allocate that funding to 
the existing I4.0 partner as set forth below in Exhibit A (the “Request”). 
 
BACKGROUND 
In October 2023, the MSF Board approved acceptance and match funding for the Department of Energy 
(DOE) Office of Manufacturing and Energy Supply Chains (MESC) State Manufacturing Leadership 
Program award. That award provided additional funding to build upon the comprehensive Industry 4.0 
Signature Initiative.  
 
On August 1, 2024, the DOE posted The Bipartisian Infrastructure Law (BIL) Smart Manufacturing and 
Recycling Tactics for States (SMART) funding opportunity under the same State Manufacturing 
Leadership Program umbrella. The intent of the funding is to support access to smart manufacturing 
technologies and high-performance computing resources for small and medium-sized manufacturers by 
states and the recycling of batteries and battery-containing devices by states and local units of government.  
 
On September 16, 2024, the MSF submitted an application for this competitive federal grant program. On 
December 20, 2024, the DOE selected the MSF’s application to receive an award of $1,999,400 to expand 
Automation Alley’s Project DIAMOnD (Distributed, Independent, Agile Manufacturing on Demand). The 
total cost of this project is $2,600,000, with the required matching funds coming from a combination of 
MEDC corporate funds ($475,000) and Automation Alley membership funds ($125,600). 
 
Project DIAMOnD is the country’s largest 3D printing network, established in 2020 with CARES Act 
funding from Oakland and Macomb counties. In Phase I, 300 small manufacturers were provided 3D 
printers, training, and software, creating a regional network focused on adopting additive manufacturing to 
strengthen supply chains. These manufacturers have been leveraging this equipment since April 2021 and 
have printed over 34,000 combined prints. The network’s agility was demonstrated when Michigan 
manufacturers produced over 10,000 tourniquet components for Ukraine using additive technologies, 
significantly reducing production time compared to traditional methods.  

49



 

 

 
Phase II, funded in 2023 by Oakland County through the America Rescue Plan Act, expands on these efforts 
by providing deeper technical training and the development of the Digital Transformation Center (DTC). 
This facility offers advanced additive manufacturing equipment and a 10-week training program through 
the Digital Transformation Program (DTP). With these resources, manufacturers can implement and scale 
their additive manufacturing processes without the burden of owning complex equipment. Phase II will add 
250 more Oakland County manufacturers to the Project DIAMOnD network. 
 
The goal of this expansion is to increase the number of Small to Medium Manufacturers (SMM) in 
Michigan to adopt smart manufacturing technologies in order to improve energy efficiency, reduce carbon 
emissions and adapt operations to maintain competitiveness in a rapidly evolving and increasingly 
automated and technology-driven business climate. This expansion will facilitate the rapid deployment of 
smart manufacturing technologies outside the current project footprint (Oakland County) and across 
Michigan by leveraging the foundation of existing work and programming conducted by Automation 
Alley’s Project DIAMOnD and its key partners. Key areas of focus are included in Appendix B. 
 
The project will offer targeted training through the DTP and product and process assessments through the 
DTC to 100 SMMs, resulting in a more skilled and competitive workforce capable of meeting the demands 
of the rapidly evolving manufacturing sector. The project will result in substantial energy savings and 
emissions reductions across participating manufacturers, contributing to both environmental sustainability 
and cost competitiveness. These improvements will enable Michigan's manufacturers to meet global 
environmental standards while enhancing their productivity and market positioning. 
 
Automation Alley is Michigan’s Industry 4.0 knowledge center, dedicated to helping companies embrace 
the future of manufacturing through the integration of cutting-edge technologies. Automation Alley was 
chosen to serve as the subrecipient due to their expertise and the existing program that was scalable to 
SMMs outside of the existing service area including those in geographically disadvantaged areas as well as 
those with diverse ownership. 
 
As a nonprofit Industry 4.0 leader, Automation Alley connects businesses, educators, government 
organizations through public-private partnerships, providing them with the resources, expertise, and tools 
necessary to navigate the rapidly evolving landscape of advanced manufacturing. Automation Alley is able 
to glean input and feedback from their membership base of over 3600 members with 425 SMM members 
it serves in CDFI regions and 478 SEDI-owned businesses. Currently, Automation Alley is managing four 
federally funded programs: Department of Energy-funded Oakland University Cybersecurity Center, 
Department of Energy funded CyManll Cybersecurity Program, Department of Treasury funded Project 
DIAMOnD, Economic Development Administration funded Build To Scale, Automation Alley Industry 
4.0 Accelerator. Automation Alley also serves as a SmartZone for entrepreneurs that provides mentoring,  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
The MEDC recommends that the MSF Board accept the federal funding of $1,999,400 and allocate that 
funding to the existing I4.0 partner as set forth below in Exhibit A. 

 
 
 
 

50



 

 

EXHIBIT A 
Project DIAMOnD Statewide Expansion – Department of Energy award 

delegation to accept & allocate funds to subrecipients 
 
 

Entity Federal 
Funding 

MEDC 
Match 

Automation Alley 
Match 

Total 

MSF (Prime) 
 

Automation Alley (Sub) 

 
$1,999,400 

 
$475,000 

 
$125,600 

 
$2,600,000 

 
  

51



 

 

EXHIBIT B 
Key Focus Areas: Project DIAMOnD Statewide Expansion – Department of 

Energy Award Delegation to Accept & Allocate Funds to Subrecipient 
 
1. Outreach: MSF’s statewide partner network and Automation Alley’s extensive network of over 3,000 
SMM members, will enable effective outreach to identify and engage manufacturers ready to adopt smart 
technologies. This deep reach ensures that manufacturers in underserved communities, such as Metro 
Detroit, Flint, Western, and Rural Northern Michigan, will be included in the project’s deployment. 
 
2. Training and Workforce Development: The Digital Transformation Program (DTP) and Michigan’s 
Manufacturing Extension Partner (MEP) Michigan Manufacturing Technology Center (MMTC) will 
provide customized targeted training to companies, helping them adopt additive manufacturing and other 
smart technologies. This program will be deployed in a variety of formats, including in-person, self-paced 
and live virtual training to equip participants with the skills and knowledge needed to implement and sustain 
additive manufacturing practices within their operations. In addition to equipping participants with the skills 
and knowledge needed to implement additive manufacturing practices, this training will emphasize energy-
efficient operations and processes, helping SMMs achieve significant energy savings and reduce emissions, 
further enhancing their competitiveness in the global market. 
 
3. Facility, Product, or Process Assessments: Assessments will focus on identifying opportunities for 
improving energy efficiency and reducing emissions in manufacturing processes, ensuring that the adoption 
of smart manufacturing technologies also contributes to lower operational costs, increased sustainability, 
and improved competitiveness. Through the Digital Transformation Center (DTC), SMMs can receive 
individualized and customized assessments of their products and processes through services from 
Geofabrica (see Qualifications of Team Members). Companies will learn the fundamentals of Additive 
Manufacturing (AM), focusing on Design for Additive Manufacturing (DfAM) technologies, tools, and 
processes, FFF-CFR slicing and printing, and post-processing techniques from industry experts. The 
program also explores business opportunities within AM, automated workflows, reverse engineering, and 
sales automation, providing practical skills and strategies for implementing AM in a professional context. 
 
4. Smart Manufacturing Roadmapping: The consultations provided through the DTC and Geofrabica 
will include assistance in developing smart manufacturing roadmaps to guide companies in reviewing and 
selecting appropriate technologies, automating processes, identifying new business opportunities, and 
successfully deploying advanced technologies. These roadmaps will include strategies for optimizing 
energy usage, guiding companies in implementing technologies that not only enhance productivity but also 
improve energy efficiency, making them more competitive while aligning with sustainability goals. 
 
5. Direct Technology Implementation: Companies will be supported in their technology implementation 
efforts by MMTC and Geofabrica through the DTP and DTC. The DTC houses advanced additive 
equipment for the community to utilize. These resources will provide manufacturers with the tools, funding, 
and expertise needed to adopt smart manufacturing technologies without the burden of ownership, while 
giving them access to advanced equipment at the DTC to implement energy-efficient solutions that enhance 
operational efficiency and competitiveness. 
 
6. Networking: The project will promote networking opportunities not only with key partners such as 
MMTC and Experts-in-Residence (EIRs), but also with over 140 academic institutions through Automation 
Alley’s ecosystem. This will enable SMMs to access cutting-edge research and collaborate on innovation 
projects with university labs, fostering a deeper integration of advanced technologies. The project will also 
allow for SMMs to network with each other. Automation Alley will host opportunities for SMMs to 
collaborate and share knowledge related to industry trends, and implementing additive manufacturing such 
as overcoming operational challenges, and strengthening the supply chain by identifying additional 
resources and customers. Companies will also be able to take advantage of an MSF subsidized membership 

52



 

 

through Automation Alley which gives them access to Industry 4.0 insights and resources, local and 
international business support services, opportunities for promotion and visibility into the ecosystem, and 
discounted access to any event held by Automation Alley. 

53



MICHIGAN STRATEGIC FUND RESOLUTION 2025-005 

SMALL BUSINESS SOLUTIONS & SERVICES 
ACCEPTANCE AND ALLOCATION OF FUNDING FOR 

AUTOMATION ALLEY GRANT (FEDERAL FUNDING) 

WHEREAS, the Michigan Legislature enacted the Michigan Strategic Fund Act, MCL 125.2001 
et. seq., (the “MSF Act”) to authorize the Michigan Strategic Fund (“MSF”) to provide incentives in the 
form of grants, loans, and other economic assistance for the development and improvement of Michigan’s 
economy; 

WHEREAS, the Michigan Economic Development Corporation (“MEDC”) provides 
administrative services to the MSF; 

WHEREAS, in September 2024, the MSF submitted an application with the U.S. Department of 
Energy under the Smart Manufacturing Recycling Tactics for States program; 

WHEREAS, the MSF anticipates receiving a $1,999,400 award from the U.S. Department of 
Energy (“DOE Award”) to assist the expansion of Automation Alley’s Project DIAMOnD (“Project”); 

WHEREAS, the MSF Board will need to accept the DOE Award and further allocate the funding 
to the Project, subject to matching funds provided by the MEDC and Automation Alley; 

WHEREAS, the MEDC recommends that the MSF Board approve the acceptance of the DOE 
Award and approve an allocation of the DOE Award to the Automation Alley in support of the Project;  

WHEREAS, the MSF Board desires to accept the DOE Award and allocate the funding to 
support the Project; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the MSF Board approves acceptance of the DOE 
Award; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the MSF Board approves the allocation of the DOE Award to 
Automation Alley in support of the Project; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the MSF authorizes the acceptance of the MSF Fund Manager 
to negotiate and execute all final documents necessary to effectuate the DOE Award and subsequent 
allocation of funding to Automation Alley in support of the Project.  

Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Wesley Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, John Groen (on 
behalf of Director Corbin, designation attached), Michael B. Kapp (on behalf of 
Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L. Messer, Jr., Dan Meyering, 
Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier 

None 

None 

Lansing, Michigan 
January 28, 2025

Ayes: 

Nays: 

Recused: 

54



 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
Date: January 28, 2025 
 
To: Michigan Strategic Fund (“MSF”) Board Members 
 
From: Matt Chasnis, Strategic Projects Advisor 
 
Subject:   Grant Amendment Request 
  Michigan Business Development Program (“MBDP”) 
  UL LLC (“Company”) 
   
 
Request 
This is a request from the Company to amend the MBDP Agreement (“Agreement”) to allow the entities 
listed below, who’s employees were already considered in the base employment of 90, to count toward the 
base employment: 

• UL Verification Services Inc. 
• KAM Specialty Equipment Services Co d/b/a Data Test Labs 
• UL Associates LLC 

(Collectively, the “MBDP Amendment Request”) 
 
Background  
On December 13, 2022, the MSF Board approved a $1,000,000 award to the Company under the MBDP, a 
$500,000 award under the JRMP, and an Alternative 5-year SESA valued at $143,760. On December 12, 
2023, the JRMP award was rescinded and a $1,500,000 MBDP award was approved to reduce the 
administrative that was required by the Company and the MEDC. The Company proposed a new battery 
testing facility in Auburn Hills, Oakland County that will require $72,700,000 in private investment and 
will result in the creation of 61 new high-wage jobs. 
 
The Company has successfully constructed the facility, took occupancy mid-2024, and is on track to meet 
their commitment for job creation and private investment. The grant agreement, which included the 
employees in the base employment number, mistakenly did not allow the additional entities to count and is 
therefore unable to meet the base employment. With this amendment, the employment at the related entities 
will be able to count toward the base and will cure the Company’s current default.  
 
Company Background 
The Company’s parent, Underwriters Laboratories, Inc., established its headquarters in 1894 in Northbrook, 
Illinois and is a global leader in applied safety science. The parent entity is composed of three organizations, 
UL Research Institutes, UL Standards & Engagement and UL Solutions, that make up the UL enterprise. 
UL LLC is part of UL Solutions. The UL enterprise delivers testing, inspection, and certification services, 
with software products and advisory offerings that help customers innovate, launch new products and 
services, navigate global markets, and complex supply chains, and grow sustainably and responsibly into 
the future. The UL Enterprise was restructured in 2012 to create a separation between research and 
standards, and testing, inspection and certifications. UL Solutions remains the organization serving 
customers in testing, inspection, certification, and advisory. UL Solutions employs over 14,000 people 
worldwide with 90 Michigan residents. 
 

55



 

 

 
 
Recommendation 
MEDC Staff recommends approval of the MBDP Amendment Request, as outlined in the attached 
resolution. 

56



MICHIGAN STRATEGIC FUND 
 

RESOLUTION 2025-006 
 

APPROVAL OF A MICHIGAN BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM  
GRANTAMENDMENT FOR  

UL LLC 
 

 WHEREAS, the Michigan legislature passed legislation establishing the 21st Century Jobs Trust 
Fund initiative that was signed into law; 
  
 WHEREAS, the Michigan Economic Development Corporation (the “MEDC”) provides 
administrative services to the Michigan Strategic Fund (the “MSF”) for 21st Century Jobs Trust Fund 
programs; 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to MCL 125.2088r, the MSF shall create and operate the Michigan Business 
Development Program (the “MBDP”) to provide grants, loans and other economic assistance to qualified 
businesses that make qualified investments or provide qualified new jobs in Michigan; 
 
 WHEREAS, on December 21, 2011, by Resolution 2011-184, the MSF Board (i) created the 
MBDP, and (ii) adopted the guidelines for the MBDP, as later amended on December 8, 2020 by Resolution 
2020-146 (the “Guidelines”); 
  

WHEREAS, pursuant to SFCR 125.2088r-1 (the “Delegation”), the MSF Board approved the MSF 
Fund Manager or the MSF President to negotiate the terms and conditions and execute all final documents 
necessary to effectuate awards and decisions approved under the MBDP in accordance with the Guidelines 
(the “Transaction Documents”); 
 
 WHEREAS, the MSF Act, MCL 125.2001 et seq. and the Delegation require that MBDP awards 
over $1 million must be approved by the MSF Board; 
 

WHEREAS, the MSF Board approved a $1,000,000 MBDP performance-based grant and a 
$500,000 JRMP performance-based grant on December 13, 2022, for the construction of a battery testing 
facility in Auburn Hills, Michigan (the “Project”); 

 
WHEREAS, the MSF Board approved a $1,500,000 MBDP performance-based grant amendment 

and rescinded the $500,000 JRMP performance-based grant on December 12, 2023; 
 

WHEREAS, UL LLC (the “Company”) has requested an amendment to the performance based 
MBDP grant to include UL Verification Services Inc., KAM Specialty Equipment Services Co d/b/a Data 
Test Labs, and UL Associates LLC in the Base Employment (the “MBDP Amendment Request”); 
 
 WHEREAS, the MEDC recommends that the MSF Board approve the MBDP Amendment 
Request; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the MSF Board desires to approve the MBDP Amendment Request. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the MSF Board approves the MBDP Amendment 
Request. 
 
 

57



Ayes:  Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Wesley Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, John Groen  
   (on behalf of Director Corbin, designation attached), Michael B. Kapp (on behalf 
   of Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L. Messer, Jr., Dan  
   Meyering, Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier 

 
Nays:  None  
   
Recused: None  

Lansing, Michigan  
January 28, 2025 

58



 

LEO is an equal opportunity employer/program.   
Auxiliary aids, services and other reasonable accommodations are available upon request to individuals with disabilities. 

105 WEST ALLEGAN STREET, LANSING, MICHIGAN 48933  www.michigan.gov/leo  517-241-6712 

 

 

 

 

 

January 21, 2022 

 
 
 
Ms. Katelyn Wilcox 
Board Relations Liaison  
Michigan Strategic Fund 
300 N. Washington Square  
Lansing, Ml  48913 
 
Re: Michigan Strategic Fund Board Meeting Designees 
 
Dear Ms. Wilcox: 
 
Pursuant to MCLA 16.51, I hereby confirm my designation of John Groen and 
Jonathan Smith as the persons authorized and empowered to act in my stead as 
a member of the Michigan Strategic Fund Board for scheduled meetings or 
portions thereof that I am unable to attend. 
 
If you need anything additional, please contact Diane Burton at (517) 230-5454.  
Thank you. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 

Susan R. Corbin 
Director 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

 

GRETCHEN WHITMER 
GOVERNOR 

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY  
LANSING 

SUSAN CORBIN 
DIRECTOR 

59



60



 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 
Date:   January 28, 2025 
 
To:  Michigan Strategic Fund Board  
  
From:  Rob Garza, Director, Statutory Analysis 
  
Subject:   Request for Approval of a Transformational Brownfield Plan Amendment #1 
  City of Detroit Brownfield Redevelopment Authority and 
  Related Olympia Predevelopment Company, LLC 
   The District Detroit Transformational Brownfield Redevelopment Plan 
  

Request 
The City of Detroit Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (the “BRA”) and Related Olympia 
Predevelopment Company, LLC (the “Developer”) is requesting approval of an amendment to the 
Transformational Brownfield Plan (the “TBP”) and Reimbursement Agreement that will not increase the 
amount of the previously approved award.  The amendment request includes the following components: 
 

• Approval of sales and use tax capture in the amount of up to $114,124,940 and reduction of 
income and withholding tax capture in an equal and offsetting amount from two of the project 
sites.   

• Reduction of available income tax capture from 100% to 50% for the project located at 2205 
Cass.   

 
The requests will not impact the existing maximum award amount approved by the Michigan Strategic 
Fund Board (“MSF”) or the maximum amount of approved post-construction revenues. All other terms of 
the current Reimbursement Agreement will remain the same. 
 
Background  
The MSF approved a Transformational Brownfield Plan in April 2023 with a total award of up to 
$614,964,910 in reimbursement to Related Olympia Predevelopment Company, LLC for the rehabilitation 
and new construction of 10 distinct projects in the city of Detroit. 
 
Act 381 was amended effective July 2023 to include Sales and Use Tax Capture as a revenue that may be 
requested by the developer for the purpose of reimbursement for eligible costs. Office space leasing has 
been impacted  by increased availability in the market.. As a result, much of the withholding tax capture 
originally projected for this project is unlikely to be realized. In order to ensure the project is still 
economically viable, the inclusion of sales and use tax capture is necessary to replace a portion of the 
withholding tax capture to support the project. The overall incentive amount and post-construction amount 
will remain unchanged since an equal and offsetting amount of income tax capture will be reduced to 
accommodate the inclusion of the new sales and use tax capture amount.  
 
 

61



Related Olympia Predevelopment Company, LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 2 of 2 
 

 

The residential units located at 2205 Cass will no longer meet the requirements within the affordable 
housing agreement, and as a result, the availability of income tax capture will be reduced from 100% to 
50%. The city is satisfied with the remaining requirements of the existing agreement, and the agreement 
still meets all statutory requirements that allow a developer to capture up to 100% of Income Tax Capture 
throughout the remaining components of the project.  
 
A statutorily required, third-party Sales and Use tax analysis was completed for the purpose of this 
amendment request, and that analysis concluded the Sales and Use tax assumptions were reasonable and 
fall within an acceptable range.    
 
Recommendation 
The MEDC staff recommends approval of an amendment to the TBP and Reimbursement Agreement to: 

1) Include sales & use tax capture in the amount of up to $114,124,940 provided that an equal and 
offsetting amount is reduced from withholding and income tax capture from the project sites 
identified in the tables provided in the amendment application.  

2) Stipulate that the 2205 Cass project is limited to a maximum of 50% income tax capture as 
reflected in the revised revenue tables provided in the amendment application.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

62



MICHIGAN STRATEGIC FUND 
 

RESOLUTION 2025-007 
 

APPROVAL OF A BROWNFIELD ACT 381 TRANSFORMATIONAL BROWNFIELD 
PLAN AMENDMENT #1 

CITY OF DETROIT BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY  
THE DISTRICT DETROIT TRANSFORMATIONAL BROWNFIELD PLAN 

 
 WHEREAS, the Michigan Economic Growth Authority (the “MEGA”) has been 
established by 1995 PA 24, as amended; 
 
 WHEREAS, 2002 PA 727 amended 1996 PA 381, MCL 125.2651 et seq, (the “Brownfield 
Act”) to empower local brownfield redevelopment authorities to request the MEGA Board to 
approve a brownfield project work plan and, thereby, capture taxes levied for school operating 
purposes for the project; 
 
 WHEREAS, Executive Order 2012-9 transferred all the authority, powers, duties, 
functions, responsibilities, records, personnel, property, unexpended balances of appropriations, 
allocations or other funds of the MEGA to the Michigan Strategic Fund (the “MSF”); 
 
 WHEREAS, Public Act 46 of 2017 amended the Brownfield Act to allow a governing 
body and the MSF to approve transformational brownfield plans and the Brownfield Act was 
further amended by Public Act 138 of 2021 modifying criteria for transformational brownfield 
plans; 
 
 WHEREAS, captured school operating tax revenues, construction period tax capture 
revenues, sales and use tax exemption, income tax capture revenues, withholding tax capture 
revenues, may be used under the Brownfield Act as amended, for demolition, construction, 
restoration, alteration, renovation or improvement of buildings, or site improvements on eligible 
property, including  infrastructure improvements that directly benefit eligible property, or for lead, 
asbestos, or mold abatement, and for demolition and that are not response activities under the 
Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act, 1994 PA 451; 
 
 WHEREAS, the MSF Board adopted the Transformational Brownfield Plan Guidelines 
(the “TBP Guidelines”) by Resolution 2017-109;  
 
 WHEREAS, the MSF Board amended the TBP Guidelines by Resolution 2017-152 on 
September 26, 2017, by Resolution 2019-062 on April 23, 2019, by Resolution 2022-055 on March 
22, 2022, by Resolution 2023-132 on July 25, 2023, and by Resolution 2023-194 on December 12, 
2023; 
 
 WHEREAS, the MSF approved a Transformational Brownfield Plan and Work Plan (the 
“Plan”) on April 25, 2023, by Resolution 2023-063 for projects located at 2200 Woodward Avenue, 
2250 Woodward Avenue, 2211 Woodward Avenue, 2300 Woodward Avenue, 2305 Woodward 
Avenue or 2300 Cass Avenue, 2455 Woodward Avenue, 408 Temple Street, 2205 Cass Avenue, 
2115 Cass Avenue, and  2210 Park Avenue within the City of Detroit, known as The District Detroit 
Transformational Brownfield Plan (the “Project”); 
 

WHEREAS, the MSF, City of Detroit Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (the “BRA”), 
Michigan Department of Treasury, and Related Olympia Predevelopment Company, LLC entered 

63



into a reimbursement agreement for the project effective November 1, 2023 (the “Reimbursement 
Agreement”); 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Detroit is a “qualified local governmental unit” and is eligible to 
provide for a) demolition; b) lead, asbestos, or mold abatement; c) public infrastructure 
improvements; d) site preparation; e) brownfield and work plan preparation; f) brownfield and work 
plan implementation and g) interest as provided under the Brownfield Act;  
 
 WHEREAS, the Detroit Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (the “BRA”) and Related 
Olympia Predevelopment Company, LLC (the “Company”) are requesting MSF approval of the 
following amendments (the “Amendment Request”) to the Plan and the Reimbursement 
Agreement: 
 

1) Include sales & use tax capture in the amount of up to $114,124,940 provided that an 
equal and offsetting amount is reduced from withholding and income tax capture from 
the project sites identified in the tables provided in the amendment application.  

2) Reduce the available income tax capture from 100% to 50% for the 2205 Cass project 
and include the revised revenue tables provided in the amendment application. 
 
WHEREAS, the Michigan Economic Development Corporation (the “MEDC”) provides 

administrative services to the MSF, and has reviewed the application and recommends the 
Amendment Request. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the MSF Board approves the Amendment 
Request ; and 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that all other provisions of Resolution 2023-063 are 

reaffirmed and the MSF authorizes the MSF Fund Manager to implement the terms of this 
resolution. 

 
 
 Ayes:  Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Wesley Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, John Groen 
   (on behalf of Director Corbin, designation attached), Michael B. Kapp (on 
   behalf of Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L. Messer,  
   Jr., Dan Meyering, Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier 
  
 Nays:  None  
 
 Recused: None  
 
Lansing, Michigan 
January 28, 2025 

64



65



 

LEO is an equal opportunity employer/program.   
Auxiliary aids, services and other reasonable accommodations are available upon request to individuals with disabilities. 

105 WEST ALLEGAN STREET, LANSING, MICHIGAN 48933  www.michigan.gov/leo  517-241-6712 

 

 

 

 

 

January 21, 2022 

 
 
 
Ms. Katelyn Wilcox 
Board Relations Liaison  
Michigan Strategic Fund 
300 N. Washington Square  
Lansing, Ml  48913 
 
Re: Michigan Strategic Fund Board Meeting Designees 
 
Dear Ms. Wilcox: 
 
Pursuant to MCLA 16.51, I hereby confirm my designation of John Groen and 
Jonathan Smith as the persons authorized and empowered to act in my stead as 
a member of the Michigan Strategic Fund Board for scheduled meetings or 
portions thereof that I am unable to attend. 
 
If you need anything additional, please contact Diane Burton at (517) 230-5454.  
Thank you. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 

Susan R. Corbin 
Director 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

 

GRETCHEN WHITMER 
GOVERNOR 

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY  
LANSING 

SUSAN CORBIN 
DIRECTOR 

66



MICHIGAN STRATEGIC FUND 
RESOLUTION 

2025-001 

APPROVAL OF THE JANUARY 28, 2025, CONSENT  
AGENDA FOR THE MICHIGAN STRATEGIC FUND 

BOARD 

WHEREAS, on November 20, 2013, Michigan Strategic Fund (“MSF”) approved use of 
consent agendas at MSF Board meetings, pursuant to defined consent agenda guidelines (the 
“Consent Agenda”); 

WHEREAS, on February 25, 2014, the MSF Board approved Guidelines for Preparation 
and Approval of Consent Agendas for the MSF, which were subsequently amended and restated 
by the MSF Board on October 24, 2023, 

WHEREAS, the Michigan Economic Development Corporation (the “MEDC”) provides 
administrative services to the MSF and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the recommendation of the MEDC, the MSF Board wishes to 
approve the Consent Agenda items listed below. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the MSF approves the Consent Agenda 
items listed below and identified in the final Consent Agenda for this MSF Board meeting: 

Consent Agenda Items: 

a. Proposed December 10, 2024, Meeting Minutes 
b. Neogen Expansion Brownfield Redevelopment Project Act 381 Work Plan Amendment 
c. BorgWarner, Inc. MBDP Grant Amendment  
d. CDBG Public Gathering Spaces Initiative Grant Amendments  
e. Project DIAMOnD Statewide Expansion: Department of Energy Award Acceptance & 

Allocation of Funds to Automation Alley  
f. UL, LLC MBDP Grant Amendment 
g. The District Detroit Transformational Brownfield Redevelopment Plan Amendment  

 

Ayes:  Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Wesley Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, John Groen 
(on behalf of Director Corbin, designation attached), Michael B. Kapp (on 
behalf of Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L. Messer, 
Jr., Dan Meyering, Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier 

Nays: None  

Recused:  None  

Lansing, Michigan 
January 28, 2025  

67



 

LEO is an equal opportunity employer/program.   
Auxiliary aids, services and other reasonable accommodations are available upon request to individuals with disabilities. 

105 WEST ALLEGAN STREET, LANSING, MICHIGAN 48933  www.michigan.gov/leo  517-241-6712 

 

 

 

 

 

January 21, 2022 

 
 
 
Ms. Katelyn Wilcox 
Board Relations Liaison  
Michigan Strategic Fund 
300 N. Washington Square  
Lansing, Ml  48913 
 
Re: Michigan Strategic Fund Board Meeting Designees 
 
Dear Ms. Wilcox: 
 
Pursuant to MCLA 16.51, I hereby confirm my designation of John Groen and 
Jonathan Smith as the persons authorized and empowered to act in my stead as 
a member of the Michigan Strategic Fund Board for scheduled meetings or 
portions thereof that I am unable to attend. 
 
If you need anything additional, please contact Diane Burton at (517) 230-5454.  
Thank you. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 

Susan R. Corbin 
Director 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

 

GRETCHEN WHITMER 
GOVERNOR 

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY  
LANSING 

SUSAN CORBIN 
DIRECTOR 

68



69



 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 
Date:   January 28, 2025  
 
To:  Michigan Strategic Fund Board  
  
From:  Dominic Romano, Senior Community Development Manager 
  Debbie Stehlik, Senior Commercial Real Estate Investment Manager 
 Rachel Young, Senior Program Specialist 
 
Subject:   Request for Approval of a Transformational Brownfield Plan (TBP) 
  Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (BRA) 
  Pontiac OZ 1 LLC 
  The Exchange Pontiac Transformational Brownfield Plan  
  

Project Summary & Request 
Pontiac OZ 1 LLC (the “Developer” or “Applicant”) and the Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority (“BRA”) are requesting the approval of a TBP incentive package in the aggregate amount of 
$79,232,145 reimbursed over 30 years, and divided by revenue type as follows: 
 

• Local and school property tax capture in the amount of $15,892,967, with state capture limited to 
$6,773,391. 

• A maximum of $3,454,522 in construction period withholding tax capture revenues. 
• A maximum of $1,413,185 in construction period sales and use tax exemptions. 
• A maximum of $58,471,472 in income tax capture revenues and withholding tax capture 

revenues and sales and use tax revenues (post-construction) to be reimbursed over 20 years. 
 
The proposed Transformational Brownfield Plan (the “Plan”) consists of three buildings and more than 
$105 million in investment in the core of the City of Pontiac, activating a large portion of northwest 
downtown. The redevelopment consists of the scope detailed below: 
 

• The Exchange Flats will include the new construction of a nine-story, 338,333 square foot 
residential building containing 287 residential units.  
 

• 91 North Saginaw (El Centro) will consist of the redevelopment of an existing four-story, 54,588 
square foot building to include ground floor restaurant/hospitality, meeting space and 
creative/traditional office and flex space  

 
• 48 West Huron (Tech & Arts) will include the redevelopment of a three-story, 75,000 square foot 

building that includes food hall, event, and traditional office space. 
 
A project map and project renderings are included in Appendix C. 
 

70



Pontiac OZ 1 LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 2 of 16 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The series of projects seeks to deliver a dynamic mix of housing, tech office, creative/maker space, not-for 
profit, hospitality and greenspace on a complex assemblage of vacant land and existing obsolete buildings. 
The project will bring an influx of new residents and commercial activity to an underutilized area of the 
city that has seen continued disinvestment. Pontiac’s core was once a center of arts, culture, banking and 
governmental services and its surrounding industrial properties were known for automobile manufacturing 
and engineering. Over the last five decades, manufacturing began to leave the city, the population declined, 
and fewer investments were made. Today, the City of Pontiac is considered a historically disadvantaged 
community and an area of persistent property vacancy and economic challenges. The Project intends to be 
a place-making development that will provide housing, commercial spaces, maker and artist spaces, 
community greenspace, a community food hall and other amenities that will help to catalyze additional 
development and investment in the city, bringing new life to Oakland County’s long neglected county seat. 
The Project includes ground-up multifamily development as well as the adaptive re-use of two existing 
buildings that will create an important hub of activity to catalyze future development. When completed, the 
Project will have a transformational impact on local economic development and community revitalization.  
 
Through an Affordable Housing Agreement between the Developer and the City of Pontiac, the planned 
residential portion of the Project includes reserving 20% of units as affordable at 80% of the Oakland 
County Area Median Income (“AMI”), totaling 57 units. The affordable units will be spread throughout 
The Exchange building and will be allocated across all unit types to ensure an equal distribution of 
affordability throughout the Project. 
 
Following construction completion and occupancy of the completed buildings, the project will undergo a 
re-evaluation based on the certified construction costs which may require the incentive to be adjusted down 
(“true up”). The incentive award will be decreased if the actual construction costs are less than 90 percent 
of the amount estimated in the Act 381 Work Plan. The associated MSF Board resolution includes the 
authorization for this modification per Section 14a(8) of Act 381. 
 
 
 

PROJECT SUMMARY 

Project Eligibility  
Blighted and 
Functionally 

Obsolete 
Total Approximate Private Square Feet Revitalized 467,921 
Total Approximate Public Square Feet Activated 26,950 
Total Approximate Acres Activated 7.449 
Estimated # of Residential Units  287 
Estimated Full-Time Equivalent Jobs Created 356 
Estimated Commercial Square Footage 135,989 
Estimated Residential Square Footage 216,295 
Current Taxable Value $1,971,190 

Projected Taxable Value at Completion $14,827,692 
Total Anticipated Capital Investment $105,642,860 
Transformational Brownfield Revenue Request $79,232,145 

71



Pontiac OZ 1 LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 3 of 16 
 

 

Statutory and Policy Considerations 
Act 381 of 1996 (the “Act”), as amended, authorizes the MSF to approve Transformational Brownfield 
Plans that include state and local property tax capture in conjunction with the Local Unit of Government, 
sales and use tax exemptions, construction period tax capture revenues, income tax capture revenues,  
withholding tax capture revenues, and sales and use tax capture revenues for the purpose of supporting 
projects statewide. On July 25, 2017, the MSF Board approved the Transformational Brownfield Program 
Guidelines (“Guidelines”). The Guidelines have been amended by the MSF Board most recently on 
December 12, 2023. As required under the Act, all statutory criteria for the project have been considered 
when making the recommendations in this memo. The project meets the Guidelines and programmatic 
requirements, and an underwriting analysis has been completed by MEDC underwriting staff. A summary 
of the completed underwriting analysis is included in Appendix A. An MSF Eligible Activities Table, 
Transformational Brownfield Program (“TBP”) Revenue Summary, and key statutory criteria are included 
in Appendix D. 
 
The project qualifies as a TBP as defined under Act 381 as it exceeds the threshold for capital investment 
based on the population of the city (which in this case is $50 million) and will have a transformational 
impact on local economic development and community revitalization based on the extent of brownfield 
redevelopment and growth in population, commercial activity, and employment that will result from the 
plan. The project is a mixed-use development with planned integration of retail, residential, and commercial 
uses. 
 
The request includes the use of up to 100% of income tax capture revenues, which is allowed under statute 
and Guidelines, subject to a written affordable housing agreement between the local governmental unit and 
the developer. This agreement will be executed prior to MSF approval.  
 
The request also includes a safe harbor calculation for income and withholding tax capture revenues, which 
may be elected for an individual project or the entire series of projects. The developer must elect whether 
to use the safe harbor calculation prior to the first disbursement of income tax capture revenues for a 
particular project. Once disbursement of income and withholding tax capture revenues commences, the 
Developer may not change the election for that individual project. 
 
Financial Highlights  

• Total Development Cost ranges from $167 to $242 per square foot with a project average of $226. 
• Residential rental rates average $2.09 per square foot, including 20% affordable units.  20% of 

residential units will be considered affordable to households earning 80% of Area Median Income 
(AMI).   

• Projected commercial rents range between $9.00 and $12.30 per square foot, with triple net lease 
terms. Commercial rents are not straightforward to project given the lack of comparables in the 
immediate vicinity. Most data for comparable spaces came from other Oakland County markets so 
appropriate adjustments were made to reflect the location and unproven nature of the market for 
commercial space immediately surrounding the project.  

• Anticipated equity contribution of 38.7%. 
• Projected levered Internal Rate of Return (IRR) on average of 6.2% and a Return on Equity (ROE) 

and Cash on Cash return of 8.9%, both over a 20-year horizon with the requested financial support. 
 

An MSF Eligible Activities and Tax Capture Summary are included in Appendix D.   
 
 
 

72



Pontiac OZ 1 LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 4 of 16 
 

 

Demonstrated Need  
Due to historic disinvestment, existing building conditions, the high cost of construction, cost of debt, and 
area rents, this urban infill, adaptive re-use development is infeasible to finance or complete without 
incentive assistance, given projected returns even with the requested support. The location of the Project in 
an unproven market within the city presents further challenges as there is no comparable space within the 
immediate vicinity to utilize when projecting rents for the planned commercial and residential spaces.  
Furthermore, the Project will help to address a critical shortage of mixed-income housing that is pervasive 
throughout the region, including increasing access to attainable housing in the City of Pontiac with the 
proposed 57 affordable units reserved at 80% of Oakland County AMI.  
 
The underwriting and financial analysis was completed by MEDC staff to evaluate the reasonableness of 
Project assumptions, the financial feasibility of the Project, and structure of TBP assistance required to 
make the Project financially feasible under TBP guidelines. Specifically, staff evaluated the project against 
TBP underwriting criteria, summarized below, and evaluated the reasonableness of key pro forma 
assumptions by benchmarking the Applicant’s assumed costs, revenues, expenses and financing 
assumptions against industry standards and similar projects in the City of Pontiac and Oakland County  and 
throughout the larger MSF portfolio.  In addition, staff evaluated the Developer’s TBP tax revenue 
projection assumptions. Staff has determined that the full approximately $79.2 million in TBP assistance is 
required after conducting this thorough analysis of the project. 
 
Underwriting Criteria per TBP Guidelines: 

1. Evaluation of specific underwriting criteria, including at a minimum the following: 
a. Assessment of how much traditional debt the project should be able to support/attract. 
b. Developer and consultant fees limited to 4% of the total development cost of the project.  
c. Reasonableness assessment of any related-party costs and expenses. 
d. Minimum Owner Equity Investment: 20% of Total Development Costs (net of developer 

and consulting fees). Deferred fees will not be counted in the calculation. 
e. Minimum Debt Service Coverage Ratio: 1.20:1.00, calculated based on all scheduled debt 

service requirements following stabilization and conversion to permanent financing. 
f. Returns in relation to the land use mix, location, size and complexity of the project and the 

risk involved.  Unleveraged IRR and yield on cost will be evaluated if financing is 
preliminary. If financing term sheets are provided, leveraged IRR and cash on cash return 
will be evaluated. Average annual return metrics will be for the first three years following 
project stabilization.   

2. Reasonableness assessment of the proposed rental structure and assumptions. 
3. Reasonableness assessment of the proposed operating expenses. 
4. Reasonableness assessment of the proposed development costs. 
5. Process conducted to analyze and determine the project’s economic viability. 

 
Staff considers a projected levered average cash on cash return (over a 20-year time horizon) of 15% or less 
to be acceptable for projects of this size, scope and complexity.  Using the assumptions provided during the 
underwriting of the Project, it was determined that the Developer could achieve a projected levered Internal 
Rate of Return (IRR) on average of 6.2% and a Return on Equity (ROE) and Cash on Cash return of 8.9%, 
both over a 20-year horizon with the requested financial support. These returns would be considered below 
the market appropriate rate of return identified for a project of this size and complexity. Any sensitivity 
analysis performed by staff did not provide an impact that would increase the levered return above the 15% 
threshold considered acceptable. Staff also ran scenarios based on a reduced level of assistance to assess 
impact on cash flow and return numbers in order to support the current request and determined the proposed 

73



Pontiac OZ 1 LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 5 of 16 
 

 

level of assistance appears necessary to be able to attract the required investment and keep the project 
financially feasible. The executive summary is included in Appendix A. 
 
Local Support 
The City of Pontiac is supporting the project with an Obsolete Property Rehabilitation Act (“OPRA”) tax 
abatement, approved December 2023, for two properties valued at $1,277,238 over 12 years, a 
Neighborhood Enterprise Zone (“NEZ”) tax abatement, estimated local approval Spring 2027, for 15 years 
of which the value will be determined upon final approval, as well as the local portion of the property tax 
capture component of the Brownfield TIF valued at $9,794,010.  
 
Applicant Background / Qualifications 
The development team consists of real estate professionals with deep experience in development and 
investment, including both ground-up and adaptive re-use projects. Collectively, they have developed, 
owned, and managed hundreds of residential units, hundreds of thousands of square feet of office, retail, 
and industrial space, several mixed-use/hospitality projects, and more.  The team possesses higher 
education and advanced degrees in various disciplines including business, finance, real estate development, 
urban planning, and architecture.  Many of their projects have involved MEDC support, primarily in the 
form of Brownfield TIF. Prior to this experience, the team has achieved deep professional experience in 
brokerage, real estate development and finance, asset management, and real estate private equity, 
overseeing well in excess of $1 billion in real estate transactions, investments, and developments. Most 
recently, the Developer has undertaken the $150 million redevelopment of a former furniture warehouse 
campus in Grand Rapids, Michigan that includes a combination of both adaptive re-use and ground-up 
multifamily and commercial space. That project, Factory Yards, was approved by the MSF for a TBP award 
in October, 2023. It appears the development team has the staff capacity and experience to execute several 
projects of varying uses simultaneously.   
 
An Organizational Chart for Pontiac OZ 1 LLC is provided in Appendix B.  The background review process 
was completed in accordance with the MSF Background Review Policy on October 2, 2024.   
 
Recommendation 
MEDC staff recommends approval of the following (the “Recommendation”): 

a) Approval of a TBP in the aggregate amount of $79,232,145 reimbursed over 25 years, which 
consists of the following revenue maximums: 
a. Local and school property tax capture in the amount of $15,892,967, to be reimbursed over 

30 years. 
b. A maximum of $3,454,522 in construction period withholding tax capture revenues. 
c. A maximum of $1,413,185 in construction period sales and use tax exemptions. 
d. A maximum of $58,471,472 in income tax capture revenues and withholding tax capture 

revenues and sales and use tax revenues (post-construction) to be reimbursed over 20 years. 
a) Approval of the factors that will be used to calculate the safe harbor amounts for income tax capture 

and withholding tax capture if elected by the developer. This election may be made on an individual 
project site or all project sites and must be made prior to the first distribution of income tax or 
withholding tax  revenues. This information is included in Appendix E.  

 
 
  

74



Pontiac OZ 1 LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 6 of 16 
 

 

APPENDIX A – Underwriting Analysis Executive Summary 
 
Underwriting Analysis 
The underwriting and financial analysis was completed by MEDC staff to evaluate the reasonableness of 
Project assumptions, the financial feasibility of the Project, and structure of TBP assistance required to 
make the Project financially feasible under TBP guidelines. Specifically, staff evaluated the project against 
TBP underwriting criteria, summarized below, and evaluated the reasonableness of key pro forma 
assumptions by benchmarking the Developer’s assumed costs, revenues, expenses and financing 
assumptions against industry standards and similar projects in the City of Pontiac and Oakland County and 
throughout the larger MSF portfolio.  In addition, staff evaluated the Applicant’s TBP tax revenue 
projection assumptions.  A variety of sources were used to conduct this evaluation, including data from the 
Developer, MEDC’s in-house database with detailed underwriting metrics for similar projects reviewed, 
and various industry and market sources. Additional clarifying information was provided by the Developer 
through correspondence, conversations, and written materials.  
 
The underwriting analysis was guided by the MSF approved TBP Guidelines which include the following 
assessment criteria: 

 
1. Evaluation of specific underwriting criteria, including at a minimum the following: 

• Assessment of how much traditional debt the project should be able to support/attract. 
• Developer and consultant fees limited to 4% of the total development cost of the project.  
• Reasonableness assessment of any related-party costs and expenses. 
• Minimum Owner Equity Investment: 20% of Total Development Costs (net of developer and 

consulting fees). Deferred fees will not be counted in the calculation. 
• Minimum Debt Service Coverage Ratio: 1.20:1.00, calculated based on all scheduled debt 

service requirements following stabilization and conversion to permanent financing. 
• Returns in relation to the land use mix, location, size and complexity of the project and the risk 

involved.  Unleveraged IRR and yield on cost will be evaluated if financing is preliminary. If 
financing term sheets are provided, leveraged IRR and cash on cash return will be evaluated. 
Average annual return metrics will be for the first three years following project stabilization.   

2. Reasonableness assessment of the proposed rental structure and assumptions. 
3. Reasonableness assessment of the proposed operating expenses. 
4. Reasonableness assessment of the proposed development costs. 
5. Process conducted to analyze and determine the project’s economic viability. 
 

Financial Justification and Need 
The Project is located in the heart of downtown Pontiac which has suffered from disinvestment and neglect 
for over half a century. The City is considered a historically disadvantaged community and an area of 
persistent property vacancy and economic challenges. The location of the Project in an untested market 
presents further challenges as there is no comparable commercial or residential space within the immediate 
vicinity to utilize when projecting rents for the planned spaces. Beyond market-based challenges, 
environmental conditions, existing building conditions, the high cost of construction, and cost of debt, this 
adaptive re-use and new construction development is challenging to finance or complete without incentive 
assistance, given projected returns even with the requested support. Furthermore, the Project will address a 
critical shortage of mixed-income housing that is pervasive throughout the region including increasing 
access to affordable housing in the City of Pontiac with the proposed 57 affordable units reserved at 80% 
of Oakland County AMI.  

75



Pontiac OZ 1 LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 7 of 16 
 

 

The successful construction of the Project will have a transformational impact, creating broader residential, 
business, entrepreneurial, and retail uses in the area surrounding the Project, bringing development and 
activity to a currently underutilized swath of land and set of buildings within the downtown, acting as a 
catalyst for greater revitalization of the community.  
 
Conclusions and Recommendations 
The Developer’s proposed Project is likely to be transformative to downtown Pontiac, bringing a density 
of new construction and renovated product that is expected to attract new employees and residents to the 
City. While the projected operating revenues associated with the Project are generally expected to meet or 
near rents currently achieved in existing Oakland County area developments, the Project rents appear to be 
insufficient to support the significant construction costs associated with the Project’s mix of uses, parking, 
public spaces, affordable housing efforts and infrastructure and public improvement costs. MEDC staff has 
found Developer assumptions to be reasonable based on information provided to date and the Project does 
not appear to be feasible without the requested incentive.  
 
The level of TBP assistance requested appears reasonable and appropriate to ensure the financial feasibility 
of the proposed Project. Even with the requested financial support. The projected leveraged Internal Rate 
of Return (IRR) is on average 6.2% and Return on Equity (ROE) and Cash on Cash return are 8.9%, both 
over a 20-year horizon with the requested financial support.  These returns would be considered below the 
market appropriate rates of return identified for a project of this size and complexity.  
 
The proposed Project is in preliminary stages of pre-development, with all Project components in the 
schematic or design phase. Given this, it is likely development costs will continue to evolve as the Project 
moves through the development phases. Staff recommends that a single post construction re-evaluation be 
conducted per Section 14a(8) of Act 381 to adjust for the actual construction costs. Following construction 
completion, the project will undergo a re-evaluation based on the certified construction costs which may 
require the incentive to be adjusted down (“true up”). The incentive award will be decreased if the actual 
construction costs are less than 90% of the amount estimated in the Act 381 Work Plan.  
  

76



Pontiac OZ 1 LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 8 of 16 
 

 

APPENDIX B – Organizational Charts 
 

 
 
 
  

77



Pontiac OZ 1 LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 9 of 16 
 

 

APPENDIX C – Project Maps and Renderings 
 

 
 

78



Pontiac OZ 1 LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 10 of 16 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

79



Pontiac OZ 1 LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 11 of 16 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  

80



Pontiac OZ 1 LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 12 of 16 
 

 

APPENDIX D – MSF Eligible Activities Summary 
 

In order to alleviate brownfield conditions and prepare the site for redevelopment, the County of Oakland, 
has duly approved a brownfield plan for these properties on October 24, 2024. and concurred with by the 
City of Pontiac, a Qualified Local Governmental Unit, on October 8, 2024.  The property has been 
determined to be deemed blighted by the City of Pontiac on June 10, 2024 and has been deemed functionally 
obsolete as verified by a Michigan Master Assessing Officer (MMAO) assessor on October 4, 2023. 
 
There are 53.9173 non-homestead mills available for capture, with State mills from school operating and 
SET millages equaling 24 mills (44.51%) and local millage equaling 29.9173 mills (55.49%).  Tax 
increment capture will begin in 2027 and is estimated to continue for 25 years. The state tax capture is 
recommended to be capped at $6,773,391, which is the amount of tax increment revenue anticipated to be 
generated in 25 years.  Total MSF eligible activities are estimated at $79,232,145. The tax capture ratio is 
impacted by the OPRA and NEZ tax abatements, and the blended ratio is shown below. The property tax 
reimbursement only represents a portion of the award needed to fully reimburse the developer for eligible 
activity costs. MSF eligible activities break down as follows:  
 
Tax Capture Summary: 

State tax capture  (42.62%) $ 6,773,391 
Local tax capture  (57.38%) $ 9,119,576 
TOTAL  $ 15,892,967 

 
Total TBP Revenue Breakdown  

Property Tax Capture $ 15,892,967 
Construction Period Sales and Use Tax 
Exemption 

 
1,413,185 

Construction Period Tax Capture 
 

3,454,522 
Income Tax Capture (post-construction)  34,899,353 
Withholding Tax Capture (post-
construction) 

 
10,341,893 

Sales and Use Tax  + 13,230,226 
ANTICIPATED TOTAL $ 79,232,145 

 
The project is not requesting EGLE Work Plan support for this project to assist with environmental eligible 
activities. 
 
Statutory Criteria  
It is the role of the Project Management staff (MEDC Staff) to review the information provided by the 
applicant for eligibility, completeness, and adherence to program guidelines, and to manage the MSF’s 
investment. Explanatory and background information is supplied in summary form to provide context for 
the request and is drawn exclusively from materials submitted by the applicant, and, as applicable, from 
other relevant third-party sources utilized by staff. 
 
As required under Act 381, the following statutory criteria is being considered by the MSF:  
 

A. The importance of the project to the community in which it is located: 
Pontiac has suffered from disinvestment and blight in its downtown for over a generation. This is 
due to a convergence of factors including the loss of automotive manufacturing jobs, the 

81



Pontiac OZ 1 LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 13 of 16 
 

 

reconfiguration of Woodward/Wide Track Avenue, population loss and corresponding reduction 
in property tax revenues, high unemployment, and underfunded municipal government. However, 
recent positive momentum has created exciting new opportunities for economic growth and 
investment in and around downtown Pontiac. The Project will provide much needed housing and 
commercial space to support the employees and other stakeholders within these organizations. 
Further, the prominent and highly visible location of the project will undoubtably generate 
additional interest in downtown Pontiac, creating a catalytic effect and additional investment. 
Leveraging the job creation and other economic impacts of the projects listed below will enhance 
the redevelopment of downtown Pontiac and will serve to catalyze continued downtown 
revitalization.  
 

B. If the project will act as a catalyst for additional revitalization of the community in which it 
is located: 
The Project will bring development and activity to a currently underutilized area within downtown 
Pontiac. The Project will greatly increase the density of the area, foster additional support for, and 
demand for services from existing surrounding businesses, catalyze demand for additional 
businesses and economic opportunity, and provide additional entertainment, shopping and dining 
destinations. The Project will create a dynamic mixed-use district which will support various types 
of use and activity throughout the day. The new commercial, residential, and retail space will add 
to this dynamic community as well as create new jobs and generate opportunities for people that 
live and work in the surrounding area. Finally, the Project will serve a variety of non-profit 
organizations and public/private partnerships, which will help fulfill important social and civic 
objectives which will contribute to a diverse revitalization of the area. 

 
C. The amount of local community and financial support for the project: 

The City of Pontiac is supporting the project with an Obsolete Property Rehabilitation Act 
(“OPRA”) tax abatement valued at $1,277,238 over 12 years, as well as the local portion of the 
property tax capture component of the Brownfield TIF valued at $9,119,576.  
 

D. The applicant's financial need for a community revitalization incentive: 
The TBP proposes that the Developer will invest over $105.6 million to develop the combined 
proposed TBP project. Based on the underwriting analysis, the full TBP request is required for the 
project to be financially feasible.  Staff considers a projected levered cash on cash return (over a 
20-year time horizon) of 15% or less to be acceptable for projects of this size, scope and complexity. 
Using the assumptions provided during the underwriting of the Project, it was determined that the 
Developer could achieve a projected levered Internal Rate of Return (IRR) on average of 6.2% and 
a Return on Equity (ROE) and Cash on Cash return of 8.9%, both over a 20-year time horizon, with 
the requested financial support.   
 

E. The extent of reuse of vacant buildings, reuse of historical buildings, and redevelopment of 
blighted property: 
The plan includes extensive rehabilitation of two existing vacant and blighted structures.  
 

F. Creation of jobs: 
In total, the three projects are planned to generate 356 post construction, full-time equivalent jobs 
at an average hourly wage of $34.57. 
 
 

82



Pontiac OZ 1 LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 14 of 16 
 

 

G. The level of private sector and other contributions, including, but not limited to, federal funds 
and federal tax credits: 
The Developer is providing equity that is required under the TBP Guidelines of 20%. It is 
anticipated that the developer’s equity contribution will be over 20.3% of the projected total 
development cost.  
 

H. Whether the project is financially and economically sound: 
A comprehensive underwriting and financial analysis was completed by MEDC staff to evaluate 
the reasonableness of project assumptions, the financial feasibility of the project, and structure of 
TBP assistance required to make the Project financially feasible under TBP guidelines. Staff 
consider the project to be financially and economically sound. 
 

I. Whether the project increases the density of the area: 
All components of the project contemplated in this TBP are proposed to be constructed on vacant 
or underutilized Brownfield sites, shifting them to a higher-density mixture of uses. The resulting 
developments are expected to spark economic activity in the city.  
 

J. Whether the project promotes mixed-use development and walkable communities: 
The project will enhance the area by renovating a significant amount of previously unused or 
underutilized property into a walkable community, which is an essential part of building the City 
of Pontiac’s population and economy. In conjunction with the already established urban framework 
within downtown Pontiac, the Project will create a new and integrated hub of activity where 
residents, tenants, and members of the community can enjoy natural resources, urban amenities, 
and unique space to live, work, and play all within downtown Pontiac. Central to the project will 
be an interconnected set of outdoor amenity space which will be utilized by residents and 
stakeholders of the Project as well as the community at large. 

 
K. Whether the project converts abandoned public buildings to private use: 

No public buildings will be converted to private use as a part of the TBP. 
 

L. Whether the project promotes sustainable development: 
The essence of the existing design is preservation, where possible, of existing structures and 
materials. The reuse of building materials involves saving a high percentage of embodied energy. 
Finding new uses for old buildings significantly reduces the energy consumption associated with 
demolishing a structure and building a new one to replace it. This is especially true as a large portion 
of a building’s carbon emissions comes from its materials, from fabrication and delivery to 
assembly. The Developer’s track record reflects its commitment to environmentally sustainable 
development practices that are economically sound and feasible. The Development will implement 
engineering controls to mitigate environmental contamination concerns, and the Developer is 
working with its engineering and construction teams to pursue solar and geothermal systems to 
power portions of the project. 
 

M. Whether the project involves the rehabilitation of a historic resource: 
This project does not involve the rehabilitation of a historic resource. 
 

N. Whether the project addresses area-wide redevelopment: 
The Project is situated in the heart of downtown Pontiac, at the intersection of Woodward Avenue 
and M-59. This area has been approved by the Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT) 
for a roadway reconfiguration (a “road diet”) to provide easier and more direct access for vehicular 

83



Pontiac OZ 1 LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 15 of 16 
 

 

and pedestrian traffic. This enhanced circulation, in concert with the development efforts of the 
Project, will create a walkable urban district where residents, tenants, and members of the 
community can enjoy natural resources, urban amenities, and unique space to live, work, and play 
all within the heart of downtown Pontiac. The images below depict the existing condition and 
proposed design for this road reconfiguration proximate to the Project site. 
 

O. Whether the project addresses underserved markets of commerce: 
The City of Pontiac’s 2014 Master Plan notes the age of housing stock and the need for new 
attainable housing to attract new residents. The Exchange portion of this project represents an 
opportunity to solve this issue and promote the City’s downtown, aid in the success of the small 
business community, and present housing options for people working in Pontiac. In addition, the 
2014 Master Plan also notes the need to facilitate strategies that attract young workers. The 
redevelopment of the Tech and Arts facilitates incubation, new retail opportunities and maker 
spaces. The El Centro will serve as a hub for not-for-profit office space that will 
bolster Pontiac’s quality of life. 
 

P. The level and extent of environmental contamination: 
Demolition and construction activities will include excavation of any unsuitable soils, asbestos, 
and led paint remediation. In addition, rehabilitated and new structures will implement due care 
activities and engineering controls to alleviate exposure pathways to contamination, all as required 
by Michigan law. 

 
Q. If the rehabilitation of the historic resource will meet the federal Secretary of the Interior's 

standards for rehabilitation and guidelines for rehabilitating historic buildings (36 CFR 67): 
Not applicable 
 

R. Whether the project will compete with or affect existing Michigan businesses within the same 
industry: 
This TBP is not anticipated to compete with or adversely affect existing Michigan businesses.  
 

S. Any other additional criteria approved by the board that are specific to each individual 
project and are consistent with the findings and intent of this chapter: 
The Development will endeavor to create opportunities for local entrepreneurs to establish new 
businesses. The Development will bring service oriented commercial and retail establishments to 
serve the neighborhood. 
 

T. Describe how does the TBP includes provisions for affordable housing: 
Through an Affordable Housing Agreement between the Developer and the City of Pontiac the 
planned residential portion of the Project includes 20% of units reserved for households earning at 
or below 80% of Area Median Income (AMI). This will result in a total of 57 affordable units. The 
affordable units will be spread throughout the buildings and will be allocated across all unit types 
to ensure an equal distribution of affordability throughout the Project. 

  

84



Pontiac OZ 1 LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 16 of 16 
 

 

APPENDIX E – Income and Withholding Tax Capture Safe Harbor Revenue Tables 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

85



MICHIGAN STRATEGIC FUND 
 

RESOLUTION 2025-008 
 

APPROVAL OF A BROWNFIELD ACT 381 COMBINED TRANSFORMATIONAL 
BROWNFIELD PLAN  

OAKLAND COUNTY BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY  
THE EXCHANGE MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT TRANSFORMATIONAL 

BROWNFIELD PLAN 
 

 WHEREAS, the Michigan Economic Growth Authority (“MEGA”) has been established 
by 1995 PA 24, as amended (the “Act”); 
 
 WHEREAS, 2002 PA 727 amended 1996 PA 381, MCL 125.2651 et seq (“Act 381”), to 
empower local brownfield redevelopment authorities to request the MEGA Board to approve a 
brownfield project work plan and, thereby, capture taxes levied for school operating purposes for 
the project; 
 
 WHEREAS, Executive Order 2012-9 transferred all the authority, powers, duties, 
functions, responsibilities, records, personnel, property, unexpended balances of appropriations, 
allocations or other funds of the MEGA to the Michigan Strategic Fund (“MSF”); 
 
 WHEREAS, Public Act 46 of 2017 amended Act 381 to allow a governing body and the 
MSF to approve transformational brownfield plans (“TBP”) and was further amended by Public 
Act 135 of 2021 modifying criteria for transformational brownfield plans; 
 
 WHEREAS, The MSF Board adopted the Transformational Brownfield Plan Guidelines 
(the “TBP Guidelines”) by Resolution 2017-109 
 
 WHEREAS, the MSF Board amended the TBP Guidelines by Resolution 2017-152 on 
September 26, 2017, by Resolution 2019-062 on April 23, 2019, by Resolution 2022-055 on March 
22, 2022, by Resolution 2023-132 on July 25, 2023, and by Resolution 2023-194 on December 12, 
2023; 
 
 WHEREAS, captured school operating tax revenues, construction period tax capture 
revenues, sales and use tax exemption, income tax capture revenues, withholding tax capture 
revenues, sales and use tax capture revenues may be used under 1996 PA 381 as amended, for 
demolition, construction, restoration, alteration, renovation or improvement of buildings, or site 
improvements on eligible property, including  infrastructure improvements that directly benefit 
eligible property, or for lead, asbestos, or mold abatement, and for demolition and that are not 
response activities under the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act, 1994 PA 451; 
 
 WHEREAS, the Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (the “Authority”) 
has submitted a combined transformational brownfield plan (the “Plan”) for property located at 48 
West Huron, 41 Pine Street, 113 Wayne Street, 121 Wayne Street, 127 Wayne Street, , 141 Wayne 
Street, 64 Pine Street, 10 Warren Street, 104 Wayne Street, and 91 North Saginaw Street within the 
City of Pontiac, known as The Exchange Mixed-Use Development Transformational Brownfield 
Plan (the “Project”); 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Pontiac is a “qualified local governmental unit” and is eligible to 
provide for a) demolition; b) lead, asbestos, or mold abatement; c) public infrastructure 

86



improvements; d) site preparation; e) brownfield and work plan preparation; f) brownfield and work 
plan implementation and g) interest as provided under 2007 PA 204;  
 
 WHEREAS, the Authority and Pontiac OZ 1 LLC (the “Developer”) are requesting MSF 
approval of the following actions: 
 

1) capture of $15,892,967 in local and school property tax capture revenues, with state tax 
capture limited to $6,773,391;  

2) a sales and use tax exemption of up to $1,413,185 during the construction period of the 
Project;  

3) capture up to $3,454,522 in construction period tax capture revenues; and 
4) capture up to $58,471,472 in post-construction income tax capture revenues, post-

construction withholding tax capture revenues, and post-construction sales and use tax 
capture.  

 
(the aforementioned, collectively, the “Transformational Brownfield Plan Designation”); 

 
WHEREAS, the safe harbor calculation for income and withholding tax capture revenues 

may be elected for an individual project site prior to the first distribution of income tax or 
withholding tax revenues, but once disbursement of income and withholding tax capture revenues 
commences, the Developer shall use the safe harbor calculation for that project site until 
disbursement is complete;  

 
WHEREAS, the factors that will be used to calculate the safe harbor amounts for income 

tax capture and withholding tax capture, if elected by the developer, are included in Appendix A;  
 
WHEREAS, capture of up to 100% of income tax capture revenues may occur subject to 

a written binding affordable housing agreement between the local governmental unit and the 
Developer;  

 
WHEREAS, following construction completion and occupancy of the completed 

buildings, the project will undergo a re-evaluation based on the certified construction costs which 
may require the incentive to be adjusted down (“true up”). The incentive award will be decreased 
if the actual construction costs are less than 90 percent of the amount estimated in the Act 381 
Transformational Brownfield Plan; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Michigan Economic Development Corporation (“MEDC”) provides 
administrative services to the MSF, and has reviewed the application and recommends approval of 
the Transformational Brownfield Plan Designation by the MSF Board. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the MSF Board authorizes the 
Transformational Brownfield Plan Designation; and 

 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that no taxes levied for school operating purposes shall 

be used to reimburse interest costs related to the eligible activities for the Project; and 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the MSF Fund Manager is authorized to  negotiate all 

final terms and conditions and execute all documents necessary to effectuate the Transformational 
Brownfield Plan Designation in accordance with the terms set forth in this Resolution and 
consistent with the requirements of Act 381, as amended. 

 

87



 
 
 Ayes:  Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Wesley Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, John Groen 
   (on behalf of Director Corbin, designation attached), Michael B. Kapp (on 
   behalf of Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L. Messer,  
   Jr., Dan Meyering, Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier 
 
 Nays:  None  
 
 Recused: None  
 
Lansing, Michigan 
January 28, 2025 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

88



 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A - Income and Withholding Tax Capture Safe Harbor Revenue Tables  
 

 
 
 

89



 

LEO is an equal opportunity employer/program.   
Auxiliary aids, services and other reasonable accommodations are available upon request to individuals with disabilities. 

105 WEST ALLEGAN STREET, LANSING, MICHIGAN 48933  www.michigan.gov/leo  517-241-6712 

 

 

 

 

 

January 21, 2022 

 
 
 
Ms. Katelyn Wilcox 
Board Relations Liaison  
Michigan Strategic Fund 
300 N. Washington Square  
Lansing, Ml  48913 
 
Re: Michigan Strategic Fund Board Meeting Designees 
 
Dear Ms. Wilcox: 
 
Pursuant to MCLA 16.51, I hereby confirm my designation of John Groen and 
Jonathan Smith as the persons authorized and empowered to act in my stead as 
a member of the Michigan Strategic Fund Board for scheduled meetings or 
portions thereof that I am unable to attend. 
 
If you need anything additional, please contact Diane Burton at (517) 230-5454.  
Thank you. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 

Susan R. Corbin 
Director 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

 

GRETCHEN WHITMER 
GOVERNOR 

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY  
LANSING 

SUSAN CORBIN 
DIRECTOR 

90



91



 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 
Date:   January 28, 2025 
 
To:  Michigan Strategic Fund Board  
  
From:  Rachel Elsinga, Community Development Manager 
 Julius L. Edwards, Managing Director, Commercial Real Estate and Underwriting 
 Rob Garza, Director, Statutory Analysis 
  
Subject:   Request for Approval of a Transformational Brownfield Plan (TBP) 
  City of Lansing Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (BRA) and New Vision 

Lansing, LLC 
  New Vision Lansing Transformational Brownfield Plan   
  

Project Summary & Request 
New Vision Lansing, LLC (the “Developer”) and the City of Lansing Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 
is requesting approval of a TBP incentive package in the aggregate amount of $202,225,217 reimbursed 
over 30 years, and divided by revenue type as follows: 
 

a. Local and school property tax capture in the amount of $101,177,055, with state tax capture 
limited to $32,547,926. 

b. A maximum of $6,905,092 in construction period tax capture revenues; 
c. A maximum of $7,975,935 in construction period sales and use tax exemptions; and 
d. A maximum of $86,167,135 in income tax capture revenues and withholding tax capture 

revenues (post-construction)  
 

The proposed Transformational Brownfield Plan (the “Plan”) consists of five sites in the heart of downtown 
Lansing, increasing connectivity and economic vibrancy within the community’s urban core. The 
redevelopment of the property will occur on 5 sites and consists of the scope detailed below: 
 

• Tower on Grand: new construction of a 329,725 square foot, twenty six-story mixed-use tower, 
containing 287 residential units and commercial/retail space in both the tower and the Atrium 
Office Building. Additionally, the new construction of a two-story parking facility spanning Grand 
Avenue will support tenants and potential retail customers.  
 

• Washington Square: adaptive reuse of the 117,616 square foot, ten-story former office building into 
a mixed-use building containing 60 residential units and first floor retail space. A three-story 
parking deck will also be constructed in support of this project. 

 
• Capitol Tower: new construction of a 120,470 square foot, six-story, mixed-use building containing  

office space and 105 residential units. 
 

92



New Vision Lansing, LLC  
January 28, 2025 
Page 2 of 15 
 

 

• Old Town: new construction of a 65,670 square foot, seven-story, mixed-use building with two 
floors of integrated parking and five stories of residential space containing 90 units.  

 
• Ingham Building: adaptive reuse of a 17,028 square foot, five-story, mixed-use building, containing 

first floor retail commercial space and 25 residential units on the upper floors. 
 
A project map and project renderings are included in Appendix C 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The New Vision Lansing (NVL) TBP investment will be catalytic in the revitalization of the core of 
downtown Lansing. Post Covid, Lansing has more than 80,000 sq. ft. of vacant office space. It is estimated 
that more than three thousand people no longer work downtown and will likely not return.  
 
Downtown Lansing Inc., a certified Main Street Community, commissioned a housing study in 2023 that 
demonstrated a shortage of 1,143 units in the Downtown and 258 units in the Old Town district in the year 
2025. The NVL projects will provide 483 units in Downtown and 90 units in Old Town, making a 
significant contribution to closing this gap.  
 
The project is intentionally designed to meet the needs of a diverse spectrum of tenants, from young 
professionals just starting their first job, to those needing Missing Middle housing, to retirees looking to 
downsize by offering quality and affordability across a wide spectrum of incomes. A minimum of 150 of 
the project units will be programed for tenants with incomes at 80-120% AMI. Expanding housing for 
middle income households is a key component of Michigan’s Statewide Housing Plan and the Tri-County 
Regional Housing Assessment and Strategy.  
 
This development takes several approaches to community revitalization: adaptive re-use (Washington 
Square/Ingham Building); vertical infill (Turner Street); elimination of functional obsolescence (Capitol 

PROJECT SUMMARY 

Project Eligibility  
Facility and 
Functionally 

Obsolete 
Total Approximate Private Square Feet Revitalized 802,347 
Total Approximate Public Square Feet Revitalized 29,060 
Total Approximate Acres Activated 5.02 
Total Full-Time Equivalent Jobs Created 116 
Estimated # of Residential Units  567 
Estimated Residential Square Footage 463,586 
Estimated Commercial Square Footage 102,518 
Estimated Public Infrastructure Square Footage 24,940 
Current Taxable Value $5,807,547 

Projected Taxable Value at Completion $47,610,320 
Total Anticipated Capital Investment $316,737,458 
Transformational Brownfield Revenue Request $202,225,217 

93



New Vision Lansing, LLC  
January 28, 2025 
Page 3 of 15 
 

 

Tower); and vertical residential density (Tower on Grand). Additionally, the projects will connect 
Downtown, Old Town and the Museum District through expanded and improved pedestrian access and 
gathering places. They will give new life to underutilized parts of the Downtown/Old-Town corridor within 
the Principal Shopping District. All projects are easily accessed from the center of downtown by walking 
or biking and the Lansing River Trail serves as a recreational amenity and connector. Reprogramming the 
public use of the west bank along the Grand River adjacent to the Tower on Grand will provide a new 
pedestrian bridge to the east bank of the river, creating immediate access to the Museum District, Stadium 
District, and retail on Michigan Avenue. 
 
Following construction completion and occupancy of the completed buildings, the Project will undergo a 
re-evaluation based on the certified construction costs which may require the incentive to be adjusted down 
(“true up”). The incentive award will be decreased if the actual construction costs are less than 90 percent 
of the amount estimated in the Act 381 Work Plan. The associated MSF Board resolution includes the 
authorization for this modification per Section 14a(8) of Act 381. 
 
Statutory and Policy Considerations 
Act 381 of 1996 (the “Act”), as amended, authorizes the MSF to approve Transformational Brownfield 
Plans that include state and local property tax capture in conjunction with the Local Unit of Government, 
sales and use tax exemptions, construction period tax capture revenues, income tax capture revenues, and 
withholding tax capture revenues for the purpose of supporting projects statewide. On July 25, 2017, the 
MSF Board approved the Transformational Brownfield Program Guidelines (“Guidelines”). The 
Guidelines have been amended by the MSF Board on September 26, 2017, April 23, 2019, March 22, 2022, 
July 25, 2023, and December 12, 2023, respectively. As required under the Act, all statutory criteria for the 
Project have been considered when making the recommendations in this memo. The Project meets the 
Guidelines and programmatic requirements, and a 3rd party underwriting analysis has been completed by 
Anderson Economic Group. A summary of the completed underwriting analysis is included in Appendix 
A. An MSF Eligible Activities Table, Transformational Brownfield Plan (“TBP”) Revenue Summary, and 
key statutory criteria are included in Appendix D. 
 
The Project qualifies as a TBP as defined under Act 381 as the capital investment exceeds the threshold 
based on the population of the city (which in this case is $75 million), and will have a transformational 
impact on local economic development and community revitalization based on the extent of brownfield 
redevelopment and growth in population, commercial activity, and employment that will result from the 
plan. The Project is a mixed-use development with planned integration of commercial, retail, office, and 
residential use. 
 
The request includes the use of up to 100% of income tax capture revenues, which is allowed under statute 
and Guidelines, subject to a written affordable housing agreement between the local governmental unit and 
the developer. The affordable housing agreement will be fully executed prior to consideration by the MSF 
Board.  
 
The request also includes a safe harbor calculation for income and withholding tax capture revenues. As a 
condition of recommended approval, the developer is electing Safe Harbor and cannot select using the 
traditional calculation for Income and Withholding Tax Capture revenues.  
 
 
 
Financial Highlights  
 

94



New Vision Lansing, LLC  
January 28, 2025 
Page 4 of 15 
 

 

• Construction costs range from $258 to $480 per square foot which is within the range of 
comparable projects 

• Average residential rental rates between $1.87 and $3.06 per square foot 
• Anticipated that up to 150 of the residential units will be affordable with rents targeted at 80-

120% of area median income (AMI) 
• Anticipated commercial rents are within the range of comparable projects of $8.00-$32.00 per 

square foot 
• Average debt service coverage ratio of 1.33 
• Anticipated equity contribution of 24% 
• Projected developer return of below 1% 

 
 
Demonstrated Needs 
An independent underwriting analysis was completed Anderson Economic Group, LLC (AEG) that 
determined the Project was feasible and the full approximately $221 million in TBP assistance is required 
after conducting a thorough analysis of the Project guided by the MSF approved TBP Guidelines which 
include the following assessment criteria: 
 

• Assessment of how much traditional debt the project should be able to support/attract. 
• Developer and consultant fees limited to 4% of the total development cost of the project.  
• Reasonableness assessment of any related-party costs and expenses. 
• Minimum Owner Equity Investment: 20% of Total Development Costs (net of developer and 

consulting fees). 
• Minimum Debt Service Coverage Ratio: 1.20:1.00, calculated based on all scheduled debt service 

requirements following stabilization and conversion to permanent financing. 
• Returns in relation to the land use mix, location, size and complexity of the project and the risk 

involved. Unleveraged IRR and yield on cost are to be evaluated if financing is preliminary. 
• Reasonableness assessment of the proposed rental structure and assumptions. 
• Reasonableness assessment of the proposed operating expenses. 
• Reasonableness assessment of the proposed development costs. 
• Process conducted to analyze and determine the project’s economic viability. 

 
 
Using the assumptions provided during the underwriting of the Project and market analysis, it was 
determined that the Developer could achieve a projected overall average return of under 1%. These returns 
would be considered below the market appropriate rate of return identified for a project of this size and 
complexity. The executive summary is included in Appendix A. 
 
Local Support   
The project includes the local portion of the property tax capture, valued at $68,645,428. 
 
Applicant Background / Qualifications 
 
New Vision Lansing / Gentilozzi Real Estate: Developer 
Gentilozzi Real Estate is a commercial real estate property brokerage, property management, leasing and 
development company which commits time and capital to the creation of developments that are an asset to 
the community. The organization is highly skilled at renovation, marketing, property management and 
leasing. The Gentilozzi family began their first development project in 1975. Since that time, Gentilozzi 

95



New Vision Lansing, LLC  
January 28, 2025 
Page 5 of 15 
 

 

Real Estate has developed over $150 million in commercial projects in downtown Lansing. Recognizing 
the need for a transformative move from predominantly commercial office space to bringing the vitality 
and excitement with residential development in downtown Lansing, New Vision Lansing was formed to 
target significant investment and create a strong downtown residential market. 
 
JFK Investments: Partner 
JFK Investments is a partner in New Vision Lansing with a long history of development and property 
management in southeast Michigan. JFK Investments hold over 20 commercial and mixed-use properties 
with a total value of over $300 million. 
 
Christman Company: Construction Manager 
Founded in 1894 by H.G. Christman in South Bend, Indiana, The Christman Company opened its Lansing, 
Michigan office in 1915 and was incorporated in the State of Michigan in 1927. Christman has annual 
revenues of more than $1 billion, with over $4 billion in construction currently underway with more than 
500 experienced full-time professionals, including a full complement of project managers, superintendents, 
planners, value analysts, LEED Accredited Professionals, estimators, architects, in-house 
mechanical/electrical coordinators, information specialists, engineers, and accountants. 
 
An Organizational Chart for New Vision Lansing, LLC is provided in Appendix B. The background review 
process was completed in accordance with the MSF Background Review Policy on November 7, 2024.   

 
Recommendation 
MEDC staff recommends approval of the following (the “Recommendation”): 
 
a) Approval of a TBP in the aggregate amount of $202,225,217 reimbursed over 30 years, which 

consists of the following revenue maximums: 
1) Local and state property tax capture in the amount of $101,177,055, with state tax capture limited 

to $32,547,926; 
2) A maximum of $6,905,092 in construction period tax capture revenues; 
3) A maximum of $7,975,935 in construction period sales and use tax exemptions; and 
4) A maximum of $86,167,135 in income tax capture revenues and withholding tax capture 

revenues (post-construction).  
b) Approval of the factors that will be used to calculate the safe harbor amounts for income tax capture 

and withholding tax capture. The factors will align with all parameters within the TBP Guidelines 
approved by the MSF on December 12, 2023. The developer is required to use the safe harbor amounts 
to determine that maximum allowed disbursement of income and withholding tax capture. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

96



New Vision Lansing, LLC  
January 28, 2025 
Page 6 of 15 
 

 

APPENDIX A – Underwriting Analysis Executive Summary 
 

 
Underwriting Analysis 
The Developer requested assistance under the Transformational Brownfield Plan (TBP) 
amendment to the Michigan Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act. Anderson Economic 
Group, LLC (AEG) was engaged by the Michigan Economic Development Corporation (MEDC), 
on behalf of the Michigan Strategic Fund (MSF), to conduct an independent third-party financial 
and underwriting review of the Project. 
 
The underwriting analysis was guided by the MSF approved TBP Guidelines which include the following 
assessment criteria: 
 

• Assessment of how much traditional debt the project should be able to support/attract. 
• Developer and consultant fees limited to 4% of the total development cost of the project.  
• Reasonableness assessment of any related-party costs and expenses. 
• Minimum Owner Equity Investment: 20% of Total Development Costs (net of developer and 

consulting fees). 
• Minimum Debt Service Coverage Ratio: 1.20:1.00, calculated based on all scheduled debt service 

requirements following stabilization and conversion to permanent financing. 
• Returns in relation to the land use mix, location, size and complexity of the project and the risk 

involved. Unleveraged IRR and yield on cost are to be evaluated if financing is preliminary. 
• Reasonableness assessment of the proposed rental structure and assumptions. 
• Reasonableness assessment of the proposed operating expenses. 
• Reasonableness assessment of the proposed development costs. 
• Process conducted to analyze and determine the project’s economic viability. 

 
The Project with the full requested TBP continues to achieve returns below 1% which is below the market-
appropriate, risk-adjusted benchmark hurdle rates of return identified for the Project. 
 
In addition to the above, AEG was charged with reviewing the reasonable of the Developer projected TBP 
revenue streams. AEG determined that each of the projected TBP revenue streams were reasonable with 
the exception of the “Income Tax Capture”. The Developer projected “Income Tax Capture” to be 
approximately $73.5 million versus $66.6 million. The primary variable driving the difference the project 
captures is the development team used a 3% inflationary factor while AEG used a more conservative 2% 
inflationary factor. MEDC staff is comfortable with difference and the Developer’s estimate. If “Safe 
Harbor” was to be elected “Income Tax Capture” would be limited to approximately $66.2 million which 
is below the AEG projection. Furthermore, historic personal wage growth within the Lansing/East Lansing 
MSA was 2.6% between 2001-2019 according to the US Bureau of Economic Analysis, which above the 
2% projected by AEG. Staff believes these two factors reasonably mitigates the risk to the State of 
Michigan. 
 
The Project Components are in the final of stages of design, but costs have not been finalized.  The review 
by AEG determined the estimated costs Project costs to be reasonable but are likely to adjust as the Project 
moves to construction. The Developer’s assumed hard construction costs appear to be within the range of 

97



New Vision Lansing, LLC  
January 28, 2025 
Page 7 of 15 
 

 

comparable projects within the Lansing market identified by AEG. The Developer anticipates financing the 
Project with a combination of conventional debt, state and federal grant resource, cash equity, deferred 
developer fees, and TBP revenues. Overall, it appears that the Development Team is maximizing debt 
financing for the Project. Uncertainty exists regarding the overall financing of the Project, including the 
availability of MSHDA funding.  
 
Therefore, staff recommends that the TBP assistance structure and redevelopment agreement require a 
single post construction “true up” to right-size public TBP assistance at the time construction costs are 
verified per Section 14a(8) of Act 381 to adjust for the actual construction costs. The Reimbursement 
Agreement for this project will further detail the post construction cost certification and conditions that 
would require specific modifications.  

98



New Vision Lansing, LLC  
January 28, 2025 
Page 8 of 15 
 

 

APPENDIX B – Organizational Charts 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

99



New Vision Lansing, LLC  
January 28, 2025 
Page 9 of 15 
 

 

APPENDIX C – Project Map and Renderings 
 

 
 
 

Tower on Grand 
 

 

100



New Vision Lansing, LLC  
January 28, 2025 
Page 10 of 15 
 

 

Washington Square 
 

 
 

Capitol Tower 
 

 

101



New Vision Lansing, LLC  
January 28, 2025 
Page 11 of 15 
 

 

Old Town 
 

 
 

Ingham Building 
 

 

102



New Vision Lansing, LLC  
January 28, 2025 
Page 12 of 15 
 

 

APPENDIX D – MSF Eligible Activities Summary  
 
In order to alleviate brownfield conditions and prepare the site for redevelopment, the City of Lansing, a 
Qualified Local Governmental Unit, has duly approved a combined Transformational Brownfield Plan for 
this property on December 2, 2024.  The properties each qualify and have  been determined to be a 
facility as verified by the Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE) on 
November 1, 2024, and December 13, 2024, or deemed functionally obsolete as verified by a Michigan 
Master Assessing Officer (MMAO) assessor on April 3, 2024 or July 23, 2024. 
 
There are 71.3723 non-homestead mills available for capture, with State mills from school operating and 
SET millages equaling 23.4478 mills (32.85%) and local millage equaling 47.9245 mills (67.15%).  Tax 
increment capture will begin in 2026 and is estimated to continue for 30 years on each individual eligible 
property. The state tax capture is recommended to be capped at $101,238,724, which is the amount of tax 
increment revenue anticipated to be generated in 30 years on each individual eligible property. Total MSF 
eligible activities are estimated at $202,085,014. The tax capture ratio is impacted by the contribution to 
the Local Brownfield Revolving Fund and Administration and the blended ratio is shown below. The 
property tax reimbursement only represents a portion of the award needed to fully reimburse for eligible 
activity costs. MSF eligible activities break down as follows:  
 
Tax Capture Summary: 

State tax capture  (32.17%) $     32,547,926 
Local tax capture  (67.83%) $ 68,629,129 
TOTAL  $ 101,177,055 
    

Total TBP Revenue Breakdown 
Property Tax Capture $ 101,177,055 
Construction Period Sales and Use Tax 
Exemption 

  
7,975,935 

Construction Period Tax Capture 
 

6,905,092 
Income Tax Capture (post-construction)  66,113,458 
Withholding Tax Capture (post-construction) + 20,053,677 
ANTICIPATED TOTAL $ 202,225,217 

 
Cost of MSF Eligible Activities    
Per Act 381 Section 2(o)(iv), any demolition, construction, restoration, alterations, renovation, or 
improvement of buildings or site improvements on eligible property, including infrastructure 
improvements that benefit eligible property are considered eligible activities for TBP’s. This project will 
have an estimated over $202,286,885 in hard costs which will be certified at project completion. 
 
Statutory Criteria  
It is the role of the Project Management staff (MEDC Staff) to review the information provided by the 
applicant for eligibility, completeness, and adherence to program guidelines, and to manage the MSF’s 
investment. Explanatory and background information is supplied in summary form to provide context for 
the request and is drawn exclusively from materials submitted by the applicant, and, as applicable, from 
other relevant third-party sources utilized by staff. 
 
 
 

103



New Vision Lansing, LLC  
January 28, 2025 
Page 13 of 15 
 

 

 
 
As required under Act 381, the following statutory criteria is being considered by the MSF:  
 

A. The importance of the project to the community in which it is located: 
New Vision Lansing is a critical start to transforming downtown Lansing from daytime office 
space to thriving and active residential living. These projects will serve as a catalyst for additional 
investments to bring people downtown to live, work and play. The NVL development moves 
downtown Lansing toward a community of residents, a break-away from investing in traditional 
commercial office base utilized by “dayworkers” that have largely left to work remote 
or periodically in downtown. Importantly, the New Vision Lansing project scale will have a 
transformative effect on how people view the city and its future. Residents, workers and visitors 
will see a change from a downtown struggling with vacancies and areas of blight, to a thriving, 
bustling community with social, cultural, and new investment opportunities.  
 

B. If the project will act as a catalyst for additional revitalization of the community in which it 
is located: 
The Project would create additional density through the additional 573 residential units, new 
retail, and commercial space. This density will have the effect of catalyzing new jobs, generating 
significant commercial activity, increasing the city’s population, and provide housing for 
different income levels.  
 

C. The amount of local community and financial support for the project: 
The City of Lansing is contributing to the Project with the local portion of the property tax 
capture valued at $70,516,119. 
 

D. The applicant's financial need for a community revitalization incentive: 
The TBP proposes that the Developer will invest over $317 million to develop the combined 
proposed TBP project. Based on the third-party underwriting analysis the full $221 million in 
TBP assistance is required.  With the full incentive and with rent revenues projecting significant 
premiums, the project unleveraged IRR is projected at between 6.0 and 7.4% based on the 
sensitivity analyses. The risk associated with bringing this level of investment to the area and the 
premium level of the revenue targeting creates a risk for a lower projected return. 
 

E. The extent of reuse of vacant buildings, reuse of historical buildings, and redevelopment of 
blighted property: 
The Washington Square and Ingham Building projects will reuse vacant or predominantly vacant 
building for conversion from office space to residential, particularly Missing Middle housing. 
 

F. Creation of jobs: 
The developer has identified the creation of 294 full-time equivalent jobs generated by the 
businesses anticipated to occupy the completed projects. The developer anticipates the jobs will 
have an average hourly wage of $36.49. 
 

G. The level of private sector and other contributions, including, but not limited to, federal 
funds and federal tax credits: 
It is anticipated that NVL will be able to attract private capital of between $252.3 million and 
$269 million in private capital between equity and debt financing. 
 

104



New Vision Lansing, LLC  
January 28, 2025 
Page 14 of 15 
 

 

H. Whether the project is financially and economically sound: 
The Project has been thoroughly analyzed and is believed to be financially and economically 
sound.  
 

I. Whether the project increases the density of the area: 
Washington Square and the Ingham Building are vacant and the Old Town site includes the 
redevelopment of vacant parking lot. The Capitol Tower will replace nine two story converted 
residences with a five-story building. The Tower on Grand will replace five one or two-story 
buildings with a 26-story tower.  

 
J. Whether the project promotes mixed-use development and walkable communities: 

All of the projects are mixed use and include residential units with commercial / retail uses in 
areas that naturally lend to walkability. The retail and/or restaurants for Washington Square, the 
Ingham Building, Old Town and Tower on Grand are on the ground floor, enhancing street level 
activity. In the case of the Tower on Grand and Capital Tower, occupants of the commercial 
office space are within walking distance to downtown amenities. 
 

K. Whether the project converts abandoned public buildings to private use: 
No public buildings will be converted to private use as a part of the TBP. 
 

L. Whether the project promotes sustainable development: 
Each building will utilize state of the art energy efficiency measures in the building envelope and 
mechanical systems. Construction materials will be sourced to encourage the use of products and 
materials that are recycled and / or provide for environmentally, economically, and socially 
preferable life-cycle impacts. Construction waste will be sorted for recycling. NVL is working 
with the City of Lansing to provide EV charging stations within the parking facilities. 
Common areas will include bike storage to encourage non-motorized transportation. The Grand 
River pedestrian bridge will provide direct access from downtown to the Museum District that 
currently is generally accessed only by vehicular traffic. 
 

M. Whether the project involves the rehabilitation of a historic resource: 
The Project is not qualifying as a historic resource.   
 

N. Whether the project addresses area-wide redevelopment: 
There is a shortage of housing regionwide, as identified in the Tri-County Housing Drives 
assessment that identified demand for up to 35,000 residential units over the next 20 years, with a 
significant portion in the 80% - 120% AMI target. Additional residential units in downtown are a 
key part of the meeting this crucial demand for housing in the region. Importantly, the NVL 
projects begin the transformation of the core downtown away from the traditional reliance on day 
worker traffic and commercial office property to a thriving downtown residential market that 
provides vitality and excitement, after business hours and on weekends. On an immediate 
regional basis, the development adds to the inventory of housing for businesses and institutions 
that need quality housing to attract talent. These projects are immediately walkable to Lansing 
Community College for instructional staff and administrators. The State of Michigan will be a 
large beneficiary as they seek talent that can now live next to where they work. The Accident 
Fund is a large business needing housing for talent attraction, along with other smaller businesses. 
 

O. Whether the project addresses underserved markets of commerce: 

105



New Vision Lansing, LLC  
January 28, 2025 
Page 15 of 15 
 

 

As identified in the Downtown Lansing, Inc. Comprehensive Market Analysis, the report 
identifies the need for 1,540 additional residential units in the Downtown and Old Town Districts. 
While the NVL projects will provide 573 additional residences, there is still an underserved 
market 
for downtown housing. The Washington Square and Ingham Building projects will reactivate 
street level retail in key locations in downtown Lansing. In addition, Old Town will include street 
level retail that will continue the excitement in the district.  
 

P. The level and extent of environmental contamination: 
All development will meet necessary and required due care obligations to prevent exposure to and 
exacerbation of pre-existing contamination. The proposed redevelopment of the property 
anticipates removal of impacted soils on the property and appropriate disposal to a licensed waste 
disposal facility. Additional due care activities are anticipated to include the installation of 
exposure barriers, including vapor mitigation and due care compliance activities. 
 

Q. If the rehabilitation of the historic resource will meet the federal Secretary of the Interior's 
standards for rehabilitation and guidelines for rehabilitating historic buildings 
(36 CFR 67): 
The Project is not qualifying as a historic resource.  
 

R. Whether the project will compete with or affect existing Michigan businesses within the 
same industry: 
This TBP is not anticipated to compete with or adversely affect existing Michigan businesses.  
 

S. Any other additional criteria approved by the board that are specific to each individual 
project and are consistent with the findings and intent of this chapter: 
None. 
 

T. Describe how the TBP includes provisions for affordable housing: 
The City of Lansing and the Developer will fully execute an affordable housing agreement prior 
to consideration of this Transformational Brownfield Plan by the MSF.    

 

106



MICHIGAN STRATEGIC FUND 
 

RESOLUTION 2025-009 
 

APPROVAL OF A BROWNFIELD ACT 381 COMBINED TRANSFORMATIONAL 
BROWNFIELD PLAN  

CITY OF LANSING BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY  
NEW VISION LANSING TRANSFORMATIONAL BROWNFIELD PLAN 

 
 WHEREAS, the Michigan Economic Growth Authority (“MEGA”) has been established by 1995 
PA 24, as amended (the “Act”); 
 
 WHEREAS, 2002 PA 727 amended 1996 PA 381, MCL 125.2651 et seq (“Act 381”), to empower 
local brownfield redevelopment authorities to request the MEGA Board to approve a brownfield project 
work plan and, thereby, capture taxes levied for school operating purposes for the project; 
 
 WHEREAS, Executive Order 2012-9 transferred all the authority, powers, duties, functions, 
responsibilities, records, personnel, property, unexpended balances of appropriations, allocations or other 
funds of the MEGA to the Michigan Strategic Fund (“MSF”); 
 
 WHEREAS, Public Act 46 of 2017 amended Act 381 to allow a governing body and the MSF to 
approve transformational brownfield plans (”TBP”) and was further amended by Public Act 135 of 2021 
modifying criteria for transformational brownfield plans; 
 
 WHEREAS, on July 17, 2017, the MSF Board adopted the Transformational Brownfield Plan 
Guidelines (the “TBP Guidelines”) by Resolution 2017-109; 
 
 WHEREAS, the MSF Board amended the TBP Guidelines by Resolution 2017-152 on September 
26, 2017, by Resolution 2019-062 on April 23, 2019, by Resolution 2022-055 on March 22, 2022, by 
Resolution 2023-132 on July 25, 2023, and by Resolution 2023-194 on December 12, 2023; 
 
 WHEREAS, captured school operating tax revenues, construction period tax capture revenues, 
sales and use tax exemption, income tax capture revenues, withholding tax capture revenues, and sales and 
use tax capture revenues may be used under 1996 PA 381 as amended, for demolition, construction, 
restoration, alteration, renovation or improvement of buildings, or site improvements on eligible property, 
including  infrastructure improvements that directly benefit eligible property, or for lead, asbestos, or mold 
abatement, and for demolition and that are not response activities under the Natural Resources and 
Environmental Protection Act, 1994 PA 451; 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Lansing Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (the “Authority”) has 
submitted a combined transformational brownfield plan (the “Plan”) for multiple properties located within 
the City of Lansing, known as The New Vision Lansing Transformational Brownfield Plan (the “Project”); 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Lansing is a “qualified local governmental unit” and is eligible to provide 
for a) demolition; b) lead, asbestos, or mold abatement; c) public infrastructure improvements; d) site 
preparation; e) brownfield and work plan preparation; f) brownfield and work plan implementation and g) 
interest as provided under 2007 PA 204;  
 
 WHEREAS, the Authority and New Vision Lansing (the “Developer”) are requesting MSF 
approval of the following actions: 
 

107



1) capture of $101,177,055 in local and school property tax capture revenues, with state tax capture 
limited to $32,547,926;  

2) a sales and use tax exemption of up to $7,975,935 during the construction period of the Project;  
3) capture up to $6,905,092 in construction period tax capture revenues; and 
4) capture up to $86,167,135 in post-construction income tax capture revenues and post-construction 

withholding tax capture revenues.  
 
(the aforementioned, collectively, the “Transformational Brownfield Plan Designation”); 

 
WHEREAS, the factors that will be used to calculate the safe harbor amounts for income tax 

capture and withholding tax capture, if elected by the Developer, are included in Appendix A;  
 
WHEREAS, the Developer is required to elect safe harbor for income tax capture and 

withholding tax capture revenues as a condition of Plan approval;  
 
WHEREAS, capture of up to 100% of income tax capture revenues may occur subject to a written 

binding affordable housing agreement between the local governmental unit and the Developer; and 
 
WHEREAS, following construction completion and occupancy of the completed buildings, the 

Project will undergo a re-evaluation based on the certified construction costs which may require the 
incentive to be adjusted down (“true up”). The incentive award will be decreased if the actual construction 
costs are less than 90 percent of the amount estimated in the Plan; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Michigan Economic Development Corporation (“MEDC”) provides 
administrative services to the MSF, and has reviewed the application and recommends approval of the 
Transformational Brownfield Plan Designation by the MSF Board. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the MSF Board authorizes the Transformational 
Brownfield Plan Designation; and 

 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that school operating tax revenues, construction period tax 

capture revenues, sales and use tax exemption, income tax capture revenues, withholding tax capture 
revenues, and sales and use tax capture revenues shall be used to reimburse interest costs related to the 
eligible activities for the Project; and 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the MSF Fund Manager is authorized to  negotiate all final terms 

and conditions and execute all documents necessary to effectuate the Transformational Brownfield Plan 
Designation in accordance with the terms set forth in this Resolution and consistent with the requirements 
of Act 381, as amended. 

 
 Ayes:  Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Wesley Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, John Groen  
   (on behalf of Director Corbin, designation attached), Michael B. Kapp (on  
   behalf of Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L. Messer, Jr.,  
   Dan Meyering, Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier 
 
 Nays:  None  
 
 Recused: None  
 
Lansing, Michigan 
January 28, 2025 

108



 
APPENDIX A - Income and Withholding Tax Capture Safe Harbor Revenue Tables  

 

 

109



 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 
Date:   January 28, 2025  
 
To:  Michigan Strategic Fund Board  
  
From:  Megan McGreal, Senior Community Development Manager 
  Julius L. Edwards, Managing Director, Real Estate Investment & Underwriting 
 Rachel Young, Senior Program Specialist 
 
Subject:   Request for Approval of a Michigan Community Revitalization Program (MCRP) 

Loan 
  Aria Warren Detroit, LLC and Related Entities – Aria Development 
  

Recommendation 
MEDC staff recommends approval of the following (the “Recommendation”): 
a) A MCRP performance-based Loan in the amount of up to $2,428,000 for Aria Warren Detroit, LLC 

on terms and conditions outlined in Exhibit A found in the resolution.   
b) Approval of funds in the amount of $2,428,000 to be transferred from the Investment Fund for the 

specific purpose of this project through MCL 125.2088h(3)(e) to the MCRP Program for the 
purpose of the program authorized under MCL 125.2088b(2)(c) as long as the program provides 
for repayment for breach of the written agreement or the failure to meet measurable outcomes. 

 
Financial Highlights 
The Aria Development seeks to rehabilitate and enhance a decades long vacant building on a neighborhood 
commercial corridor. The costs to rehabilitate this building and to bring critically needed density by 
building an additional story is high. At the same time, residential and commercial market rate rents within 
this area are still low. As such there’s a considerable gap in development costs. The city is supporting this 
project through Housing Tax Incremental Financing and Neighborhood Enterprise Zone and PA 210 
property tax abatements, valued at $4,693,499 and $1,212,373 respectively. The Detroit Economic Growth 
Corporation is providing a Supporting Equitable Economic Development (SEED) grant of $947,525 and a 
Revitalization and Placemaking subgrant of $2,240,000.  The project has also received an Invest Detroit 
Strategic Neighborhood Fund low interest loan in the amount of $3,500,000. Even after layering in a 
multitude of incentives, a gap remains on this project that is central to economic stabilization on this 
commercial corridor. Below is a list of financial aspects of this project. 
 

• Hard construction cost of $325.66 per square foot 
• Average debt service coverage ratio of above 1.30 to 1.00 
• Anticipated returns of 19% from operations 
• Anticipated developer fee of $600,000 with $90,000 being deferred to payment through cash flow 
• Anticipated average residential rent of $2.48 per square foot 
• Anticipated average commercial rent of $17 per square foot 

110



Aria Warren Detroit, LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 2 of 11 
 

 

• List any other grants or equity being contributed to the project – Revitalization and Placemaking 
sub-grant of $2,240,000, DEGC SEED grant $947,525, Strategic Neighborhood Fund cash flow 
dependent low interest loan of $3,500,000 

• The development team is contributing $200,000 of owner equity 
• The project deviates from the underwriting preferences related to the owner equity investment and 

the anticipated returns from operations. The owner is contributing less than 10% of the overall 
development cost. Staff is comfortable with this deviation due the developer being considered an 
“Emerging Developer” having completed only a single project on their own. Additionally, 
$3,500,000 in equity equivalent proceeds are being contributed to the project by Invest Detroit. It 
is anticipated that owner returns (estimated at 19%) will exceed underwriting preferences for the 
program which is limited to 12% from operations. Staff is comfortable with this deviation due to 
the emerging nature of the developer and the relative size of annual returns which is anticipated to 
not exceed $150,000 in any single year. 
 

From the materials received and reviewed, staff considers the project to be financially and economically 
sound. A financial summary including project sources and uses and financial terms for the MCRP Incentive 
is included in Appendix C. 
 
Project Summary & Request 
The project is anticipated to create 32 new residential units between 60-100% AMI and nearly 8,000 square 
feet of commercial space in a long-vacant building on one of the city’s priority Strategic Neighborhood 
Fund commercial corridors.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
On December 21, 2011, the MSF Board approved the Michigan Community Revitalization Program 
(MCRP) and on January 25, 2022, the MSF Board approved its restated program guidelines.  As required 
under the MCRP, all statutory criteria for the project have been considered when making the 
recommendations in this memo. The project meets the MCRP Guidelines and programmatic requirements 
and a financial review has been completed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PROJECT SUMMARY 

Project Eligibility (Facility/Historic/F.O./Blighted/Other)  Blighted 
Total Approximate Square Feet Revitalized 35,672 
Total Approximate Acres Activated .47 
Estimated # of Residential Units  32 
Estimated Commercial Square Footage 7,900 
Current Taxable Value $120,650 

Projected Taxable Value at Completion $1,484,590 
Total Anticipated Capital Investment $15,993,525 
MCRP Loan  $2,428,000 

111



Aria Warren Detroit, LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 3 of 11 
 

 

Applicant Background / Qualifications 
This development is led by Emery Matthews, who has experience as both a principal and fee developer. 
Recently, he completed The Murray, the historic renovation of a 110-year-old structure on Detroit’s 
southwest side. 
 
An Organizational Chart for Aria Warren Detroit, LLC is provided in Appendix A. The background review 
process was completed in accordance with the MSF Background Review Policy on October 22, 2024.   
 
 
 
  

112



Aria Warren Detroit, LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 4 of 11 
 

 

APPENDIX A – Organizational Chart   
 

 
 
  

113



Aria Warren Detroit, LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 5 of 11 
 

 

APPENDIX B – Project Map and Renderings 

 

 

114



Aria Warren Detroit, LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 6 of 11 
 

 

 
 
 
 
  

115



Aria Warren Detroit, LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 7 of 11 
 

 

APPENDIX C – Financial Terms  
 

Financing Summary 
The development team has secured approximately $10,088,000 in private financing to complete the project. 
This includes senior debt from LISC, subordinate debt from Invest Detroit, and New Market Tax Credit 
(NMTC) equity. Additionally, the team has secured a Supporting Equitable Economic Development 
(SEED) grant of $947,525. It anticipated that the MCRP loan will be contributed to the NMTC leveraged 
loan structure. The MCRP loan will be structured to accommodate the NMTC structure. 
 
Summary of Development Sources: 

LISC Loan $ 3,000,000 18.76% 
Invest Detroit Sub Debt $ 3,500,000 21.88% 
MCRP Loan $ 2,428,000 15.18% 
RAP Subgrant $ 2,240,000 14.01% 
DEGC SEED Grant $ 947,525 5.92% 
NMTC Equity $ 3,588,000 22.43% 
Deferred Developer Fee $ 90,000 0.56% 
Developer Equity $ 200,000 1.25% 
TOTAL $ 15,993,525 100.00% 

 
Summary of Development Uses: 

Acquisition $ 600,000 
Hard Construction Costs $ 11,616,889 
Eligible Soft Costs $ 545,200 
Other  $ 3,231,436 
TOTAL $ 15,993,525 

 
Loan Terms 
 
MSF Incentive: MCRP Performance Based Loan 
   
Borrower:    Aria Warren Detroit, LLC or a Related Entity   

Total Capital Investment: Currently estimated at $15,993,525 

MSF Eligible Investment: Currently estimated at $12,162,089 

Minimum Eligible Investment: Currently estimated at $12,140,000 

MSF Share: Up to the lesser of 20% of “Eligible Investment” or $2,428,000.  

Term: Up to 90 months 

Amortization: N/A 

Interest Rate:  1.0% per annum 

Repayment Terms: Currently anticipated to be interest only for up to 90 months, principal due 
at maturity. 

116



Aria Warren Detroit, LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 8 of 11 
 

 

Collateral: Security interest in the real estate consistent with the requirements of the 
New Market Tax Credit program.  

Guarantee: Anticipated to be the guarantees of the owners and any related trusts. 

MSF Fees: The MSF shall be paid a one-time fee equal to one percent of the MSF’s 
share of the loan, plus any third-party fees incurred by the MEDC in the 
closing of the loan. 

Reserves: It is anticipated that the project will have approximately $1.7 million in 
reserves and contingencies. 

 
Deferred Developer Fees: The developer and related-party fees equal to $90,000 will be deferred 

until such time that the project is producing cash flow in excess of that 
required for priority debt and other operating obligations.    

 
Funding: The MSF will fund up to $2,428,000 to be disbursed following closing of 

the financing and other performance criteria. 

Other Conditions: The MSF’s investment will be contingent upon the following: 
- Receipt of final construction documents, including a fixed price 

construction contract 
- Receipt of final development budget 
- Minimum owner equity investment $200,000 

 
  

117



Aria Warren Detroit, LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 9 of 11 
 

 

MCRP Programmatic Requirements 
 
MCRP Program and Guidelines 
On December 21, 2011, the MSF Board approved the Michigan Community Revitalization Program 
(MCRP) and on January 25, 2022, the MSF Board approved its restated program guidelines. The primary 
intended objective of the MCRP is to provide incentives to persons that make eligible investments on 
eligible property in Michigan. It is the role of the MEDC staff to review for eligibility, completeness, and 
adherence to the program, the information provided by the applicant and to manage the MSF’s investment. 
As required under the MCRP, all statutory criteria for the project have been considered.  The project meets 
the MCRP Guidelines and a financial review has been completed.  
 
As required under the MCRP, the following statutory criteria have been reviewed:  
 

A. The importance of the project to the community in which it is located: 
This project is located in the heart of the City of Detroit’s East Warren Commercial Corridor, a 
Strategic Neighborhood Fund investment area. The development site represents one of the largest 
vacant and abandoned commercial sites and is in the center of the commercial node in which the 
city has directed its investment, including the completion of an $8.2 million streetscape 
improvement.  
 

B. If the project will act as a catalyst for additional revitalization of the community in which it 
is located: 
This project adds catalytic density, bringing 32 new, affordable and workforce housing units onto 
the city’s priority commercial corridor. The commercial rehabilitation is strategically located 
adjacent to other city investments to bring forward a walkable E. Warren corridor, adjacent to one 
of the city’s strongest single family housing markets. 
 

C. The amount of local community and financial support for the project: 
The city is supporting this project through Housing Tax Incremental Financing and a PA 210, 
valued at $4,693,499 and $1,212,373 respectively. The Detroit Economic Growth Corporation is 
providing a Supporting Equitable Economic Development (SEED) grant of $947,525. The project 
has also received a Revitalization and Placemaking subgrant of $2,240,000 and an Invest Detroit 
Strategic Neighborhood Fund low interest loan in the amount of $3,500,000.  
 

D. The applicant's financial need for a community revitalization incentive: 
The Aria Development seeks to rehabilitate and enhance a decades long vacant building on a 
neighborhood commercial corridor. The costs to rehabilitate this building and to bring critically 
needed density by building an additional story is high. At the same time, residential and commercial 
market rate rents within this area are still low and cannot support the necessary traditional debt to 
complete the project. As such there’s a considerable gap in development costs. The development 
team has been able to secure grants and grant like resources of approximately $9.2 million to bridge 
that gap. The remaining gap would be filled with the proposed MCRP loan of $2,428,000. 
 

E. The extent of reuse of vacant buildings, reuse of historical buildings, and redevelopment of 
blighted property: 
This building has been vacant and blighted since the 1990’s. While not an officially designated 
historic property, the building represents an important development in the history of Detroit.  As 
the fourth location of the famed Arthur Murray Dance Studio, this mid-century modern gem 
represents a time when social dance was the social media of the day.  The design will preserve the 

118



Aria Warren Detroit, LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 10 of 11 
 

 

historic facade while adding modern elements that respect the property's history and neighborhood 
context. 
 

F. Creation of jobs: 
The project expects that commercial tenants will bring 14 new full-time jobs.  The average hourly 
wage is estimated to be $19. 
 

G. The level of private sector and other contributions, including, but not limited to, federal funds 
and federal tax credits: 
New Market Tax Credits equity anticipated to be $3,588,000. 
 

H. Whether the project is financially and economically sound: 
It is anticipated that upon reaching stabilized occupancy the project will be able to achieve an 
average debt service coverage ratio of greater than 1.30 to 1.00. 
 
Additionally, MEDC staff reviewed an appraisal prepared by Judeh & Associates, dated, October 
8, 2024, that supports the proposed rental structure. 
 

I. Whether the project increases the density of the area: 
The project increases density by adding 32 new affordable and workforce housing units along the 
priority commercial corridor.  
 

J. Whether the project promotes mixed-use development and walkable communities: 
This is a mixed-use development strategically located to support a walkable corridor.  
 

K. Whether the project converts abandoned public buildings to private use: 
This was a long vacant building, but it was not publicly owned. 
 

L. Whether the project promotes sustainable development: 
The project will target LEED certification, which is a globally recognized symbol of sustainability 
achievement. The LEED framework provides a robust model for green building practices, ensuring 
that the Aria redevelopment contributes to environmental stewardship. 
 

M. Whether the project involves the rehabilitation of a historic resource: 
The project does not involve the rehabilitation of a historic resource.  
 

N. Whether the project addresses area-wide redevelopment: 
The city has focused on an area-wide redevelopment strategy along the segment of East Warren 
where this development is located. It includes an $8.2 million streetscape improvement and local 
contribution to equitable development along the concentrated commercial node. 
 

O. Whether the project addresses underserved markets of commerce: 
The E. Warren corridor was designed to support the surrounding neighborhood.  Population 
declines and disinvestment lead to a dearth of opportunities for local residents.  As one of the largest 
buildings in the corridor, the project will bring vitally needed residents, occupants and guests who 
form ready customers for the surrounding businesses. 
 
 
 

119



Aria Warren Detroit, LLC 
January 28, 2025 
Page 11 of 11 
 

 

P. The level and extent of environmental contamination: 
The project obtained Phase I and II environmental assessments.  The Phase II report indicated no 
exceedances of the Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE) Part 
201 Generic Residential Cleanup Criteria (GRCC). 
 

Q. If the rehabilitation of the historic resource will meet the federal Secretary of the Interior's 
standards for rehabilitation and guidelines for rehabilitating historic buildings (36 CFR 67): 
The project does not involve the rehabilitation of a historic resource.  
 

R. Whether the project will compete with or affect existing Michigan businesses within the same 
industry: 
This project will not compete with of affect existing Michigan businesses within the same industry. 
It hopes to support nearby small businesses by bringing new residential and commercial 
development to the area. 
 

S. Any other additional criteria approved by the board that are specific to each individual 
project and are consistent with the findings and intent of this chapter: 
Not applicable.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

120



MICHIGAN STRATEGIC FUND 
 

RESOLUTION 2025-010 
 

APPROVAL OF A MICHIGAN COMMUNITY REVITALIZATION PROGRAM 
 LOAN AWARD TO ARIA WARREN DETROIT, LLC 

 
 WHEREAS, the Michigan legislature amended the Michigan Strategic Fund Act, MCL 
125.2001 et. seq. (the “Act”), to add Chapter 8C (being MCL 125.2090 – MCL 125.2090d), to enable 
the Michigan Strategic Fund (“MSF”) to create and operate the Michigan Community Revitalization 
Program (“MCRP”) to provide incentives in the form of grants, loans and other economic assistance for 
redevelopment of communities in Michigan; 
 

WHEREAS, the Michigan Economic Development Corporation (“MEDC”) provides 
administrative services to the MSF for 21st Century Jobs Trust Fund programs and activities and for the 
MCRP; 
 
 WHEREAS, on December 21, 2011, by Resolution 2011-185, the MSF (i) created the MCRP 
and (ii) adopted the guidelines for the MCRP, as later amended on January 25, 2022 (the “Guidelines”); 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to SFCR 125.2090-1 (the “Delegation”), the MSF approved the MSF 
Fund Manager or the MSF President to negotiate the terms and conditions and execute all final 
documents necessary to effectuate awards and decisions approved under the MCRP, (the “Transaction 
Documents”); 
  
 WHEREAS, the Act and the Delegation require that MCRP awards over $1 million must be 
approved by the MSF Board; 
 

WHEREAS, as part of the 21st Century Jobs Trust Fund initiative, and pursuant to MCL 
125.2088h(1), the Jobs for Michigan investment fund was created as a permanent fund authorized by 
the state constitution (“Investment Fund”); 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to MCL 125.2088h(3)(e), the MSF Board shall direct the investment and 
reinvestment of the Investment Fund as authorized under Chapter 8A for incentives, including, but not 
limited to, for the purposes of creating incentives in this state for revitalizing Michigan communities; 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to MCL 125.2088b(2)(c), the MSF Board may allocate money for 
authorized programs to make expenditures or investments from the Investment Fund for programs or 
activities authorized pursuant to the 21st Century Jobs Trust Fund legislation as long as those programs 
or activities provide for repayment for breach of the written agreement or the failure to meet measurable 
outcomes; 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the MSF Act, specifically, MCL 125.2007(c), the MSF has, among 
other things, the power to make loans and investments; 
  

WHEREAS, Aria Warren, LLC (the “Company”) has requested a MCRP Performance-based  
Loan award of up to $2,428,000 (the “Award Request”), along with other general terms and conditions, 
which are outlined in the term sheet attached as Exhibit A (the “Term Sheet”);  

 
WHEREAS, the MEDC recommends that the MSF Board approve funding of $2,428,000 from 

the Investment Fund to fund the Award Request (the “Funding”); and 

121



 
 WHEREAS, the MEDC recommends that the MSF Board approve the Award Request and the 
Funding in accordance with the Term Sheet, subject to: (i) available funding; (ii) final due diligence 
performed to the satisfaction of the MEDC; and (iii) execution of the Transaction Documents within 
180 days of the date of this Resolution (the “Time Period”), or this Resolution shall have no effect; 
provided however, at the sole discretion of the MSF Fund Manager, the Time Period may be extended 
for up to an additional 180 days (collectively, the “MCRP Award Recommendation”). 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the MSF Board approves the MCRP 
Award Recommendation. 
 
 Ayes:  Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Wesley Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, John Groen (on 
   behalf of Director Corbin, designation attached), Michael B. Kapp (on behalf 
   of Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L. Messer, Jr., Dan 
   Meyering, Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier 
 
 Nays:  None  
 
 Recused: None  
 
Lansing, Michigan 
January 28, 2025 
 
  

122



EXHIBIT A 
 

“TERM SHEET” 
 

Loan Terms 
 
MSF Incentive: MCRP Performance Based Loan 
   
Borrower:    Aria Warren Detroit, LLC or a Related Entity   

Total Capital Investment: Currently estimated at $15,993,525 

MSF Eligible Investment: Currently estimated at $12,162,089 

Minimum Eligible Investment: Currently estimated at $12,140,000 

MSF Share: Up to the lesser of 20% of “Eligible Investment” or $2,428,000.  

Term: Up to 90 months 

Amortization: N/A 

Interest Rate:  1.0% per annum 

Repayment Terms: Currently anticipated to be interest only for up to 90 months, principal 
due at maturity. 

Collateral: Security interest in the real estate consistent with the requirements of 
the New Market Tax Credit program.  

Guarantee: Anticipated to be the guarantees of the owners and any related trusts. 

MSF Fees: The MSF shall be paid a one-time fee equal to one percent of the MSF’s 
share of the loan, plus any third-party fees incurred by the MEDC in 
the closing of the loan. 

Funding: The MSF will fund up to $2,428,000 to be disbursed following closing 
of the financing and other performance criteria. 

Other Conditions: The MSF’s investment will be contingent upon the following: 
- Receipt of final construction documents, including a fixed price 

construction contract 
- Receipt of final development budget 
- Minimum owner equity investment $200,000 

 
 
 

123



 

LEO is an equal opportunity employer/program.   
Auxiliary aids, services and other reasonable accommodations are available upon request to individuals with disabilities. 

105 WEST ALLEGAN STREET, LANSING, MICHIGAN 48933  www.michigan.gov/leo  517-241-6712 

 

 

 

 

 

January 21, 2022 

 
 
 
Ms. Katelyn Wilcox 
Board Relations Liaison  
Michigan Strategic Fund 
300 N. Washington Square  
Lansing, Ml  48913 
 
Re: Michigan Strategic Fund Board Meeting Designees 
 
Dear Ms. Wilcox: 
 
Pursuant to MCLA 16.51, I hereby confirm my designation of John Groen and 
Jonathan Smith as the persons authorized and empowered to act in my stead as 
a member of the Michigan Strategic Fund Board for scheduled meetings or 
portions thereof that I am unable to attend. 
 
If you need anything additional, please contact Diane Burton at (517) 230-5454.  
Thank you. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 

Susan R. Corbin 
Director 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

 

GRETCHEN WHITMER 
GOVERNOR 

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY  
LANSING 

SUSAN CORBIN 
DIRECTOR 

124



125



 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
Date: January 28, 2025 

To: Michigan Strategic Fund (“MSF”) Board Members 

From:  Paul Krepps, Senior Foreign Direct Investment Consultant 
  Brittney Mizer, Senior Business Development Project Manager 
 
Subject:   Grant Request 
  Michigan Business Development Program (“MBDP”) 
  Pulse Primary Care Holdings LLC (“Company” or “Applicant”) 
 
 

Request Summary 
• This is a request from the Applicant for a $3,450,000 MBDP Grant, as outlined in the attached 

Term Sheet (“MBDP Request”). 
• This project involves the creation of at least 579 Qualified New Jobs and a capital investment of at 

least $10,500,000 in the City of Livonia, Wayne County. 

Applicant History  
Founded in Michigan in 2024, the Company provides primary care medical services to patients throughout 
the United States. The Company’s leadership team has a proven track record in growing physician platforms 
and consumer health models, having overseen transactions worth over $1 billion. The Company leverages 
Care Managers and technology to provide concierge like medicine for all patients, not just affluent people. 
The Company has begun to acquire primary care providers to add to the existing five locations and expects 
to have 22 locations within a year and over 50 locations within two years. Currently, the Company 
employees 37 Michigan residents in Dearborn, Battle Creek, Livonia and Lenox. 
  
The background review process was completed in accordance with the MSF Background Review Policy 
on December 5, 2024, and the project may proceed for MSF consideration.  
 
Project Description   
The Company is seeking to establish a headquarters location. The Company will need a large team of 
administrative, accounting, Care Coordinators and Care Manager employees (approximately one Care 
manager per 300 Medicare patients). This facility will house these employees and be the technology hub 
and training center for continuous improvement of the Company’s Care Managers.  
 
The Company’s goals include developing new technologies that improve lives and building a workforce 
trained to address current healthcare staffing shortages at all levels. With advancements in Artificial 
Intelligence (AI), the Company aims to improve patient care by providing round-the-clock monitoring and 
management, which also serves to lower medical costs by avoiding costly hospital admissions by 
discovering and treating conditions sooner, whether it’s at home or in the clinic. The Company will also 
create employment opportunities and career advancement for individuals enrolled in skill development 
certificate programs, associate degrees at community colleges and advanced degrees. 
 
The Company is considering the City of Livonia for the project and anticipates the project will result in 
capital investment of at least $10,500,000, including purchase of the headquarters building. The project will 
also result in the creation of at least 579 new jobs with starting wages ranging from $24 per hour up to $55 
per hour, plus benefits. All jobs have starting wages above the Regional Median Wage of $23.73 per hour. 

126



 

 

 
Demonstrated Need 
The Company has providers in four states; Michigan, Massachusetts, Kansas and Texas, and expects to 
have locations in at least 10 states within the next three years. The Company’s preference is to locate the 
headquarters in Michigan, due to the presence of executives and a significant concentration of practices. 
However, there is extensive pressure from the Company’s investors to locate the headquarters facility in 
other states. Establishing a headquarters in Michigan, with the support of grant assistance, will ensure the 
Company’s ability to create high-paying jobs for Michiganders. The facility being considered in the City 
of Livonia needs over $1,000,000 in improvements before it is ready for the Company to be able to fully 
utilize the space.  
 
Request 
To secure the project, the Applicant is requesting a $3,450,000 MBDP performance-based grant. The grant 
will help offset the costs of locating the project in Michigan when compared to sites outside of Michigan 
and convince the investors that Michigan is the best option for a headquarters facility. This project aligns 
with the MEDC’s strategic focus area of supporting a project in the professional and corporate services 
industry. The proposed project will impact the local region with immediate job growth and long-term career 
opportunities, as well as lower the cost of health care for Michiganders by providing personalized services 
that reduce dependence on urgent care and emergency room services. This facility will result in the creation 
of at least 579 new jobs and at least $10,500,000 in capital investment in the City of Livonia, Wayne 
County.  
 
Recommendation 
MEDC Staff recommends approval of the MBDP Request, as outlined in the attached resolution. 
 

127



MICHIGAN STRATEGIC FUND 
 

RESOLUTION 2025-011 
 

APPROVAL OF A MICHIGAN BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM GRANT TO  
PULSE PRIMARY CARE HOLDINGS LLC 

 
 WHEREAS, the Michigan legislature passed legislation establishing the 21st Century Jobs Trust 
Fund initiative that was signed into law; 
  
 WHEREAS, the Michigan Economic Development Corporation (the “MEDC”) provides 
administrative services to the Michigan Strategic Fund (the “MSF”) for 21st Century Jobs Trust Fund 
programs; 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to MCL 125.2088r, the MSF shall create and operate the Michigan Business 
Development Program (the “MBDP”) to provide grants, loans and other economic assistance to qualified 
businesses that make qualified investments or provide qualified new jobs in Michigan; 
 
 WHEREAS, on December 21, 2011, by Resolution 2011-184, the MSF Board (i) created the 
MBDP, and (ii) adopted the guidelines for the MBDP, as later amended on December 8, 2020 by Resolution 
2020-146 (the “Guidelines”); 
  

WHEREAS, pursuant to SFCR 125.2088r-1 (the “Delegation”), the MSF Board approved the MSF 
Fund Manager or the MSF President to negotiate the terms and conditions and execute all final documents 
necessary to effectuate awards and decisions approved under the MBDP in accordance with the Guidelines 
(the “Transaction Documents”); 
 
 WHEREAS, the MSF Act, MCL 125.2001 et seq. and the Delegation require that MBDP awards 
over $1 million must be approved by the MSF Board; 
 

WHEREAS, Pulse Primary Care Holdings LLC (the “Company”) has requested a performance 
based MBDP grant of up to $3,450,000 (the “Request”), along with other general terms and conditions 
which are outlined in the term sheet attached (the “Term Sheet”) to establish a headquarters location to 
house administrative employees, accounting employees, Care Coordinators and Care Managers, and be a 
technology hub and training center in the City of Livonia (the “Project”);  
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Guidelines, the Company is a Qualified Business and the Project is 
eligible as an Standard MBDP because the Company committed to the creation of at least 50 Qualified 
New Jobs; 
 

WHEREAS, the MEDC has completed the background check in accordance with the MSF policy, 
and the Project may proceed for MSF consideration; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the MEDC recommends that the MSF Board approve the  Request in accordance with 
the Term Sheet, subject to: (i) available funding; (ii) final due diligence performed to the satisfaction of the 
MEDC; and (iii) execution of the Transaction Documents, within 120 days of the date of this Resolution 
(“Time Period”), or this Resolution shall have no effect; provided however, at the sole discretion of the 
MSF Fund Manager, the Time Period may be extended for up to an additional 60 days (collectively, the 
“MBDP Award Recommendation”). 
 

128



 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the MSF Board approves the MBDP Award 
Recommendation. 
 
 

Ayes:  Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Wesley Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, John Groen  
   (on behalf of Director Corbin, designation attached), Michael B. Kapp (on  
   behalf of Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L. Messer, Jr.,  
   Dan Meyering, Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier,   
   Cindy Warner  

 
Nays:  None  
   
Recused: None 

Lansing, Michigan  
January 28, 2025 
 

129



Michigan Business Development Program (“MBDP”) Grant Term Sheet 
 
This term sheet (the “Term Sheet”) sets forth key terms of a potential grant by the Michigan Strategic 
Fund (the “MSF”) in favor of Pulse Primary Care Holdings LLC (the “Company”).  The proposed terms and 
conditions herein will not be construed as binding upon either party until the mutual execution of a 
written grant agreement. Any obligations that may be deemed to arise under this Term Sheet are 
contingent on the approval of the MSF Board.  
 
PROJECT SUMMARY  
 
Scope of the Project: The Company intends to establish a headquarters location to house administrative 
employees, accounting employees, Care Coordinators and Care Managers, and be a technology hub and 
training center in the City of Livonia (the “Project Site”). The Company expects to ramp up over the course 
of the next five (5) years resulting in an expected creation of at least 579 new jobs at the Project Site and 
a projected investment of $10,500,000 by March 31, 2030, at the Project Site (collectively, the “Project”).  
 
Award Amount: A maximum grant of $3,450,000 (the “Award”), all or a portion of which is also referred 
to as the “Grant”). 
 
Term of the Agreement: Effective Date of the Grant Agreement through June 30, 2030, (the “Term”). 
 
Overall Jobs Commitment: Creation of a minimum of 579 Qualified New Jobs (the “Overall Jobs 
Minimum”) at the Project Site, above the Company and/or its affiliates or subsidiaries (including Pulse 
Management Group, LLC and Pulse Primary Care PLLC, collectively, the “Company Group”) Statewide Base 
of 37 employees (the “Overall Base”), on March 31, 2030, (the “Jobs Performance Deadline”) (collectively, 
the “Overall Jobs Commitment”). 
 

• A “Qualified New Job” or “QNJ” is defined as a new, full-time job created by the Company Group 
for the Project at the Project Site on or after August 2, 2024 (Date of Signed Offer Letter), and 
maintained continuously for the previous six (6) months, and performed for the Company Group 
by an individual who is either (i) a resident of the State of Michigan whose Michigan income taxes 
are withheld by the Company Group, or by an employee leasing company or professional 
employer organization on behalf of the qualified business; or (ii) a nonresident of the State of 
Michigan who is employed by the Company at the Project Site, provided that the Company 
certifies in writing at the time of the MSF disbursement that not less than 75 percent of the 
employees of that Company at the Project Site are residents of Michigan. In both cases, the QNJs 
must be in excess of the Overall Base. 

 
GRANT DISBURSEMENTS 
 
Grant funds will be disbursed for Eligible Expenses (defined below) and in accordance with the 
requirements set forth below. Requests for reimbursement will be verified by the MEDC Compliance Unit 
of the Legal and Compliance division of the MEDC prior to release of any funds. 

“Eligible Expenses” means the actual expenditure by the Company Group on or after August 2, 2024 (Date 
of Signed Offer Letter) for the Project at the Project Site of Hard Costs for construction for the Project, 
and infrastructure, machinery, equipment, tooling, computers, furniture, fixtures, lease payments, costs 
related to talent recruitment and job training including, but not limited to, employee recruitment 

130



expenses, development of customized training development plans, and instructor and training material 
costs. Provided, however, in no event shall any of the Eligible Expenses include: (i) costs, fees, or expenses 
for salaries, wages, benefits, meals and entertainment expenses, on-the-job training costs, debt 
payments, or administrative services for any of the Company or its employees, board members, officers, 
directors, or other administrative contractors, or (ii) any other expenses reimbursed or paid for under 
another grant or other public economic assistance. 

The Company may request disbursements on a reimbursement basis for 50 percent of Eligible Expenses, 
related to the Project and paid by the Company. The Company shall submit one or more reimbursement 
requests, at its discretion, but no more frequently than quarterly, no later than December 31, 2029, 
together with a certification of the Company’s compliance with the Grant Agreement. 
 
In the event that all Grant funds have been disbursed and the Overall Jobs Commitment has been 
achieved, the MSF Fund Manager may, at its discretion, terminate the Grant Agreement ahead of the 
Term. 
 
CLAWBACK PROVISIONS AND REPAYMENT EVENTS 
 
The Company may be required to repay all or a portion of the Grant disbursements made under the Award 
upon the occurrence of one or more of the following events (each resulting in a “Repayment Amount”), 
and repayment is subject to the highest applicable Repayment Amount if one or more of the same 
circumstances give rise to such events.  
 

• Failure to Meet Overall Jobs Commitment: The Company’s failure to satisfy the Overall Jobs 
Commitment on the Jobs Performance Deadline will result in Company’s obligation to repay to 
the MSF a proportionate amount of the Grant funds received by Company.  

• Default of Project Contracts: The fully executed written agreement will include repayment and 
remedy language for events of default in other contracts with the MSF, MEDC, or State of 
Michigan arising out of the Project. 

• Failure to Submit Commitment Documentation: If the Company fails to submit, when due, 
required documentation described in the Agreement to verify achievement of the Overall Jobs 
Commitment, it will be required to repay all of the Grant funds received by the Company. 

• Mass Relocation: If the Company transfers to another State more than 50% of the total number 
of jobs at the Project on or before the end of the Term, it will be required to repay all or a portion 
of Grant disbursements made under the Award.  

• Project Abandonment: If the Company abandons Eligible Expense activities or production at the 
Project at one or more of the Project Sites for a period of one hundred twenty (120) consecutive 
days after the Award is disbursed and on or before the end of the Term it will be required to repay 
the amount of Grant disbursements made under the Award.  

• Company Bankruptcy or Insolvency: If the Company files for bankruptcy or otherwise becomes 
insolvent on or before the end of the Term, with any such proceedings against the Company not 
being set aside within sixty (60) calendar days from the date of institution thereof and results in 
the material reduction to the Company’s operations at the Project, it will be required to repay 
100% of Grant disbursements made under the Award. The MSF would be entitled to foreclose on 
any security interest and, in the case of bankruptcy, submit a proof of claim in any such bankruptcy 
proceedings and seek recovery of the Award.  

131



• Material Misrepresentation: If the Company makes any material misrepresentation under the 
grant agreement, any required submissions thereunder, or any reimbursement request to the 
MSF on or before the end of the Term, it will be required to repay 100% of grant disbursements 
made under the Award.  

• Misuse of Funds: If the Company uses the Award for a prohibited purpose during the Term it will 
be required to repay 100% of grant disbursements made under the Award. 

 
ADDITIONAL STATE REQUIRED TERMS 
 

• Annual Progress Report: During the Term, the Company will be required to submit annual 
progress reports, which shall include the total number of Qualified New Jobs created at the 
Project, the average annual salary of both the Base Jobs and the new Qualified New Jobs, and the 
total investment into the Project. This information will be transmitted to the Legislature as 
required under Section 9 of the MSF Act, MCL 125.2009.  

• Access to Records & Audit Rights: During the Term and for a period of three years after the Term, 
and upon reasonable advance notice, the Company is required to permit the MSF, MEDC, the 
Office of the Auditor General, the Department of Technology, Management and Budget, and the 
MSF Chief Compliance Officer to visit the Company, and any other location where books and 
records of the Company are normally kept, to inspect the books and records, including financial 
records and all other information and data relevant to the terms of the grant, all at times and 
locations mutually agreed upon by the parties. 

• Other Provisions: The grant agreement will include standard representations, covenants, and 
other provisions required by the MSF, including without limitation, indemnification, non-
discrimination and unfair labor practices, termination of funding, any other requirements of the 
Business Development Program Guidelines, as approved by the MSF, and any requirements of the 
Michigan Strategic Fund Act.   

132



 

LEO is an equal opportunity employer/program.   
Auxiliary aids, services and other reasonable accommodations are available upon request to individuals with disabilities. 

105 WEST ALLEGAN STREET, LANSING, MICHIGAN 48933  www.michigan.gov/leo  517-241-6712 

 

 

 

 

 

January 21, 2022 

 
 
 
Ms. Katelyn Wilcox 
Board Relations Liaison  
Michigan Strategic Fund 
300 N. Washington Square  
Lansing, Ml  48913 
 
Re: Michigan Strategic Fund Board Meeting Designees 
 
Dear Ms. Wilcox: 
 
Pursuant to MCLA 16.51, I hereby confirm my designation of John Groen and 
Jonathan Smith as the persons authorized and empowered to act in my stead as 
a member of the Michigan Strategic Fund Board for scheduled meetings or 
portions thereof that I am unable to attend. 
 
If you need anything additional, please contact Diane Burton at (517) 230-5454.  
Thank you. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 

Susan R. Corbin 
Director 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

 

GRETCHEN WHITMER 
GOVERNOR 

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY  
LANSING 

SUSAN CORBIN 
DIRECTOR 

133



134



 

 

MEMORANDUM  

Date:   January 28, 2025 

To:  Michigan Strategic Fund Board  

From:  Paul O’Connell, Vice President Real Estate Development  
  
Subject:   Grayling Township Industrial Drive Improvement 
 

 
REQUEST 
The Michigan Economic Development Corporation (“MEDC”) requests that the Michigan Strategic 
Fund (“MSF”) Board 1) allocate $2,800,000 from the Business Attraction and Community 
Revitalization Programs and Activities budget line item to the Build Ready Site (“BRS”) Program and 
2) approve a BRS Program grant in the amount of $2,800,000 to the Crawford County Road 
Commission (the “CCRC”) to support the design, construction, and other related eligible activities 
under the BRS Program necessary to construct a new section of all-season roadway, approximately 
4.1 miles in length, to finish Industrial Drive in Grayling Township between Industrial Street in the City 
of Grayling and Four Mile Road in Grayling Township (the “Project”) in accordance with the term 
sheet attached to the proposed Resolution (the aforementioned, collectively, the “Request”).  
 
 
BACKGROUND 
Industrial Drive is a proposed roadway that has been in development for over 20 years. The CCRC 
has secured a right of way for roadway purposes from the State of Michigan to provide access to the 
surrounding properties and a route for future utilities. The Project will provide all-season roads to 
two commercial projects currently under development, Stoops Trucking and Saab, and will also 
provide access to an additional 400 acres of developable acreage already zoned industrial or 
commercial. 
 
The total cost of the Project is expected to be $8,000,000 and will be primarily funded with a Michigan 
Department of Transportation (“MDOT”) Transportation Economic Development Fund (“TEDF”) – 
Category A grant to CRCC.  The proposed BRS program grant, combined with an additional 
contribution from Stoops Trucking, represents the local contribution to the Project required by the 
TEDF grant guidelines.   
 

Proposed Sources:  
MDOT Support – TEDF A Grant $5,000,000 
Michigan Build Ready Site funding $2,800,000 

Stoops Freightliner-Western Star contribution $200,000 

 $8,000,000 
 
 
 

135



 

 

Uses: 
 Preliminary Engineering        $180,000 
 Right of Way                                   $50,000 
 Construction                      $7,020,000 
 Construction Engineering      $750,000 
 
RATIONALE 
In addition to supporting the two projects currently under development, this Project will activate 
additional acreage in a portion of the state, Crawford County, that is in need of moderately sized 
economic opportunities and additional economic diversification.   
 
The Saab, Inc. project is expected to result in $75 million in capital investment create at least 69 
high-paying jobs to the region – received support from the MSF Board for the Michigan Business 
Development Program grant of $3.5 million and a 15-year, 100% SESA Exemption in September 
2024.  Completion of Industrial Drive remains a key component of the project’s location in Michigan. 
 
The proposed road extension will also provide the current and future sites direct access to 4 Mile 
Road., This will allow truck traffic to avoid the downtown of the City of Grayling when accessing I-75 
and route traffic away from important natural resources like the Au Sable River. 
 
ELIGIBILITY 
CRCC as a municipality of the State of Michigan and is an eligible applicant under the BRS Program. 
The scope of the Project consists of infrastructure improvements and related costs which are all 
eligible activities for BRS Program funds.   
 
The application for this Project was reviewed using the Vetted Sites criteria outlined the BRS Program 
Guidelines.   
 
Appendix A addresses the Vetted Sites' programmatic considerations. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends approval of the Request. 

136



 

 

APPENDIX A 
 
Programmatic Criteria  
Per the Michigan Build Ready Sites program guidelines, the MSF review any opportunity within the 
program using the Vetted sites criteria before entering into a written agreement: 
 
The site, including the Saab site and the other land abutting the proposed road, has been reviewed 
and found to meet the program criteria as follows: 

The land is available for sale under a Memorandum of Understanding between Grayling 
Township and the Michigan Department of Natural Resources 
The land is mostly zoned either industrial or commercial 
We have reviewed the property boundary survey, title, environmental conditions, soil 
conditions, and various other due diligence reports for the Saab site and found them 
to be acceptable for development 
A site profile has been created for the site and is available. 
 

The Saab site is not listed in the real estate database due to a user being identified for the 
site.  The remaining parcels are not listed in the real estate database, but a listing will be 
created upon completion of the road. 
 
Project Description 
The CRCC is proposing the reconstruction of the existing pavement sections to bring them up to all 
season standards, and to construct a new roadway, from the Saab Inc. facility, south to 4 Mile Road. 
 
Statement of Need 
The new roadway to the south provides timely and efficient access to I-75 and reduces the potential 
negative impact of increasing truck traffic in the City of Grayling to the north. The new roadway also 
provides access to property being developed by Truck Country of Indiana (Stoops 
Freightliner/Western Star dealership), who has committed $200,000.00 to the project. Increasing 
commercial traffic and heavy truck traffic will benefit with the completion of the roadway for quick 
and easy access to I-75. 
 
The Saab Inc. site location on Industrial Drive in Grayling Township presents some challenges given 
the nature of the cargo and the desire to provide a path to I-75 and to Camp Grayling that does not 
go through Downtown Grayling, the Au Sable River, and the surrounding dense residential areas.  By 
building out the totality of Industrial Drive, south to 4 Mile Road, the Project will result in a safe 
pathway, through industrial properties, to a Class A road which leads to the exit 251 Interchange on 
I-75.  This interchange is well designed for truck exit and entry and is south of downtown Grayling, 
keeping all traffic south of town. 4 Mile Road also leads, to the west, directly to S Military Road, 
another Class A road, and leads directly to the entrance to Camp Grayling, which will occasionally 
be used for testing.   
 
While it is necessary for CRCC provide access to 4 Mile Road for logistics purposes, it is critical that 
the site has well developed access along Industrial Street to M-72 to the north.  This direct access to 

137



 

 

downtown Grayling provides access for employees and emergency services to reach the site in a 
timely fashion.   
 
Project Justification 
The Project is necessary to support the Saab Inc. project by providing an all-season roadway with 
access to the highway and mitigating heavy truck and commercial traffic through downtown 
Grayling. In addition, this new roadway will unlock an additional 600 acres of commercial and 
industrial zoned parcels that could lead to additional economic development opportunities for the 
region.  
 
This Project is critical for the Grayling market and Region 3.   This opportunity brings high paying jobs 
to an underserved market with a high-quality company in Phase 1 of the project which is likely to 
expand over time.  To secure this Project, many stakeholders have come together to create a unique 
deal structure and leverage the community assets in a way that is expected will open up additional 
opportunities for other users to consider this market. 
 
 
 

138



 
MICHIGAN STRATEGIC FUND 

RESOLUTION 2025-012 
 

MICHIGAN BUILD READY SITES PROGRAM  
GRANT AWARD TO CRAWFORD COUNTY ROAD COMMISSION 

 
WHEREAS, the Michigan Legislature enacted the Michigan Strategic Fund Act, MCL 

125.2001 et. seq., (the “Act”) to authorize the Michigan Strategic Fund (“MSF”) to provide 
incentives in the form of grants, loans, and other economic assistance for the development and 
improvement of Michigan’s economy; 

 
WHEREAS, the Michigan Economic Development Corporation (“MEDC”) provides 

administrative services to the MSF; 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 88b(2)(c) of the Act, MCL 125.2088b(2)(c), funds 

appropriated to the MSF for purposes of carrying out the Act shall be expended or invested for 
activities authorized under the Act as long as those activities provide for repayment for breach of 
the written agreement or the failure to meet measurable outcomes; 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 7(c) of the Act, MCL 125.2007(c), the MSF has the 

power to make grants; 
 
WHEREAS, on April 27, 2021, by Resolution 2024-064, the MSF Board created the 

Michigan Build Ready Sites Program to support business attraction and expansion projects through 
the development or enhancement of industrial sites in Michigan (the “Build Ready Program”) and 
adopted guidelines for administration of the Build Ready Sites Program (the “Build Ready 
Program Guidelines”); 

 
WHEREAS, on October 26, 2021, by Resolution 2021-135, the MSF Board approved 

amendments to the Build Ready Program Guidelines; 
 
WHEREAS, on September 24, 2024, by Resolution 2024-139, the MSF Board allocated 

$71,000,000 for Business and Community Development Programs and Activities (the “FY25 
BD/CD Funding Allocation”); 

 
WHEREAS, MEDC staff recommends that the MSF Board allocate $2,800,000 from the 

FY25BD/CD Funding Allocation to the Build Ready Program (the “Funding Allocation”); 
 
WHEREAS, MEDC Staff recommends that the MSF Board approve a grant of up to 

$2,800,000 to the Crawford County Road Commission in accordance with the term sheet attached 
as Exhibit A to this Resolution (the “Grant Award”); 

 
 WHEREAS, the MSF wishes to approve the Funding Allocation and the Grant Award. 

 

139



 
 

 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the MSF Board approves the Funding 
Allocation and the Grant Award; and 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the MSF Board authorizes the MSF Fund Manager 

to negotiate the final terms and conditions and execute all final documents necessary to effectuate 
the Grant Award, consistent with the terms of this Resolution 
 
 Ayes:  Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Wesley Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, John Groen 
   (on behalf of Director Corbin, designation attached), Michael B. Kapp (on  
   behalf of Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L. Messer, Jr., 
   Dan Meyering, Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier,  
   Cindy Warner 
  
 Nays:  None  
   
 Recused: None  
 
Lansing, Michigan 
January 28, 2025 

140



Michigan Build Ready Sites Program Grant 

Summary of Terms 

Awardee: Crawford County Road Commission (the “Applicant)  
 
MBRS Award Amount: Up to $2,800,000 to the Applicant for Eligible Activities (defined below) 
to construct a new section of all-season roadway, approximately 4.1 miles in length, to finish 
Industrial Drive in Grayling Township between Industrial Street in the City of Grayling and Four 
Mile Road in Grayling Township (the “Project”).  
 
Term of the Agreement: Effective Date through the earlier of: (i) 24 months of the effective date 
of the grant agreement; (ii) the grant manager’s approval of the Project Completion Milestone; or 
(iii) when the Parties agree in writing.  
 
Disbursement of Grant Funds: Grant funds will be disbursed based on the Applicant’s 
achievement of the following key milestones and, will be contingent on the funds provided by 
Michigan Department of Transportation in the amount of $5,000,000.   
 

• Key Milestone One: Not to exceed $300,000 
o Funds to be used exclusively for the following uses: 

 Engineering costs 
 Costs of acquisition of rights-of-way 
 Costs associated with the Construction of that portion of the roadway 

servicing the  Stoops Freightliner-Western Star site from the south (limited 
to $50,000, and additionally contingent upon  Stoops Freightliner-Western 
Star making a $200,000 contribution) 

 Other related costs associated with the Project as approved by the Grant 
Manager once Key Milestone Two has been approved; 

o Evidence of approval by the Michigan Department of Transportation of a TEDF-A 
grant in the amount of $5,000,000 for the project. 

o Disbursement request in the form determined by the MEDC; 
o Copies of currently executed written agreements between the Applicant and any 

contractor or entity engaged to perform the Eligible Activities for the Project; and  
 

• Key Milestone Two: Not to exceed $2,500,000 
o Funds to be used for all remaining costs associated with the Project 
o Disbursement request in the form determined by the MEDC; 
o Evidence of Final Site Plan Approval of the Saab, Inc. project by Grayling 

Township; 
o Copies of currently executed written agreements between the Applicant and any 

contractor or entity engaged to perform the Eligible Activities for the Project. 
 
 

• All Key Milestones: The Applicant shall submit one or more disbursement requests, but 
no more frequently than monthly. The actual disbursement amount must be based on 
projected Eligible Activities to be completed during the milestone period, and all such 
additional disbursement requests, in the aggregate, cannot exceed $2,800,000.  
Additionally, any such disbursement request must be submitted at least one month prior 
to expected expenditure of funds, and include:  

o Disbursement request in the form determined by the MEDC; 
o A separate spreadsheet (titled “Project Budget”) describing and itemizing the 

actual expenditure for Eligible Activities of grant disbursements received under the 
previous Key Milestone. The spreadsheet shall include the corresponding 

141



category of the budget, identify the name of actual vendor or recipient of each 
expenditure, and be accompanied by supporting documentation; 

o Copies, in one or more files in pdf format (entitled “Project Contracts”), of currently 
executed written agreements between the Applicant and any contractor or entity 
engaged to perform the Eligible Activities for the Project.  ; and 

o A separate narrative (entitled “Project Narrative”) describing, in detail to include 
timing of expected work completion and current and future funding needs, the 
Eligible Activities to be completed with the grant disbursement being requested. 

 
• Project Completion Milestone:  

o A final milestone certificate in the form determined by the MEDC; 
o A separate spreadsheet (titled “Final Project Budget”) describing and itemizing the 

actual expenditure of grant disbursements for all Eligible Activities completed 
during the Term. The spreadsheet shall include the corresponding reference 
category of the budget, identify the name of actual vendor or recipient of each 
expenditure, and be accompanied by supporting documentation; 

o Copies of, in one or more files in pdf format (entitled “Project Contracts”), all 
executed written agreements between the Applicant and any contractor entity 
engaged to perform the Eligible Activities.  If multiple files are sent, please label 
them with contractor name, budget line item, or other naming convention to 
uniquely identify each file; and 

o Demonstrated verification that 100 percent of the funds disbursed have been 
expended for Eligible Activities; and  

o Documentation satisfactory to the grant manager that the Project is complete. 
 
 
Eligible Activities: activities related to include, but are not limited to, the design and construction 
of a new section of all-season roadway, approximately 3.3 miles in length, to finish Industrial Drive 
in Grayling Township between Industrial Street in the City of Grayling and Four Mile Road in 
Grayling Township. Any demolition or construction; environmental remediation; architectural, 
engineering, surveying, similar professional fees, and other work required to commence 
construction on the roadway; and any activities outlined in the MBRS Guidelines, as amended, 
necessary to support the construction of the roadway. The Applicant and the MSF will develop a 
detailed budget for the Project that includes budget categories for the Eligible Activities.  
 
Clawback Provisions: The Applicant will be required to repay all or a portion of the grant 
disbursements made under the MBRS Award upon the occurrence of one or more of the following 
events (each resulting in a “Repayment Amount”), and repayment is subject to the highest 
applicable Repayment Amount if one or more of the same circumstances give rise to such events.    
All Repayment Amounts must be paid within 90 days of written notification by the MSF. Any 
Repayment Amount not paid within 90 days is subject to a penalty of 1% per month, prorated on 
a daily basis: 
 

• Project Abandonment: if the Applicant voluntarily abandons the project after the MBRS 
Award is disbursed and on or before the end of the Term it may be required to repay all 
or a portion of grant disbursements made under the MBRS Award.  

• Bankruptcy or Insolvency – If the Applicant files for bankruptcy or otherwise becomes 
insolvent on or before the end of the Term, with any such proceedings against the 
Applicant not being set aside within sixty (60) calendar days from the date of institution 
thereof and results in the material reduction to the Applicant’s operations for the Project, 
it may be required to repay 100% of grant disbursements made under the MBRS Award.  

• Material Misrepresentation. If the Applicant makes a material misrepresentation under 
the grant agreement, any required submissions thereunder, or any reimbursement request 

142



to the MSF on or before the end of the Term it will be required to repay 100% of grant 
disbursements made under the MBRS Award. 

• Misuse of Funds: if the Applicant uses the MBRS Award for a prohibited purpose during 
the Term it will be required to repay 100% of grant disbursements made under the MBRS 
Award. 

• Material Failure to Comply.  If the Applicant fails to materially comply with its obligations 
under the grant agreement, including the failure submit materials required under the (i) 
Key Milestones, (ii) annual progress reports, or (iii) annual compliance certificates under 
the grant agreement, it may be required to repay up to 100% of grant disbursements made 
under the MBRS Award. 
 

Additional State Required Terms: 
 

• Amendments – The Agreement may not be modified or amended except pursuant to a 
written instrument signed by the Grantee and the MSF Fund Manager. 

• Annual Compliance Certificate – During the Term, in addition to the Project Status 
Reports, the Applicant will be required to sign and submit an annual compliance certificate 
certifying that the Applicant is in compliance with the terms and conditions of the grant 
agreement.  

• Annual Progress Report – During the Term, the Applicant will be required to submit 
annual progress reports. This information will be transmitted by the MSF to the Legislature 
as required under Section 9 of the MSF Act, MCL 125.2009.  

• Access to Records & Audit Rights – During the Term, and for a period of three years 
after the expiration of the Term, and upon reasonable advance notice, the Applicant is 
required to permit the MSF, MEDC, the Office of the Auditor General, the Department of 
Technology, Management and Budget, and the MSF Chief Compliance Officer to visit the 
Applicant, and any other location where books and records of the Applicant are normally 
kept, to inspect the books and records, including financial records and all other information 
and data relevant to the terms of the grant, all at times and locations mutually agreed upon 
by the parties. 

 
 

143



 

LEO is an equal opportunity employer/program.   
Auxiliary aids, services and other reasonable accommodations are available upon request to individuals with disabilities. 

105 WEST ALLEGAN STREET, LANSING, MICHIGAN 48933  www.michigan.gov/leo  517-241-6712 

 

 

 

 

 

January 21, 2022 

 
 
 
Ms. Katelyn Wilcox 
Board Relations Liaison  
Michigan Strategic Fund 
300 N. Washington Square  
Lansing, Ml  48913 
 
Re: Michigan Strategic Fund Board Meeting Designees 
 
Dear Ms. Wilcox: 
 
Pursuant to MCLA 16.51, I hereby confirm my designation of John Groen and 
Jonathan Smith as the persons authorized and empowered to act in my stead as 
a member of the Michigan Strategic Fund Board for scheduled meetings or 
portions thereof that I am unable to attend. 
 
If you need anything additional, please contact Diane Burton at (517) 230-5454.  
Thank you. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 

Susan R. Corbin 
Director 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

 

GRETCHEN WHITMER 
GOVERNOR 

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY  
LANSING 

SUSAN CORBIN 
DIRECTOR 

144



145



 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
Date: January 28, 2025 

To: Michigan Strategic Fund (“MSF”) Board Members 

From: Sean Kammer, Business Development Project Manager 

Subject:   Incentive Request 
  Piston Automotive LLC (“Company” or “Applicant”) 
  Michigan Business Development Program (“MBDP”) Grant Request 
 
 

Request Summary 
This is a request from the Applicant for (collectively, the “Incentives Request”) 

• Approval of a $1,500,000 MBDP Grant, as outlined in the attached Term Sheet . 
• This project involves the creation of up to 144 Qualified New Jobs and a capital investment of up 

to $55,000,000 in the City of Detroit, Wayne County. 

Applicant History  
The applicant, a subsidiary of Piston Group LLC, was founded in 1996 as an automotive supplier. The 
Applicant, which is headquartered in Redford, Michigan supplies powertrain systems, front-end cooling 
systems, chassis systems, BEV and PHEV battery packs and interior systems for the automotive industry. 
The company was formed by former NBA and Detroit Piston star Vinnie Johnson to serve major auto 
makers and related OEM suppliers in the greater Detroit area. The Company’s parent is minority owned 
enterprise and is the largest African American owned automotive supplier in the US. Additionally, the 
Company’s parent is the 24th largest automotive OEM supplier in the US. The Company’s parent currently 
has 14 locations in 6 states and 5 locations in Mexico with employees totaling more than 11,000 individuals 
in the North America, 282 of them located at 2 facilities in Michigan. 
 
The background review process was completed in accordance with the MSF Background Review Policy 
on November 19, 2024, and the project may proceed for MSF consideration.  
 
The Applicant has received incentives from the MSF in the past. The Company was awarded $300,000 for 
the creation of 60 qualified new jobs but staff levels were impacted by supply chain problems associated 
with the COVID-19 pandemic. The Company was issued a cure period and forbearance and has cured the 
default. In March 2024, the MSF awarded the Company an MBDP grant valued at $8,500,000 and a SESA 
valued at $1,789,480 for a separate project creating 900 jobs and investing $85,186,000 in the City of 
Auburn Hills, Oakland County. The Company is presently in good standing. 
 
Project Description  
The Company was awarded a nine-year contract to manufacture hydrogen fuel cells for a major Original 
Equipment Manufacturer (OEM). To accomplish this, the Company is seeking to lease and renovate a 
200,000 square foot facility. The new facility will be part of the Company’s long-term strategy to secure 
future growth as the automotive industry expands into electric vehicle production.  
 
The Company is considering the City of Detroit for the project and anticipates that the project will result in 
capital investment of up to $55,000,000. The project will also result in the creation of up to 144 new jobs 
paying an average wage of $40.85 per hour plus benefits, which exceeds the Regional Median Wage of 
$23.73 per hour.  

146



 

 

 
Employees are provided wage increases every six months for the first two years and are offered full benefits 
that include paid holiday and vacation, medical and prescription plans, dental and vision, 401k match of 
3%, and tuition reimbursement for full-time employees earning high school diplomas, skills certificates, 
associate degrees and bachelor’s degrees.  
 
Demonstrated Need 
The Company is also considering placing this project in current facilities in Louisville, Kentucky or 
Wentzville, Missouri with available space. While determining where to locate the work necessary to fulfill 
the new contract, the Company considered these locations because of their proximity to other automotive 
facilities and available talent. With the company recently undertaking another large project at the former 
Palace of Auburn Hills, another expansion at the former state fairgrounds came with scrutiny from the 
company’s decision makers. The Company, founded and headquartered in Michigan, is considering the 
location in the City of Detroit because of its proximity to its customers, existing Michigan facilities, and a 
suitable workforce. Even though the Company would like to locate in Michigan, incentive assistance is 
necessary to offset competing offers. The new facility will be in addition to 3 locations in Michigan as well 
as those under consideration for expansion in Louisville and Wentzville. The Company has additional 
distribution facilities in Marion, Ohio, North Kansas City, Missouri and Toledo, Ohio. 
 
Request 
In order to secure the project, the Applicant is requesting a $1,500,000 MBDP performance-based grant. 
The incentive request will help address the cost disadvantage of locating the project in Michigan when 
compared to competing sites outside of Michigan. This project aligns with the MEDC’s strategic focus area 
of supporting a business in the target industry of mobility and builds on the state's work to position itself as 
the global leader in the future of mobility and vehicle electrification. The proposed project will also benefit 
the local region with immediate job growth with a large and expanding automotive supplier. This facility 
will result in the creation of up to 144 new jobs and up to $55,000,000 in capital investment in the City of 
Detroit, Wayne County.  
 
Recommendation 
MEDC Staff recommends approval of the Incentives Request, as outlined in the attached resolution. 
 

147



MICHIGAN STRATEGIC FUND 
 

RESOLUTION 2025-013 
 

APPROVAL OF A MICHIGAN BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM GRANT TO  
PISTON AUTOMOTIVE, LLC. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Michigan legislature passed legislation establishing the 21st Century Jobs Trust 
Fund initiative that was signed into law; 
  
 WHEREAS, the Michigan Economic Development Corporation (the “MEDC”) provides 
administrative services to the Michigan Strategic Fund (the “MSF”) for 21st Century Jobs Trust Fund 
programs; 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to MCL 125.2088r, the MSF shall create and operate the Michigan Business 
Development Program (the “MBDP”) to provide grants, loans and other economic assistance to qualified 
businesses that make qualified investments or provide qualified new jobs in Michigan; 
 
 WHEREAS, on December 21, 2011, by Resolution 2011-184, the MSF Board (i) created the 
MBDP, and (ii) adopted the guidelines for the MBDP, as later amended on December 8, 2020 by Resolution 
2020-146 (the “Guidelines”); 
  

WHEREAS, pursuant to SFCR 125.2088r-1 (the “Delegation”), the MSF Board approved the MSF 
Fund Manager or the MSF President to negotiate the terms and conditions and execute all final documents 
necessary to effectuate awards and decisions approved under the MBDP in accordance with the Guidelines 
(the “Transaction Documents”); 
 
 WHEREAS, the MSF Act, MCL 125.2001 et seq. and the Delegation require that MBDP awards 
over $1 million must be approved by the MSF Board; 
 

WHEREAS, Piston Automotive, LLC (the “Company”) has requested a performance based 
MBDP grant of up to $1,500,000 (the “Request”), along with other general terms and conditions which are 
outlined in the term sheet attached (the “Term Sheet”) to establish new hydrogen fuel cell manufacturing 
operations (the “Project”);  
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Guidelines, the Company is a Qualified Business and the Project is 
eligible as an Standard MBDP because the Company committed to the creation of at least 50 Qualified New 
Jobs; 
 

WHEREAS, the MEDC has completed the background check in accordance with the MSF policy, 
and the Project may proceed for MSF consideration; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the MEDC recommends that the MSF Board approve the  Request in accordance with 
the Term Sheet, subject to: (i) available funding; (ii) final due diligence performed to the satisfaction of the 
MEDC; and (iii) execution of the Transaction Documents, within 120 days of the date of this Resolution 
(“Time Period”), or this Resolution shall have no effect; provided however, at the sole discretion of the 
MSF Fund Manager, the Time Period may be extended for up to an additional 60 days (collectively, the 
“MBDP Award Recommendation”). 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the MSF Board approves the MBDP Award 
Recommendation. 

148



 
 

Ayes:  Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Wesley Eklund, Rachael Eubanks, John Groen (on  
   behalf of Director Corbin, designation attached), Michael B. Kapp (on behalf of  
   Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L. Messer, Jr., Dan Meyering, 
   Leon Richardson, Charles P. Rothstein, Susan Tellier, Cindy Warner  

 
Nays:  None  
   
Recused: None  

Lansing, Michigan  
January 28, 2025 

149



Michigan Business Development Program (“MBDP”) Grant Term Sheet 
 
This term sheet (the “Term Sheet”) sets forth key terms of a potential grant by the Michigan Strategic 
Fund (the “MSF”) in favor of Piston Automotive, LLC (the “Company”).  The proposed terms and conditions 
herein will not be construed as binding upon either party until the mutual execution of a written grant 
agreement. Any obligations that may be deemed to arise under this Term Sheet are contingent on the 
approval of the MSF Board.  
 
PROJECT SUMMARY  
 
Scope of the Project: The Company was awarded a nine-year contract to manufacture hydrogen fuel 
cells for a major Original Equipment Manufacturer (OEM). To accomplish this, the Company is seeking to 
lease and renovate a 200,000 square foot facility, hire 144 new workers, and invest $55 million in capital 
in Detroit (the “Project Site”). The Company expects to ramp up over the course of the next Five (5) 
years resulting in an expected creation of at least 144 new jobs at the Project Site and a projected 
investment of $55,000,000 by May 31, 2030, at the Project Site (collectively, the “Project”).  

 
Award Amount: A maximum grant of $1,500,000 (the “Award”), all or a portion of which is also referred 
to as the “Grant”). 
 
Term of the Agreement: Effective Date of the Grant Agreement through August 31, 2030 (the “Term”). 
 
Overall Jobs Commitment: Creation of a minimum of 144 Qualified New Jobs (the “Overall Jobs 
Minimum”) at the Project Site, above a Statewide Base of 282 employees (the “Overall Base”), on May 31, 
2030 (the “Jobs Performance Deadline”) (collectively, the “Overall Jobs Commitment”). 
 

• A “Qualified New Job” or “QNJ” is defined as a new, full-time job created by the Company  for the 
Project at the Project Site on or after September 9, 2024 (Date of Signed Offer Letter), and 
maintained continuously for the previous six (6) months, and performed for the Company by an 
individual who is either (i) a resident of the State of Michigan whose Michigan income taxes are 
withheld by the Company, or by an employee leasing company or professional employer 
organization on behalf of the qualified business; or (ii) a nonresident of the State of Michigan who 
is employed by the Company at the Project Site, provided that the Company certifies in writing at 
the time of the MSF disbursement that not less than 75 percent of the employees of that Company 
are residents of Michigan. In both cases, the QNJs must be in excess of the Overall Base. 

 
GRANT DISBURSEMENTS 
 
Grant funds will be disbursed for Eligible Expenses (defined below) and in accordance with the 
requirements set forth below. Requests for reimbursement will be verified by the MEDC Compliance Unit 
of the Legal and Compliance division of the MEDC prior to release of any funds. 

“Eligible Expenses” means the actual expenditure by the Company on or after September 9, 2024 (Date 
of Signed Offer Letter) for the Project at the Project Site of Hard Costs for construction for the Project, 
and infrastructure, machinery, equipment, tooling, computers, furniture, fixtures, lease payments, costs 
related to talent recruitment and job training including, but not limited to, employee recruitment 
expenses, development of customized training development plans, and instructor and training material 

150



costs. Provided, however, in no event shall any of the Eligible Expenses include: (i) costs, fees, or expenses 
for salaries, wages, benefits, meals and entertainment expenses, on-the-job training costs, debt 
payments, or administrative services for any of the Company or its employees, board members, officers, 
directors, or other administrative contractors, or (ii) any other expenses reimbursed or paid for under 
another grant or other public economic assistance. 

The Company may request disbursements on a reimbursement basis for fifty percent (50%) of Eligible 
Expenses, related to the Project and paid by the Company. The Company shall submit one or more 
reimbursement requests, at its discretion, but no more frequently than quarterly, no later than February 
28, 2030, together with a certification of the Company’s compliance with the Grant Agreement. 
 
In the event that all Grant funds have been disbursed and the Overall Jobs Commitment have been 
achieved, the MSF Fund Manager may, at its discretion, terminate the Grant Agreement ahead of the 
Term. 
 
CLAWBACK PROVISIONS AND REPAYMENT EVENTS 
 
The Company may be required to repay all or a portion of the Grant disbursements made under the Award 
upon the occurrence of one or more of the following events (each resulting in a “Repayment Amount”), 
and repayment is subject to the highest applicable Repayment Amount if one or more of the same 
circumstances give rise to such events.  
 

• Failure to Meet Overall Jobs Commitment: The Company’s failure to satisfy the Overall Jobs 
Commitment on the Jobs Performance Deadline will result in Company’s obligation to repay to 
the MSF a proportionate amount of the Grant funds received by Company. 

• Default of Project Contracts: The fully executed written agreement will include repayment and 
remedy language for events of default in other contracts with the MSF, MEDC, or State of 
Michigan arising out of the Project. 

• Failure to Submit Commitment Documentation: If the Company fails to submit, when due, 
required documentation described in the Agreement to verify achievement of the Overall Jobs 
Commitment it will be required to repay all of the Grant funds received by the Company. 

• Mass Relocation: If the Company transfers to another State more than 50% of the total number 
of jobs at the Project on or before the end of the Term, it will be required to repay all or a portion 
of Grant disbursements made under the Award.  

• Project Abandonment: If the Company abandons Eligible Expense activities or production at the 
Project at one or more of the Project Sites for a period of one hundred twenty (120) consecutive 
days after the Award is disbursed and on or before the end of the Term it will be required to repay 
the amount of Grant disbursements made under the Award.  

• Company Bankruptcy or Insolvency: If the Company files for bankruptcy or otherwise becomes 
insolvent on or before the end of the Term, with any such proceedings against the Company not 
being set aside within sixty (60) calendar days from the date of institution thereof and results in 
the material reduction to the Company’s operations at the Project, it will be required to repay 
100% of Grant disbursements made under the Award. The MSF would be entitled to foreclose on 
any security interest and, in the case of bankruptcy, submit a proof of claim in any such bankruptcy 
proceedings and seek recovery of the Award.  

• Material Misrepresentation: If the Company makes any material misrepresentation under the 
grant agreement, any required submissions thereunder, or any reimbursement request to the 

151



MSF on or before the end of the Term, it will be required to repay 100% of grant disbursements 
made under the Award.  

• Misuse of Funds: If the Company uses the Award for a prohibited purpose during the Term it will 
be required to repay 100% of grant disbursements made under the Award. 

 
ADDITIONAL STATE REQUIRED TERMS 
 

• Annual Progress Report: During the Term, the Company will be required to submit annual 
progress reports, which shall include the total number of Qualified New Jobs created at the 
Project, the average annual salary of both the Base Jobs and the new Qualified New Jobs, and the 
total investment into the Project. This information will be transmitted to the Legislature as 
required under Section 9 of the MSF Act, MCL 125.2009.  

• Access to Records & Audit Rights: During the Term and for a period of three years after the Term, 
and upon reasonable advance notice, the Company is required to permit the MSF, MEDC, the 
Office of the Auditor General, the Department of Technology, Management and Budget, and the 
MSF Chief Compliance Officer to visit the Company, and any other location where books and 
records of the Company are normally kept, to inspect the books and records, including financial 
records and all other information and data relevant to the terms of the grant, all at times and 
locations mutually agreed upon by the parties. 

• Other Provisions: The grant agreement will include standard representations, covenants, and 
other provisions required by the MSF, including without limitation, indemnification, non-
discrimination and unfair labor practices, termination of funding, any other requirements of the 
Business Development Program Guidelines, as approved by the MSF, and any requirements of the 
Michigan Strategic Fund Act.   

152



 

LEO is an equal opportunity employer/program.   
Auxiliary aids, services and other reasonable accommodations are available upon request to individuals with disabilities. 

105 WEST ALLEGAN STREET, LANSING, MICHIGAN 48933  www.michigan.gov/leo  517-241-6712 

 

 

 

 

 

January 21, 2022 

 
 
 
Ms. Katelyn Wilcox 
Board Relations Liaison  
Michigan Strategic Fund 
300 N. Washington Square  
Lansing, Ml  48913 
 
Re: Michigan Strategic Fund Board Meeting Designees 
 
Dear Ms. Wilcox: 
 
Pursuant to MCLA 16.51, I hereby confirm my designation of John Groen and 
Jonathan Smith as the persons authorized and empowered to act in my stead as 
a member of the Michigan Strategic Fund Board for scheduled meetings or 
portions thereof that I am unable to attend. 
 
If you need anything additional, please contact Diane Burton at (517) 230-5454.  
Thank you. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 

Susan R. Corbin 
Director 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

 

GRETCHEN WHITMER 
GOVERNOR 

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY  
LANSING 

SUSAN CORBIN 
DIRECTOR 

153



154



 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM  

Date:   January 28, 2025 

To:  Michigan Strategic Fund Board 

From: Amber Westendorp, Capital Project & Portfolio Manager – Capital Access 

Subject:  Private Activity Bond – Bond Authorizing 
Kraft Avenue Properties, LLC 

  Manufacturing - $9,085,000 
  
  
 
Request 
Kraft Avenue Properties, LLC (“Kraft Avenue” or the “Company”) is seeking financing to finance the cost 
of building a manufacturing facility of over 128,000 square feet located in Cascade Charter Township, 
Michigan, which will be leased to Trane U.S. Inc. (“Trane”) to manufacture HVAC equipment. Trane is a 
leading supplier of HVAC equipment. 
 
Background  
Kraft Avenue Properties, LLC is a Michigan limited liability company that was formed in 2013. Over the 
last 11 years the company has developed over 29 acres of industrial zoned property. The development 
included putting a road as well as extending the municipal water and sewer along with necessary drainage.  
 
The land is located in Cascade Charter Township at 5824 Kraft Avenue in Kent County (the “Property”) 
and was purchased for $1,200,000. The project consists of constructing a 128,160 square foot building (the 
“Building”) on the Property (the “Project”). The Company has indicated that all permits for site 
development and plan approval have been granted. The Company would like to start the Project soon, with 
a projected completion in summer 2025.  
 
Trane is a leading supplier of HVAC equipment and also provides services in relation to energy, 
decarbonization and electrification, and environmental quality solutions. Trane began in 1885 as a family 
plumbing business and has since expanded operations. 
 
The Company anticipates over 100 new jobs being created due to the expansion and product growth of 
Trane. 
 
The background review policy has been completed in accordance with the MSF Background Review Policy 
on September 20, 2024.  

155



 

 

 
 
Plan of Finance: 
West Michigan Community Bank is acting as purchaser on this bond issuance. 
 
If the project size remains at $9,085,000 the MSF issuance fee will be $22,500. 
 
Recommendation   
Based upon a determination by Warner Norcross + Judd LLP, as bond counsel and the State of Michigan 
Attorney General’s Office that the issuance of the bonds complies with state and federal requirements for 
tax-exempt private activity bond financing, the staff recommends the adoption of a Bond Authorizing 
Resolution in the amount of not to exceed $9,085,000. 
 

156



31602338 
1 

RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE ISSUANCE OF  
MICHIGAN STRATEGIC FUND  

LIMITED OBLIGATION REVENUE BOND (KRAFT AVEUNE PROPERTIES 
PROJECT),  

SERIES 2025 (THE "BOND") 
 

Resolution 2025-014  
 

Background 
 

 A.  The Michigan Strategic Fund (the "Fund") is authorized by 1984 PA 270, 
as amended (the "Act"), to issue bonds for the purpose of making loans to pay the 
costs of a project (as defined in the Act), and to pay the costs of issuing the bonds. 
 
 B.  Kraft Avenue Properties, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company (the 
"Obligor"), has requested a loan from the Fund to assist the Obligor in 
(i)(a) financing and refinancing the costs of constructing an approximately 128,160 
square foot manufacturing facility located at 5824 Kraft Avenue, Cascade 
Township, Kent County, Michigan (the "Building"), and (b) acquiring and installing 
machinery, equipment, and furnishings for the Building (collectively, the "Project"); 
and (ii) paying all or a portion of the costs of issuing the Bond.  The Project will be 
owned by Obligor and leased to and operated by Trane U.S. Inc. ("Trane") and used 
for Trane's manufacture of HVAC equipment.   
 

C.  The Obligor has requested the Fund to issue the Bond in a principal 
amount not to exceed $9,085,000 pursuant to this resolution (the "Resolution") and 
a Bond Purchase and Loan Agreement dated as of February 1, 2025 (the "Loan 
Agreement"), between the Fund, the Obligor, and West Michigan Community Bank, 
as lender (the "Lender") for the purpose of financing or refinancing the Project and 
paying all or a portion of the costs of issuance for the Bond. 

 
 D.  Payment of the principal, premium, if any, and interest on the Bond will 
be secured by the liens and other security interests granted by the Obligor to the 
Lender in the Financing Agreement.  
 
 E.  The Bond will be issued as a single, fully registered bond and will be 
purchased by the Lender for its own account pursuant to the terms and conditions 
set forth in the Loan Agreement.  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, Be It Resolved by the Board of the Fund: 
 
 SECTION 1.  Issuance of Bond; Limited Obligation.  For the purpose of 
making the loan requested by the Obligor, the issuance of the Bond is authorized.   
 
 The terms of the Bond shall be substantially in the form contained in the 
Loan Agreement, with the changes permitted or required by action of the Fund or 
the Loan Agreement.  The Bond shall bear the manual or facsimile signature of a 

157



31602338 
2 

member of the Fund's Board of Directors (a "Member") or of a person authorized by 
Board Resolution to sign Bond documents on behalf of the Fund (an "Authorized 
Officer"), and the official seal of the Fund (or a facsimile of the seal) shall be 
impressed or imprinted on the Bond. 
 
 The Bond and the interest and any premium on the Bond are not a debt or 
obligation of the State of Michigan, Kent County or Cascade Township or a general 
obligation of the Fund within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory 
limitation and do not constitute a charge against the credit or taxing powers of the 
State of Michigan, Kent County or Cascade Township or the general funds or assets 
of the Fund (including funds relating to other Fund loans or activities), but shall be 
a limited obligation of the Fund payable solely from the revenues derived from the 
Loan Agreement and otherwise as provided in the Loan Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 2.  Approval, Execution, and Delivery of Documents.  The form of 
the Loan Agreement on file with the staff of the Fund and on which has been 
endorsed by the staff of the Fund the date of adoption of this Resolution, are 
approved. Any Member and any Authorized Officer are authorized to execute and 
deliver the Loan Agreement, in substantially the form approved, with any changes 
as are considered necessary or desired by him or her, permitted by the Act or 
otherwise by law, and not materially adverse to the Fund. Approval of such changes 
shall be evidenced by such Member’s and Authorized Officer’s execution of the Loan 
Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 3.  Completion of Document Terms.  The following terms of the 
Bond shall be approved by the Member executing the Loan Agreement (as 
conclusively evidenced by his or her execution of the Loan Agreement): 
 

a. The maximum principal amount of the Bond shall not exceed $9,085,000; 
 

b. The final maturity of the Bond, which shall be not later than thirty (30) 
years from the date of issuance of the Bond; and 
 

c. The interest rate for the Bond shall be at such rate or rates as shall be 
determined from time to time pursuant to the Loan Agreement; provided, 
however, that the interest rate or rates on the Bond shall in no event 
exceed the maximum rate of interest permitted by the Loan Agreement.  
 

 SECTION 4.  Sale and Delivery of the Bond.  A Member or an Authorized 
Officer shall execute, seal, and deliver the Bond upon receipt of the following 
documents and payment of the purchase price for the Bond by the Lender: 
 

a. an approving opinion of bond counsel to the Fund acceptable to the Fund 
and the Attorney General of the State of Michigan (the "Attorney 
General"); 
 

158



31602338 
3 

b. an approving opinion of counsel to the Obligor and necessary certificates 
and representations of the Obligor acceptable to the Fund, the Attorney 
General, and bond counsel;  
 

c. an approving opinion of the Attorney General; and 
 

d. an investment letter in form and substance acceptable to the Attorney 
General from the Lender. 

 
 Upon receipt, the proceeds of the Bond to be used to finance the Project shall 
be paid over to the Obligor to be credited in accordance with the Loan Agreement. 
 

SECTION 5.  Designation of Certain Parties.  West Michigan Community 
Bank's acceptance of duties as Lender shall be evidenced by its execution of the 
Loan Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 6.  Authorization of Filings, Submissions and Other Documents.  
Any Member or Authorized Officer, as well as counsel to the Fund, is authorized to 
apply for or submit, execute, and deliver the other certificates, documents, opinions, 
and papers to any party or governmental agency as may be required by the Loan 
Agreement, or as may be necessary to effectuate the valid issuance, sale, and 
delivery of the Bond as a tax-exempt bond and otherwise as contemplated by the 
documents.   
 
 SECTION 7. Amendment to Inducement Resolution 2024-167. Inducement 
Resolution 2024-167 is amended to reflect that the maximum principal amount of 
the Bond shall not exceed $9,085,000. 
 
 SECTION 8.  Conflict and Effectiveness.  All resolutions or other proceedings 
of the Fund in conflict with this Resolution are repealed to the extent of the conflict.  
This Resolution shall become effective upon adoption.  If the Bond is not delivered 
to their original purchaser on or before March 25, 2025, the authority granted by 
this Resolution shall lapse. 
 
Adopted. 
 
 
  Ayes:  Dr. Britany Affolter-Caine, Wesley Eklund, Rachael  
    Eubanks, John Groen (on behalf of Director Corbin,  
    designation attached), Michael B. Kapp (on behalf of  
    Director Wieferich, designation attached), Quentin L.  
    Messer, Jr., Dan Meyering, Leon Richardson, Charles P.  
    Rothstein, Susan Tellier, Cindy Warner  
 
 
 
 

159



31602338 
4 

  Nays:  None  
 
 
 
January 28, 2025 Meeting 
Lansing, Michigan 

160



 

LEO is an equal opportunity employer/program.   
Auxiliary aids, services and other reasonable accommodations are available upon request to individuals with disabilities. 

105 WEST ALLEGAN STREET, LANSING, MICHIGAN 48933  www.michigan.gov/leo  517-241-6712 

 

 

 

 

 

January 21, 2022 

 
 
 
Ms. Katelyn Wilcox 
Board Relations Liaison  
Michigan Strategic Fund 
300 N. Washington Square  
Lansing, Ml  48913 
 
Re: Michigan Strategic Fund Board Meeting Designees 
 
Dear Ms. Wilcox: 
 
Pursuant to MCLA 16.51, I hereby confirm my designation of John Groen and 
Jonathan Smith as the persons authorized and empowered to act in my stead as 
a member of the Michigan Strategic Fund Board for scheduled meetings or 
portions thereof that I am unable to attend. 
 
If you need anything additional, please contact Diane Burton at (517) 230-5454.  
Thank you. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 

Susan R. Corbin 
Director 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 

 

GRETCHEN WHITMER 
GOVERNOR 

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY  
LANSING 

SUSAN CORBIN 
DIRECTOR 

161



162



 
 

 
 
 

MICHIGAN STRATEGIC FUND 
 
 
 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 

 
Date: January 28, 2025 
To: Michigan Strategic Fund (“MSF”) Board Members 
From: Quentin Messer, Jr., Chief Executive Officer 
Subject: Monthly MSF Delegated Authority and Activities Report 

 
We are pleased to present our monthly report to the MSF 
Board, featuring a review of our delegated authority activity over 
the previous month. The following pages provide a narrative 
centered around the types of projects supported through 
delegated approval from December 1, 2024, to December 31, 
2024, as well as information about the impact that those 
projects have had on communities across the state. 
We remain committed to maintaining transparency in our efforts to 
communicate with you all about our work to create equitable 
opportunities throughout the state. Over time, we will continue 
identifying ways to evolve and grow this report based on the 
feedback and requests we receive from Board members. 

As always, we are committed to evaluating the ways in which we 
can continue to ensure we are transparent and accountable to 
Board members moving forward. Please let me or Matt Casby know 
if you have any questions or comments about the content of these 
reports. 

163



 

 
 

To continue providing transparent, intentional, and impactful reporting to the MSF Board members 
on delegated project approvals and activities, the following report details delegated approval 
updates from December 1, 2024, to December 31, 2024. 
 

Throughout the Fiscal Year, MSF delegates – with authority granted by the MSF Board – approve 
various projects within MSF programs in accordance with each program’s guidelines, as approved 
by the MSF Board. Under no circumstances will MSF delegates approve of a project that does not 
meet the Board- approved guidelines for the program. Furthermore, each project approved 
through delegated authority must undergo the same rigorous vetting and verification process as 
do projects that come before the MSF Board for approval. By ensuring consistent safeguards are 
in place for both delegate-approved and Board-approved projects, we are ensuring fairness and 
uniformity in our process, as we work to enable long-term economic prosperity for the people of 
our state. 

 
MONTHLY IMPACTS 
We are pleased to share the December delegate-approved projects continue to represent our 
emphasis on supporting underserved populations in geographically disadvantaged areas. Throughout 
December 2024, 17% of the projects approved through delegated authority are in geographically 
disadvantaged areas.  Additionally, all December approved projects through delegated authority have 
committed to creating nearly 400 jobs and just nearly $72.7 million in private investment. 

 

164



3 | P a g e   

 

Under the authority delegated by the MSF Board, the MSF delegates approved the following 
projects during December 2024, which satisfy Board-approved guidelines for each program 
and have been vetted and approved through the same safeguards as those projects that come 
before the Board for consideration. 

 
Michigan Business Development Program (MBDP) 
The Michigan Business Development Program is available from the MSF, in cooperation 
with MEDC. The program is designed to provide grants, loans, or other economic 
assistance to businesses for highly competitive projects in Michigan that create jobs 
and/or provide investment. 

 
Project 
Name 

Approval 
Date 

 
Location Incentive 

Amount 

 
Project Highlights 

 

Envergia, Inc. 12/3/2024 Detroit $750,000 

The Company delivers industry leading efficiency in the recovery of 
valuable powders and precious metals from battery material wastes and 
supplies these recovered materials back to the manufacturers. The 
proposed project will invest $32,667,000 and create 52 new jobs over 
five years. The Company intends to lease a space in the City of Detroit 
and will make substantial leasehold improvements for the project at the 
project site. 

Matrix Consulting 
Engineers, Inc. 12/5/2024 Lansing $385,000 

The Company specializes in mechanical and electrical engineering 
solutions for clients in both the public and private sectors. The Company 
was formed in 1999 and has always had a presence in Michigan, with 
48 employees in the State. The Company plans to invest $5,120,000 in 
capital investment and create 55 new jobs over five years, with starting 
wages at $25 per hour, which is over and above the Regional Median 
Wage. 

3E Nano, Inc. 12/6/2024 Canton $1,000,000 

3E Nano, Inc. was founded in 2015 and is a business segment of 
Brunswick Corporation. The Company leading clean-tech, providing 
nano-thin energy and solar control coatings for the polymer, glass, and 
window industries. The Company currently employes two individuals in 
MI. The Company is looking to establish a United States headquarters 
and primary manufacturing facility, to keep up with growing demand and 
new contracts. This project involves the creation of up to 39 Qualified 
New Jobs and a capital investment of up to $8,858,746 in Canton 
Township, Wayne County with the support of a $1,000,000 Michigan 
Business Development Program performance-based grant. Michigan 
was chosen for the project over the Company’s existing facility in 
Canada, due to Michigan’s access to talent and resources needed to 
help the Company succeed long-term. 

 

 

 
Delegate Approvals 

165



4 | P a g e   

 
Michigan Business Development Program (MBDP) Cont. 

Project 
Name 

Approval 
Date 

 
Location Incentive 

Amount 

 
Project Highlights 

 

Performance 
Fabrics, Inc. dba 
HexArmor 

12/6/2024 Grand 
Rapids $700,000 

HexArmor, Limited Partnership was founded in 2002 & entered an 
equity partnership with UVEX SAFETY GROUP GmbH & Co. KG, a 
Germany-based leader of head-to-toe PPE products, in 2016. The 
Company continues to see growing adoption of & demand for its PPE 
products, particularly in areas of high-performance hand, body & eye 
protection products. To keep up with growing demand, the Company 
intends to add 59,000 square feet across two phases that will enable a 
tripling of product holding & processing capacity, while also providing 
additional office space for a growing workforce. This project involves the 
creation of up to 100 Qualified New Jobs & capital investment of up to 
$11,405,000 in the City of Grant Rapids, Kent County with the support 
of a $700,000 Michigan Business Development Program performance-
based grant. Michigan was chosen for the project over the Company’s 
existing facility in Canada, due to Michigan’s access to talent & 
resources needed to help the Company succeed long-term. 

 
Capital Access 
The Capital Access team partners with lenders to assist in helping small businesses obtain financing 
that would otherwise not be available. 

 
State Small Business Credit Initiative (SSBCI) 2.0 – Collateral Support Program (CSP) 

Project Name Approval 
Date 

 
Location Incentive 

Amount 

 
Project Highlights 

 

Field & Fire Cafe 12/6/2024 Grand 
Rapids $49,900 

Field and Fire is expanding and in need of additional equipment. 
Northern Initiatives is working with the company to provide them 
with capital to purchase new equipment. Due to collateral shortfall 
NI is requesting assistance from the SSBCI 2.0 CSP. 

Sunberry Limited 
Manufacturing, LLC 

12/19/2024 Farmington 
Hills $4,990,000 

Sunberry Limited is working with First Merchants Bank to 
establish an operating line of credit. Due to collateral shortfall, the 
bank is seeking assistance from the SSBCI 2.0 CSP. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

166



5 | P a g e   

Michigan State Trade Expansion Program (MI-STEP) 
The MI-STEP program is designed to spur job creation by empowering Michigan small 
businesses that meet U.S. Small Business Administration guidelines and size standards to export 
their products. 
 

Project Name Approval Date 
  

Location Incentive Amount 

Miniature Golf Services by Arne Lundmark dba Adventure 
Golf Services - Cruise Ship Interiors Expo 12/4/2024 Traverse City $6,000 

Velocity USA - BESPOKE Manchester 12/10/2024 Grand Rapids $1,812 
International Strategic Management - GDEI Saudi Arabia 
Trade Mission 12/12/2024 Bloomfield Hills $2,374 

Singh Automation - AA Trade Mission to India 12/12/2024 Portage $4,750 

Singh Automation - IDEX 12/12/2024 Portage $3,250 
8 Layer Inc. dba Workhorse Irons - Minneapolis Tattoo & Arts 
Festival & Trade Show 12/19/2024 Grandville $1,192 

BTM Company, LLC - Fabtech Chicago 12/19/2024 Marysville $15,000 
Dongan Electric Manufacturing Company - Sales Trip - China 
& Malaysia 12/19/2024 Fraser $2,777 

United Precision Products Company - AA Trade Mission to 
India 12/19/2024 Dearborn Heights $3,350 

Array of Engineers - Aeromart Montreal 12/20/2024 Grand Rapids $1,814 

Snow Machines, Incorporated - InterAlpin Austria 12/20/2024 Midland $15,000 

 
 
 

 

167



6 | P a g e   

 
For a variety of reasons, projects may return to the MSF requesting an amendment to their previous 
approvals, at which point the Economic Development Incentives teams evaluate whether those projects 
would qualify for those amendments. These amendments include, but are not limited to, changes of 
scope for projects; adjusted milestones; extended or contracted timelines; redefined project sites; and 
modified award amounts. See below for a list of program amendments that received delegated approval 
from December 1, 2024, to December 31, 2024. 

 

Michigan Business Development Program (MBDP) 
Project Name MSF Delegate 

Amended Date 
 

Project Location 
 

Type of Request 
 

Magna Seating of America 
Inc. - Project Leo  

12/11/2024 Highland Park 
Amended to extend Milestone 1 due date from December 31, 
2024, to December 31, 2026, and extend grant term from June 
30, 2025, to June 30, 2027. 

A. Raymond Corporate 
North America, Inc.  12/11/2024 Rochester Hills Grant closure, no further funding to be disbursed. 

 

Michigan Community Revitalization Program (MCRP) 
Project Name MSF Delegate 

Amended Date 
 

Project Location 
 

Type of Request 
 

Uptown Reinvestment 
Corporation, Inc. – Flint 
YMCA Living 
 

12/18/2024 Flint Extension of Key Milestone 3 due date from 12/31/2024 to 
09/30/2025 via delegated authority of MSF Fund Manager. 

 
 
 

Build Mi Communities  
Project Name MSF Delegate 

Amended Date 
 

Project Location 
 

Type of Request 
 

West Liberty Holdings LLC 
- 173 W Liberty 
Redevelopment (BMC) 
FY24 
 

12/9/2024 
 Plymouth 

Amendment to add co-applicant. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Program Amendments 

  

168



7 | P a g e   

Revitalization and Placemaking Program (RAP) 
Project Name MSF Delegate 

Amended Date 
 

Project Location 
 

Type of Request 
 

City of Grand Ledge - 
Grand Renovations for 
Downtown Grand Ledge  
 

12/5/2024 
 Grand Ledge 

Updated Federal Language. 
 

The Right Place - 
Reactivating Lost Spaces  
 

12/10/2024 Grand Rapids 
Extended following Milestones Dates: M2- April 30, 2025, M3 - 
March 31, 2026, M4 - June 20, 2026. Added updated Federal 
ARPA Language. 

 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG)  
Grants Rural & Infrastructure 

Project Name MSF Delegate 
Amended Date 

 
Project Location 

 
Type of Request 

 

City of Morenci – Water 
related Infrastructure 
 

12/11/2024 Morenci Amend to extend Grant end date to 6/30/2025. 

Based Infrastructure Projects 

Project Name MSF Delegate 
Amended Date 

 
Project Location 

 
Type of Request 

 

City of Ionia - Dog 
Park/Wireless Speakers  

12/11/2024 
 Ionia 

Extend end date to 3/31/2025. 
 

City of McBain - Pine 
Street Park 

12/11/2024 McBain Extend end date to 6/30/2025. 

 
Sites – s408(3) 

Project Name MSF Delegate 
Amended Date 

 
Project Location 

 
Type of Request 

 

Lansing Economic Area 
Partnership - SSRP Grant 
for Bath Twp  

12/10/2024 
 Bath Township 

Mutual termination of the SSRP grant. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

169



8 | P a g e   

 

 
 

Michigan Business Development Program – Terminations 
 

Project Name Project Location Incentive 
Type Amount Termination Date Reason for 

Termination Repayment 

Pacific Industrial 
Development 
Corporation Ann Arbor Grant $400,000 12/2/2024 Company unable to 

meet requirements $0.00 

 
 
  
 
 

Financial Data Overview 
and Terminations 

170


	January MSF Agenda_Expanded.pdf
	III. a FY25 Q1 Report
	MSF MEETING MINUTES 12.10.2024 - Approved
	Zelasko Public Comment 12.10.2024 MSF Board.pdf
	Zelasko Public Comment Submittal Email
	Letter to State Attorney General
	Attachment C1
	Attachment C2
	Attachment C3
	Attachment D


	IV.b.1.MSF.1.28.2025.BM.Act 381.Neogen
	Per section 15 of Act 381, the Michigan Strategic Fund shall consider the following criteria to the extent reasonably applicable to the type of activities proposed as part of that work plan when approving or denying a work plan:

	2025-002 Neogen Act 381 WP Amendment #1
	IV.c.1.Amendment Briefing Memo - BorgWarner
	2025-003 BorgWarner MBDP Amendment
	IV.d.1.MSF.1.28.25.CDBG.Amendment.BM
	2025-004 CDBG PGS Grant Amendments
	IV.e.1.BM.DOE Funding Proj. Diamond
	2025-005 DOE Award Allocation Automation Alley
	IV.f.1.Briefing Memo-UL-Final
	2025-006 UL, LLC MBDP Amendment
	MICHIGAN STRATEGIC FUND
	RESOLUTION 2025-006
	APPROVAL OF A MICHIGAN BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM
	GRANTAMENDMENT FOR
	UL LLC

	IV.g.1.MSF.1.28.2025.BM.Act 381.District Detroit
	2025-007 District Detroit TBP Amendment
	2025-001 January 28, 2025 Consent Agenda resolution
	V.a.1.MSF.1.28.2025.BM.Act 381 TBP. Pontiac OZ 1 LLC
	2025-008 Pontiac Exchange TBP
	V.b.1.MSF.1.28.2025.BM.Act 381 TBP.New Vision Lansing
	2025-009 New Vision Lansing TBP
	V.c.1.MSF.1.28.2025.BM.MCRP.Aria Warren Detroit, LLC
	2025-010 Aria Warren Detroit MCRP
	VI.a.1.Briefing Memo - Final - Pulse Primary Care Holdings LLC
	2025-011 Pulse Primary Care MBDP
	MICHIGAN STRATEGIC FUND
	RESOLUTION 2025-011
	APPROVAL OF A MICHIGAN BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM GRANT TO
	PULSE PRIMARY CARE HOLDINGS LLC

	VI.b.1.Industrial Drive Project Grayling Twp MSF Briefing Memo
	2025-012 Grayling Twp Industrial Drive - MBRS Grant
	MICHIGAN STRATEGIC FUND
	RESOLUTION 2025-012
	MICHIGAN BUILD READY SITES PROGRAM
	GRANT AWARD TO CRAWFORD COUNTY ROAD COMMISSION

	VI.c.1.Briefing Memo - Piston Automotive
	2025-013 Piston Automotive MBDP
	MICHIGAN STRATEGIC FUND
	RESOLUTION 2025-013
	APPROVAL OF A MICHIGAN BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM GRANT TO
	PISTON AUTOMOTIVE, LLC.

	VII.a.1.Authorization Memo - Kraft Final
	Kraft Avenue Properties, LLC (“Kraft Avenue” or the “Company”) is seeking financing to finance the cost of building a manufacturing facility of over 128,000 square feet located in Cascade Charter Township, Michigan, which will be leased to Trane U.S. ...
	Background
	Plan of Finance:

	2025-014 Kraft Avenue LLC PAB Authorization
	VIII. January 2025 MSF Delegation Report
	Michigan Business Development Program (MBDP)
	Michigan Business Development Program (MBDP) Cont.
	Capital Access
	Michigan State Trade Expansion Program (MI-STEP)
	Michigan Business Development Program (MBDP)
	Michigan Community Revitalization Program (MCRP)
	Build Mi Communities
	Revitalization and Placemaking Program (RAP)
	Community Development Block Grant (CDBG)
	Grants Rural & Infrastructure
	Based Infrastructure Projects
	Sites – s408(3)
	Michigan Business Development Program – Terminations




